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2 / BRIREHHERAE NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

Established in 1996, Nongfu Spring Co., Ltd. is a leader in the
packaged drinking water and beverage industry in the PRC. Our
major products include packaged drinking water, tea beverage,
functional beverage and juice beverage. The Company was
transformed from a limited liability company into a joint stock
company with limited liabilities in June 2001 and listed on the Main
Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in September 2020 (stock
code: 9633. HK).

We believe in offering natural and healthy products and insist on
using high quality raw materials. All of our packaged drinking water
products are sourced from quality natural water sources. We
possess industry-leading equipment, manufacturing capabilities,
strong supply chain management capabilities and rigorous quality
assurance systems.

We have established dual growth engines, packaged drinking water
and beverage and set up a nationwide sales network covering all
provinces, municipalities and prefecture-level administrative divisions
across China. We implement a multi-brand strategy, have long-term
visions for our brands and strong brand communication capabilities,
and have built a super brand in the PRC soft beverage market.
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DEFINITIONS

[20225F ERRAE | RNAFIR2023F5 16 B (BB ) BRNEERRAE

“2022 AGM” the annual general meeting of the Company held on Tuesday, May 16, 2023
[2023FERRAE ] RARKH2024F5 A21H (2B ) BERNFERRAE

“2023 AGM” the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Tuesday, May 21, 2024
[REER S ER] RATER £ B EERN A R ER(EYEET)

“Articles of Association” or the articles of association of the Company, as amended, which was effective on the Listing Date
“Articles”

[Exg ] RARESS

“Board” the board of Directors of the Company

[HE | FREARKNE  SAFEREMS - TEEEE  RFRAE

“China” or “PRC” the People’s Republic of China, excluding, for the purpose of this annual report, Hong Kong, Macau and
Taiwan

[RAFIRMBRLER] BRIUREZMAERRAR - 199659 A26 ARG BUAEK Y 2 RN ERAR]
“Company” or “Nongfu Nongfu Spring Co., Ltd. (2XILFREMD B R AR, a joint stock company with limited liabilities established
Spring” under the laws of the PRC on September 26, 1996

[RREIRMFEARE]  FREAREMBEREE - ETRSET « IS AE M Sk
“Company Law” or “PRC ~ Company Law of the People’s Republic of China (T2 A R #£ B A 7)%), as amended, supplemented or
Company Law” otherwise modified from time to time

[HERRAR R ERCETRADAAE TEEE - BERMEERBES

“Controlling Shareholder(s)” has the meaning ascribed under the Listing Rules and refers to Mr. Zhong Shanshan and Yangshengtang

[(EER<AD] CEMARADMIERCI(EEERSFRI

“Corporate Governance Corporate Governance Code in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

Code”

[EE] RAREE

“Director(s)” director(s) of the Company

[RER RRAFRAFEREEARBOATHEER - UARBRELHE

“Domestic Shares” ordinary Shares in the share capital of the Company with a nominal value of RMBO0.1 each, which are
subscribed for and paid up in Renminbi

[ZIRBE ] BEARBERBEREE

“Global Offering” the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Offering

[BERNBEBE] RIBERER K RBRBAHGARGHEBREE(SIKLAT BFEERIHUBREBMIMRSE )R

“Hong Kong Public EFBBRERMETBRRALRE (TR 2R ENRE P H X AE)

Offering” the offering of the Hong Kong offer shares for subscription by the public in Hong Kong (subject to adjustment

as described in “Structure of the Global Offering”) at the offer price (plus brokerage, SFC transaction levies
and Hong Kong Stock Exchange trading fee), on and subject to the terms and conditions described in the
Prospectus and the application forms

[EIRREEE | BB B $H P AR AR S B 3B 5 A SR ITE X BB IMNABE R 22 5 7 20 RAE X IR AR IR 1 44A K EBIE AR
“International Offering” AEMERREAEERBBERREEERELEEBREERN

the offering of the international offering shares by the international underwriters at the offer price outside
the United States in offshore transactions in accordance with Regulation S and in the United States to
qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A or any other available exemption from the registration
requirements under the U.S. Securities Act

[Z<sE ) Ikl #4M ARRIREMBRR(FHIEXEMT - BARRAREEA—REAZRMBLRA]) » HHXEERE @ AIRHAR
“Group”, “the Group”, “we” BIKARBMER AIMNZERARANEMN S NZEHMBRR) - MOERERRRAERRABNHER R
or “us” the Company and its subsidiaries (or the Company and any one or more of its subsidiaries, as the content

may require), or where the context so requires, in respect of the periods before the Company became the
holding company of its present subsidiaries, such subsidiaries as if they were subsidiaries of the Company at
the relevant time

44 2023 Annual Report RXIWRBHHRAS NONGFUSPRING CO.,LTD. / 3



= DEFINITIONS

[HA
“H Share(s)”

[ &3]

“Hangzhou Youfu”

[&#]
“Hong Kong” or “HK”

[(&#BLEWHRAD IR
[{EmRAN]

“Hong Kong Listing Rules”
or “Listing Rules”

[ BB P IR B3 AT
“Hong Kong Stock
Exchange” or “Stock
Exchange”

[BIE=F
“independent third
party(ies)”

[ EREBAE 2175 |
“Purchasing Framework
Agreement”

[ ELRE A 88 R RORIBR 5
HEZR 7%

“Basic R&D and Test
Service Framework
Agreement”

[R&A{THHE
“Latest Practicable Date”

[t
“Listing”

[EWmEH]
“Listing Date”

[<#2E=p Al |
“Model Code”

[ FTEREBAE 2R 10 5 |
“New Purchasing
Framework Agreement”

[ $EL R R 3 R AR08 FR A%
HEZR R

“New Basic R&D and
Test Service Framework
Agreement”

4 / BRIREHHERAE NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

RRATRAHEREEARBOATHIEIN EHINER - WETEE - WHRE BB Eh
overseas listed foreign Shares in the share capital of the Company with a nominal value of RMBO.1 each,
which are traded in HK dollars and are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

MMNEBEEEERBR AT - HR2009F12 A14ARIEFEERK L 2 BREEAR
REEENRRIHERRTELERE

Hangzhou Youfu Enterprise Management Company Limited (fi/ll K B8 > % E IR AR A7), a limited
liability company established under the laws of the PRC on December 14, 2009, which is a shareholder of
Yangshengtang and wholly owned by Mr. Zhong Shanshan as of the Latest Practicable Date

FEEBR R TH R

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

BEMERGMBRATES EHHRA - K TRERT - fFts A=A R &k

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

CEERZATES

BEEBMERHABRAR
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

BIEH 6 BEREBRESHA  WHARRBEALTHAL
party(ies) who are not connected persons of the Company as far as our Directors are aware after having
made all reasonable enquiries

RAF 202098 A12 B B A F 5T A ERBBIE R 1738
the purchasing framework agreement entered into by the Company with Yangshengtang on August 12, 2020

ANRNFIF202058 A 12 H B A 5 o K 2 BB A 518 4 2 RS 7T P T S B9 BB 3 R AsoRI AR TS HE 2R
ik

the basic R&D and test service framework agreement entered into by the Company with Yangshengtang and
its wholly-owned subsidiary, YST Natural Medicine Research on August 12, 2020

202454 148 - BIZRF RIS ENATRLAEE A FMATE S TEUR A& E A117 H B
April 14, 2024, being the latest practicable date for the purpose of ascertaining certain information contained
in this annual report prior to its publication

HARPA BB EE 32T 1R £
listing of the H Shares on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

RRATHRNE B PT ETh REERMEER HE - R2020F9A8RH (EH =)
Tuesday, September 8, 2020, the date on which our H Shares are listed and from which dealings therein are
permitted to take place on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

(EMRADMIERCH EHEITAEFETIEF R HIIRESFRD
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers under Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules

ANAF R A B SRIEIE 2R B MO E 2022 12 14 B &4 R MBRIEE R %
the purchasing framework agreement renewed and entered into by the Company with Yangshengtang on
December 14, 2022 based on the original Purchasing Framework Agreement

RAREZAE RHE BN B A FSEERANEYATTPAIEEGEHE IROBRBERBZEANER - B
202212 14 B S48 AT S YRR I 2% R Ag0BI PRASHE 28 o

the basic R&D and test service framework agreement renewed and entered into by the Company with
Yangshengtang and its wholly-owned subsidiary, YST Natural Medicine Research on December 14, 2022
based on the original Basic R&D and Test Service Framework Agreement

3 2028 Annual Report



[ B AR

“Over-allotment Option”

[HBRER]
“Prospectus”
(=J

“province”

[#RE MM
“Reporting Period”

[AR%]
“RMB” or “Renminbi”

[R5
“Share(s)”

[R=R]
“Shareholder(s)”

[HEAR]

“subsidiary(ies)”

[E%

“Supervisor(s)”

=g

“Supervisory Committee”

[BEE |
“Yangshengtang”

[BEEEH]
“Yangshengtang Group”

[BEERABEYHEH]
“YST Natural Medicine
Research”

%]
wgpn

F Rz 2023 Annual Report

£ DEFINITIONS

RAFETEFEHEEARIZE - mBE2HRRAA(REBEESHE) BEBEERSHG TR - BIUARE
AR E B S R 3 1T4 $£58,234,6000R B/ - LA(E A EE) M EEEEENBES IR (WA ) (HBR
BIZFTER)

option granted by the Company to the International Underwriters, exercisable by the Joint Global Coordinators
(on behalf of the International Underwriters) pursuant to the International Underwriting Agreement, pursuant to
which the Company may be required to allot and issue up to an aggregate of 58,234,600 additional H Shares
at the Offer Price to, among other things, cover over-allocations in the International Offering, if any (as defined
in the Prospectus)

RNARHEBSAREEMN202058 250 FIEHHBIRER
the prospectus issued by the Company on August 25, 2020 in connection with the Hong Kong Public Offering

D NN EFE - EREAEXTETRBNERESENESET
a province or, where the context requires, a provincial level autonomous region or municipality, under the
direct supervision of the central government of the PRC

202341 A1HZ=2023% 12 A31 B &
the period from January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023

TEEEEBARK

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

RRATRAHEREEAREATHEER

ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company with a nominal value of RMBO0.1 each

RFEE A

holder(s) of the Shares

BBBBEGIFE622F( A TR RFTERE

has the meaning ascribed to it in Schedule 1 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the law of Hong
Kong)

ARREE

supervisor(s) of the Company

AARBEE
supervisory committee of the Company

BEZERAT 1993 F3F12BRBFEVARKRIZ BAREMLLR - BERKEZAIITHE - BIERER
WHEMREE R ERE (BIEEEER8.38% MEBMMAE(RERREETERA) EENREER
1.62%)

Yangshengtang Co., Ltd. (B4 Z ER A 7)), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC
on March 12, 1993, which was a Controlling Shareholder and wholly owned by Mr. Zhong Shanshan (including
98.38% direct interest and 1.62% indirect interest through Hangzhou Youfu, which is wholly owned by Mr.
Zhong Shanshan) as of the Latest Practicable Date

BEERAMB AR
Yangshengtang and its subsidiaries

WIBREERAEYARMERRA] - R1999F10 A28 AR EFRBEERK L 2 BEREE LA
THE - AEEENZENBAR

Zhejiang Yangshengtang Natural Medicine Research Company Limited (47T % 4 & K SR &4 75 P B R
/2 A]), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on October 28, 1999, which was a
whollyowned subsidiary of Yangshengtang as of the Latest Practicable Date

Bk
percentage

 BERET
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) / BXIRKHBHERAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

SHARE LISTING

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(Stock Code: 9633)

LISTING DATE
September 8, 2020

REGISTERED OFFICE AND HEAD OFFICE

No.181 Geyazhuang
Xihu District
Hangzhou, Zhejiang
PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room F, 6/F, CNT Tower
338 Hennessy Road
Wan Chai

Hong Kong

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.nongfuspring.com

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhong Shanshan (Chairman and General Manager)

Ms. Wu Limin (appointed on 16 May 2023)

Mr. Xiang Xiansong (appointed on 16 May 2023)
Ms. Han Linyou (appointed on 16 May 2023)
Mr. Guo Zhen (retired on 16 May 2023)

Mr. Zhou Li (retired on 16 May 2023)

Ms. Zhou Zhenhua (retired on 16 May 2023)

Mr. Liao Yuan (retired on 16 May 2023)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Zhong Shu Zi
Ms. Xue Lian (appointed on 16 May 2023)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Stanley Yi Chang

Mr. Yang, Lei Bob

Mr. Lu Yuan

4R 2023 Annual Report
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AF]E R CORPORATE INFORMATION

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

Ms. Liu Min (Chairman) (appointed on 16 May 2023)
Mr. Rao Minghong

Mr. Liu Xiyue

Mr. Zhong Jigang (retired on 16 May 2023)

(JOINT) COMPANY SECRETARY(IES)

Ms. Han Linyou
Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie (retired on 13 February 2024)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Stanley Yi Chang (Chairman)

Mr. Yang, Lei Bob

Mr. Lu Yuan (appointed on 16 May 2023)
Mr. Zhong Shu Zi (retired on 16 May 2023)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Lu Yuan (Chairman)
Mr. Zhong Shanshan
Mr. Yang, Lei Bob

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhong Shanshan (Chairman)
Mr. Lu Yuan
Mr. Stanley Yi Chang

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. Han Linyou
Ms. Wu Limin

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Hangzhou Yangbatou Branch
Agricultural Bank of China Hangzhou Branch

China Construction Bank Zhijiang Branch

Bank of China Zhejiang Branch

China Everbright Bank Hangzhou Branch

RXWRBHHRAS NONGFUSPRING CO., LTD. /7
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HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISOR

Eric Chow & Co. in Association with Commerce & Finance Law Offices
3401 Alexandra House

18 Chater Road

Central

Hong Kong

PRC LEGAL ADVISOR

Jingtian & Gongcheng

34th Floor, Tower 3, China Central Place
77 Jianguo Road

Chaoyang District

Beijing

PRC

OVERSEAS AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road, Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

DOMESTIC AUDITOR

Pan-China Certified Public Accountants LLP

Tower B, China Resources Building, 1366 Qianjiang Road
Shangcheng District

Hangzhou, Zhejiang

PRC

H SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai

Hong Kong
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

BZ12A31BILEE
Year Ended December 31,
2019F 2020F 20215 20224
2019 2020 2021 2022

AREREL AREKEEL ARKEEL AREKEER
RMB million ~ RMB milion ~ RMB milion ~ RMB million

Wegs REVENUE 24,021 22,877 29,696 33,239 42,667
e GROSS PROFIT 13,311 13,508 17,656 19,095 25,407
B TSR AR A PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 6,499 6,986 9,354 11,050 15,688
Frie R Income tax expense (1,545) (1,709) (2,192) (2,565) (3,609)
EERF PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 4,954 5,277 7,162 8,495 12,079
NEEAE NEERF Profit attributable to
owners of the parent 4,949 5277 7,162 8,495 12,079
ARET ARET AEET ARET AR¥TR
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
SR EAREF Earnings per share 0.46 0.48 0.64 0.76 1.07
R12A31H
As at December 31,
2019F 20204 20214 20226
2019 2020 2021 2022

AREREL AREKEEL ARKEEL AREKEER
RMB million ~ RMB milion ~ RMB milion ~ RMB million

BEE Total assets 17,796 25,859 32,896 39,255 49,137
BeE Total liabilties 7,914 10,367 12,154 15,171 20,566
BEREE Total equity 9,882 15,492 20,742 24,084 28,571
Re iR Cash and bank balances 1,083 9,119 14,784 15,211 24,125
REAE/(BE)%ERE  Current assets/(labilities), net (3,069) 2,367 6,247 3,760 8,585

44 2023 Annual Report RXWRBHHRAS NONGFUSPRINGCO.,LTD. / O
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

EMEELIR

2023%F  E=FHEREHEEBRELE
WEERN—F  BERUREEABRT - &
R - AERHNBREENS O TRSR
RIBER - MR T 2B THRFLHZH
NAIBFRRAIMMEHEE - 220234
HISHEEMRENERRAR -

2023 F AL EH B RN m AR K 42,667H
BT H2022F 18K 28.4% - EEEFEE
FERT - 2023 F ANEE B QR A AME
I FER2022F M AR 158,495 8 B i N
EAR12,0798 8t (b — XL
EEINIEEE A ARK12,065587T) ° [
B AEEZEESMNFERRE - 2023
FHEEEENIR S MALL2022F 18 1143.7%
EARKE17305E&TT °

ERAREE2023FMEEER  E2CH
EARRNBBIERITH2023FEREAS +
B R EEE2023F 12 A31 B IEFE K
BEREERARETST(HHARELHA
R¥68,436 B TT) °

2023%F » BRI REBHERFBRAAKD
TEREHM - WEUF TR = R 18
£ BREAAKNKHE S| ERRE—FF
Bt HAIERIZR TESES  BEES
M EEFRETIE  AREATFES
B — 20058 o R - RIPTGEBERRRA
RENRA  SERAERRYE  RREM®
BT IR BRI EFHRIMNER - X
T RRE B EEREREHE S - #HMR
SAEENBEEHRE NIRED R

10 / BXWRKRHHRLS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

Dear shareholders,

2023 is the year of economic recovery and development after the
transition of three years of the COVID-19 pandemic prevention
and control, and Nongfu Spring has maintained solid growth with
the sincere unity and efforts of our employees, distributors and
partners. Besides the tremendous efforts from all staff members, the
best contributing factor to the Company’s greater-than-expected
performance in 2023 is our persistence in technological innovation
and long-termism.

The Group recorded a total revenue of RMB42,667 million in 2023,
representing an increase of 28.4% as compared to 2022. The
profitability of the Group also kept improving. Profit attributable to the
owners of the parent recorded an increase from RMB8,495 million
in 2022 to RMB12,079 million in 2023 (RMB12,065 million after
deducting one-time non-operating gains and losses). Meanwhile, the
working capital position of the Group remained stable, and cash flow
from operating activities in 2023 increased by 43.7% as compared
to 2022, to RMB17,305 million.

In light of the Group’s operations in 2023, the Board will recommend
the distribution of a final cash dividend of RMBO0.75 per share for the
year ended December 31, 2023 at the forthcoming 2023 AGM of the
Company (amounting to a total dividend of approximately RMB8,435
million).

In 2023, Nongfu Spring continued to maintain its industry leading
position in packaged drinking water and achieved rapid growth
in tea beverages, further solidifying the dual-engine pattern of
packaged drinking water and beverages. In addition, we have
successfully completed the reappointment of the Board, the
Supervisory Committee and senior management team, which has
further strengthened the Group’s talent pool. In the future, we will
continue to adhere to the principle of natural health, continuously
improve product quality, explore product innovation, always insist on
providing consumers with good products and continuously enhance
our ability to provide services to consumers, thereby improving the
Group’s overall competitiveness and investment returns.

3 2028 Annual Report



EER3E CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

5% BB EeERRERLREZHELIE  Last but not least, | would like to take this opportunity to extend my

T FER S - AFIERPIABRRK : 5 sincere gratitude to every employee on behalf of Nongfu Spring for

R PTA HEEMASES M ERIUREA{E  their dedication and contribution. The Company can hardly have a

FRZ#E - 2024 =R FIEMETF - B prosperous future without the efforts of our employees. | would also

) BRAES - ITEEUR - like to thank all our distributors and partners for their trust in and
support for Nongfu Spring. In 2024, let’s join hands with each other,
help each other, weather the storm together, and make steady and
sustainable development.

SEBB Zhong Shanshan

EER Chairman

FREE AREFNE - AT Hangzhou, the People’s Republic of China
2024F3A26H March 26, 2024
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BEENWEDH

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RERITERE

2023%F - EMEERBERPFENT « M
BUAEZRME - BB R EME LR RIRE
T REEEEEEIRHEERES - mUE
HERBERERE  FEEETEANINZE
AERH2 T RATITR S - KEEEITHE
B2 A MY - BIANEELEGDP)EBARE
1268187T * b EFHERS.2% © Ti5H)E M
HEBHZRSER  HEZMEERES
2023 F 2B HEMTE LT 158
T BERIFES IR RLER7.2% © &
KHEB S HEEEIR RN EREIES2.5% -
HEENKACEISRNEE N - B HE
[REEGE B T8 -

2023 FH B mEHTEFH K518 -
SEEHEAESEITSAENE - 2R
41% o RIBTEEBER SRS RES
BEMELIER - BRIREESRE B LR
Hip I AR USSR - ZEA
B BRSO AR ERM IE= R IEEHE
LEhK - BEE - EEENERER HES
BB TIHREE o

RMSBITEE— S THREEE « 21t
BR - 2023FHIEFI A RALDIZEEE
PEIR2022M( RBEETBERIZE  £E)
(GB 7101-2022)% — 25 BRI T ERBIERE
FREW ARBEBLENGRERLEE
Rt BBERRHETIES - ARBEET
BHRGLE2ES EERRSHEERTE
BERS - hRERBITETEHR L
ERERE MESRAmEEEER R -

12 / BXWRKRHHRALS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

MACRO AND INDUSTRY ENVIRONMENT

In 2023, under the persistent influence of the COVID-19 pandemic,
exacerbated geopolitical conflicts and the complex and changing
international situation, the global economy as a whole showed a
weak recovery trend. China withstood the downward pressure
brought by multiple intertwined domestic and international factors,
leading to an overall improvement in economic activity, with GDP
exceeding RMB126 trillion, representing a year-on-year increase
of 5.2%. Market dynamics and consumption potential have been
gradually released, and household consumption has resumed
its growth trend, with full-year total retail sales of consumer
goods for 2023 reaching a record high of RMB47.15 trillion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 7.2%. The contribution of
final consumption expenditure to the economic growth reached
82.5%, with consumption once again becoming the key driver of
economic growth and enhancing its foundational effect on economic
development.

In 2023, the food and beverage industry in China experienced
a modest rebound in demand, and the accumulated national
output of beverage amounted to 175 million tons, representing an
accumulated increase of 4.1%. According to the industry data,
in terms of the growth and market share of each category of
beverages, other than the positive growth from carbonated drinks,
other categories have seen negative growth. Beverages categorised
as “non-top three” beverages, represented by tea beverages, protein
beverages and special-purpose beverages, have increased their
market share. Nutritional and functional products are more likely to
receive positive market feedback.

The food and beverage industry further continued to develop
towards higher standards of quality and safety. A series of relevant
standards and regulations for beverage industry such as the “Food
Safety Standard Management Measures” newly revised in 2023 and
the 2022 edition of “Food Safety National Standard for Beverages”
(GB 7101-2022) were implemented, which provided guidelines for
food and beverage companies to strengthen their systematic and
scientific management of food safety. At the same time, the growing
consumer awareness of food safety and nutritional health is driving
the beverage industry to innovate and evolve, with a view to meeting
consumers’ demands for healthier ingredients and improved quality.
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In 2023, regulations such as the “Food Operation Licensing and
Record-filing Management Measures” and the “Quality & Safety
Supervision and Management Measures for the Marketing of Edible
Agricultural Products” came into effect in the field of food sales,
aiming to further tighten the quality and safety supervision in the food
circulation field, implement the primary responsibility of enterprises
and optimise the business environment. In industry competition,
enterprises with well-established marketing channels and strict
control over the quality of products at the sales terminal will further
strengthen their competitive advantages.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2023, after the transition of the COVID-19 pandemic prevention
and control, economic recovery and development took place, and
people’s lives and consumption gradually returned to normal. The
Group recorded annual revenue of RMB42,667 million, representing
an increase of 28.4% as compared to 2022. Among which, the
proportion of revenue from packaged drinking water products to total
revenue was 47.5% and the proportion of revenue from beverage
product to total revenue was 51.7%. The following table sets forth
a breakdown of our revenue from each product category and their
percentage of total revenue for the periods indicated:

BZ12A31ALLEE
Year Ended December 31,

20224
2022
AR (eEetGn
(B&TT) ANt
Percentage
EmER RMB of total
Product Category (million) revenue
BESBKE R 20,262 47.5% 18,263 54.9%
Packaged drinking water products
IRERLEE f 12,659 29.7% 6,906 20.8%
Tea beverage products
THEESRFHE mn 4,902 11.5% 3,838 11.5%
Functional beverage products
SOTERBIEm 3,533 8.3% 2,879 8.7%
Juice beverage products
HabEm (MsE) 1,311 3.0% 1,353 4.1%
Other products (note)
&&F Total 42,667 100.0% 33,239 100.0%

Wi HER T BREHITARE - S RRKK
KRBT - ITEROR SRR S
RERERES -

F Rz 2023 Annual Report

Note: Other products primarily include other beverage products such as soda
water beverage, sparkling flavored beverage, lemon juice beverages, coffee
beverage, and agricultural products such as fresh fruits.
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WE2 D HT MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Packaged drinking water products

The revenue from packaged drinking water products of the Group in
2023 was RMB20,262 million, representing an increase of 10.9% as
compared to 2022 and accounting for 47.5% of our total revenue for
the year.

In 2023, we stepped up the promotion on Nongfu Spring’s high-
quality water sources, and have since released four advertisements
themed with our four water sources, namely Changbai Mountains,
Mount Emei, Mount Taibai and Wanlv Lake. By demonstrating the
natural environment, species ecology and climate and hydrology
of each water source, we publicise to consumers the high-quality
natural water sources and the differentiation of products of Nongfu
Spring, thereby conveying the brand philosophy that “The quality
of the water source defines the quality of life ({TE#HIIRZREAE (T
JEHE ) A Ap)”. At the meantime, we have invited consumers and
partners to visit the high-quality water sources of Nongfu Spring
throughout the country for the “Source-tracking (&)R)” mission. With
the ongoing roll-out of diversified and multi-community “Source-
tracking (3Jg)” campaigns, we aim to make more people to better
understand the essence of “Every Drop of Nongfu Spring Has
Its Source (BF—EEKXILFE#HE —EEERKE)", to constantly
strengthen the natural and healthy consumer perception of Nongfu
Spring, and to make “Source-tracking (&))" a unique promotion
approach of Nongfu Spring.

During the Reporting Period, we have also released an advertisement
centered on our water pipelines, named “The Closer To Source,
The Better Water We Gain ((#UJRZE - #iK9R) ), for the first time
zooming in on our water intake pipelines and telling the story
that in order to get better water from the natural source, we have
always been “Making one metre forward, only to be safer and more
natural (ARI—XK » RAEZLZE « EX%)". Through showcasing
the environment of the pipelines and the difficulties and obstacles
encountered during their construction, Nongfu Spring has revealed
to consumers the great efforts for providing them with drinking water
products of superior quality. In turn, the consumers would further
identify with the differentiation of Nongfu Spring’s products, and
further appreciate the strength of Nongfu Spring’s unrepeatable
strategic layout of the nationwide water sources, which has been
created through decades of persistence.
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2 #1 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REIR BN R F IR
+HhE RixF=

During the Chinese New Year of 2023, we continued our tradition of
launching an anniversary edition of zodiac version of natural mineral
water (glass bottled) in Chinese year of “Rabbit” and released an
animated advertisement called “To Reunite With You Through the
Winter ((ZF#EL - EHYREE))", conveying the best wishes to
consumers that “Going Home for Reunion ([2 %X & [&])”. During the
Reporting Period, our Nongfu Spring drinking natural water (suitable
for infants and young children) also co-branded with Disney and
launched the “Rabbit Year Series (%4 % 71))” limited edition and
the “Princess Series (A3 £ 7%l))” edition of IP-characterized bottles,
together with the advertisement named “The Next 12 Months (5
TR+ —1E )", conveying to consumers the brand’s concept of
“Born with Love, Accompanied by Nature (REBE - KAL)

Besides, in the second half of 20283, we listened attentively to
consumers’ suggestions and needs and restored the upgraded 4L
“handle bottle” edition of natural water product of Nongfu Spring,
which is ergonomically designed with a more comfortable grip and a
more practical lip to meet the different needs of different consumers.
In the meantime, we also strengthened the 4L handle-bottle natural
water product’s positioning for cooking purpose by virtue of being
“More Convenient for Cooking (EfREESE J51#)” in a series of
promotion activities, such as “Presenting Old Friends with New
Products (#1anig£/k)", with a view to further extending the usage
scenarios of our water products.
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Tea beverage products

In 2023, the Group’s tea beverage products continued to grow by
innovating on products and spreading Chinese tea culture, recording
RMB12,659 million of revenue for the year, which indicated an
increase of 83.3% as compared to 2022 and accounted for 29.7%
of the total revenue for the year.

During the Reporting Period, “Oriental Leaf (35 f1Z£)” reintroduced
“Longjing Spring Tea (BEH¥TZY)” for the spring season, a premium
selection that captures the essence of freshly brewed Longjing tea,
and received acclaim from tea aficionados. The brand continued to
diversify its tea portfolio in May with the “Black Oolong Tea (25
BE)", a robust flavor profile derived from the esteemed Oolong Tea
of Northern Fujian. To meet various consumer needs in different
scenarios, “Oriental Leaf (32 5 f1%)” also launched the 900ml bottled
package for two signature products, Jasmine Tea (3k#J{E2%) and
Ganpu Tea (5 & H). In a novel promotional approach, in 2023,
the brand debuted a series of short films highlighting the twenty-four
solar terms, weaving together the timeless ancient Chinese wisdom
of agricultural cycles with the art of tea drinking. This initiative not
only showcases the tranquil lifestyle and peaceful state of mind that
a cup of Chinese tea offers across the seasons but also aims to
engage younger generations in the rich cultural heritage of tea by
considering their habits, reinforcing the identity of “Oriental Leaf — a
Representative of Chinese Tea (87 1 Z£ A2 B %)”.
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X EEFRMtREESEBEMENRE - “Tea n (351)” further developed the brand’s artistic and narrative
20234F [ % 7 |FIE [ Welcome ZE R E 41 expressions. Introducing the campaign known as “Welcome to the
RIXEES  ERFEEEMK - FHEE Wonderful World of Tea m (WelcomeZs R E #F1t5R)” in 2023, the
FEREUEBEEARBEREAIZAIE - I brand engaged a diverse group of global illustrators, art enthusiasts
BEHESEREFEEBRCE nF£%2023 :  and consumers in a creative label design collaboration. The best
EFHRGFEE)  REBBRETAENRE  designs were selected for the “Tea 1 Yearbook 2023: Wonderful
I - 548 0N5% B R B H B  A0 3 o World Illustrations ((%f r F 22023 : EFHREEE) ) set
which was released at the end of that year. This initiative not only
accentuates the brand’s unique style but also serves to enhance the
connection with younger consumers.

[FTINME N6 AN EESMEREDRIEE  “Mix Milk Tea (FT#1Z%)” organized campus flash mob activities in
WEIRPIEBFE A LB SHEESE - the graduation season in June and scenario-based warm drink
BEEEITNATESI ERE  09# - promotion activities in the warm drink season, highlighting the

OXM ] [ERETAE ISERES - concept of “real milk, real tea, 0 milk powder, O tea powder (E4-%1, »
BEXE 0 - 05#))” and “low sugar formula, less burden ({E1E
KEE).

Welcg_me!
AR
EiFtER

44§ 2023 Annual Report RXWRBHHERAT NONGFU SPRING co.,LTD. / 17



EEEWE S HT MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

KR [ HEEERIK>

runes
& F;;'eaches

T
ﬁﬁﬁ

hEEER R ER

2023 F AREEIMEER B ERBZSE2FUK
HARBEA4902F & T 0 2022 F # K
27.7% ' {52023 F Bz H11.5% ©

WEHA - [R0 JERR B B K B A EE TR
BHE  UREHE T2 RUEESREN
BEELE -

[ & 4t ap K H APk T RBK FlAlR 7
BEERK  AEMFOK  3EH]EZEES
RSB - SR AEM A KA DIRERA ¢ R
BBRFARERVBDEREIEAE - HABOSEE #
HHBZE2SES  FATREE - AF
U B BRI M o

18 / BRXWRBHHARAST NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

Wy

BB Bt R f
N
7

omelo
PF[avor

EA
urE?

Functional beverage products

The revenue from our functional beverage products in 2023 was
RMB4,902 million, representing an increase of 27.7% as compared
to 2022, accounting for 11.5% of the total revenue for the year.

During the Reporting Period, “Scream (4 Al)" beverage collaborated
with the Chinese University Basketball League (CUBAL) to further
cultivate the expertise connotation of “Isotonic Scream (Z/24204)” in
the sports field.

“Victory (/1&7)” vitamin water lunched the prune and peach flavor
and the mixed pomelo flavor, and improved the perception of the
functions of vitamin water by staging promotion activities themed
“New Flavor, New Vitality (&7 98k + ¥7)& 77)”. At the meantime, we
also reached out to the trendy circles by sponsoring the V-Break
Dance Battle (VBDEIFE #1582 A %) and releasing signature crossover
with BOSE, to present the dynamic vitamin to younger generations.
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Juice beverage products

The revenue from our juice beverage products in 2023 was
RMB3,533 million, representing an increase of 22.7% as compared
to 2022, accounting for 8.3% of the total revenue for the year.

During the Reporting Period, “17.5°” juice launched the seasonal
fresh orange juice and recorded higher achievement in ensuring
freshness. With the brand philosophy of “Infinitely close to nature
(R B 9R)”, “17.5°” fresh orange juice thoroughly adopted
the navel oranges harvested in the production season of 2023,
completed the extraction and bottling of juice immediately at the
place of origin with the 36-hour integrated procedures of picking,
extraction and bottling, and delivered the product via cold-chain
logistics, bringing extreme freshness to consumers.

The “NFC” series launched the 100% NFC guava blend juice in
900ml large-sized bottle, which diversified the portfolio, satisfied
consumer demands and was highly favored and recognized by the
market.

Promoting the “VC Guardian” campaign throughout the year,
“Water Soluble C100 (7K;AC100)” enhanced the perception of
“Daily Vitamin C Replenishment for Adults (/2 A S B S g4
2C)” among consumers. In collaboration with The Little Prince, the
French literature IP, the brand launched about 30,000,000 crossover
editions and staged the theme-based activity of “The Little Prince on
Journey of VC Discovery (/NE-FVCIEHERZIK)", thus reinforcing the
emotional bond with younger generations.
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WE2 D HT MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other products

Other products primarily include other beverage products such
as soda water beverage, sparkling flavored beverage, lemon juice
beverages and coffee beverage, and agricultural products such
as fresh fruits. In 2023, we continued our strategy of prioritising
operation efficiency and focusing on resources, the revenue from
other products was RMB1,311 million, representing a slight decrease
of 3.1% as compared to 2022, accounting for 3.0% of the total
revenue for the year.

During the Reporting Period, “TANBING (5t R)” launched the 250ml
mini-bottled coffee, offering sugar-free Americano and mellow Latte
to meet consumers demands for high-value-for-money coffee, and
worked with Sam’s Club to launch the exclusive jasmine tea coffee.

The brand-new “Big Lemon ((KiE4#%)” beverages was launched
in April 2023 with two offerings, freshly squeezed lemonade
carbonates and low-temperature blended fruit juice beverage. These
creative products innovatively use freshly squeezed lemon juice
and particularly retains the lemon peel oil produced by whole fruit
squeeze, giving it a taste and fragrance similar to real lemons. After
being launched, the products were promoted in various forms of
online and offline marketing activities that focused on campus and
key channels.
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R&D and Innovation

With a firm commitment to the concept of providing natural and
healthy products, the Group pursued creativity and innovation
relentlessly, further improved the security and quality standard
through multi-dimensional explorations and attempts in respect of
upstream materials and craftsmanship.

Basing on the current accomplishment, we developed new products
to enrich and diversify the product matrix in 2023. “Oriental Leaf (58
F )" launched a brand-new flavor, the “Black Oolong Tea (2
5 EE)”, which selects the premium oolong tea of Northern Fujian.
It maintains the “5 zeros” standard (O sugar, O fat, O calories and O
artificial flavors, O preservatives) for sugar-free tea beverage products
and features strong and lingering taste and texture, the “mixed and
fascinating flora fragrances” that are quite distinctive from the oolong
tea beverages previously launched, indulging consumers in the
charm of China’s oolong tea. With two new flavors, the prune and
peach flavor and the mixed pomelo flavor, “Victory (J1&£%5)” vitamin
water satisfies the demands accurately, improves consumers’
perception of the functions of vitamin and other nutrition elements
and reinforced the influence of such elements in facilitating physical
function development. The “TANBING (kAR)” ready-to-drink coffee
series offers three new PET bottled varieties: Americano (EfEZET),
Caffé Latte (2B =4) and Jasmine Tea Coffee (ZEF]ZEM), that are
all made from premium Arabica beans for a rich and classic coffee
experience, and presented in a portable “power bank” bottle design.
The brand-new “Big Lemon (K1%1%)” series highlights the creativity
of adopting freshly squeezed lemon juice, retaining the lemon peel oil
in the process of produced by whole fruit squeeze, giving it a taste
and fragrance similar to real lemons.

Information system buildup

In 2023, to bolster and secure the Company’s strategic business
development and deployment, we upgraded the marketing system
to facilitate a seamless marketing integration between the brand and
channel partners, unifying the system, data, and platform across the
entire channel marketing supply chain. We refined the application,
technical and data architectures, and further established the data
analysis platform, the consumer marketing platform, and the
intelligent service algorithms for terminal channels. This integration
has enabled a highly efficient, automated and intelligent marketing
system operation, boosting labor efficiency and productivity and also
ensuring stringent risk management in operations.

RXIWRBHHRAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.  / 2]
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WE2 D HT MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In the meantime, we advanced the digital and intelligent level of the
supply chain in 2023 by integrating digitalization and automation,
coordinating warehousing, transportation, production, quality
assurance, financial process and other links. Therefore, we ensured
that the entire order lifecycle is visible, traceable and analyzable,
from order placement to dispatching, delivery and signing for
receipt confirmation, completed the construction of an end-to-end
information system for order fulfilment, and achieved a closed-loop
system for logistics, information and capital flows. By introducing
intelligent equipment, we built the automated guided vehicle
system (AGV) to enable the development of intelligent warehousing
management. Through digitalization, we achieved automated,
intelligent and efficient operation of the supply system and thus
further improved the order fulfillment rate, thereby enhancing
customer satisfaction.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The following financial results are extracted from the audited financial
report of the Group prepared in accordance with the IFRS during the
Reporting Period:

Revenue and Gross Profit

The Group recorded a revenue of RMB42,667 million in 2023,
representing an increase of 28.4% as compared with RMB33,239
million in 2022. In 2023, gross profit of the Group was RMB25,407
million, representing an increase of 33.1% as compared with
RMB19,095 million in 2022. During the Reporting Period, the
Group’s gross profit margin increased by 2.1 percentage points from
57.4% in the corresponding period of last year to 59.5%, which was
mainly due to the procurement costs of paper cartons, labels and
some raw materials decreased as compared with the same period of
last year.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

In 2023, sales and distribution expenses of the Group were
RMB9,284 million, representing an increase of 18.7% as compared
with RMB7,821 million in 2022. Sales and distribution expenses
accounted for 21.8% of the total revenue, representing a decrease
of 1.7 percentage points as compared with 23.5% in 2022. This is
mainly due to impact of optimization of cost of supply chain.

3 2028 Annual Report
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Administrative Expenses

In 2023, administrative expenses of the Group were RMB2,162
million, representing an increase of 17.8% as compared with
RMB1,835 million in 2022. Administrative expenses accounted for
5.1% of the total revenue, maintained at a similar level as compared
with 5.5% in 2022.

Other Income and Gains
In 2023, other income and gains of the Group amounted to
RMB1,841 million, accounting for 4.3% of our total revenue,
representing an increase of 7.7% as compared with RMB1,709
million in 2022, which was mainly due to the increase in the interest
income from term deposits.

Finance Costs

During the Reporting Period, the discount amount of bank
acceptance bills used by the Group increased, and the finance costs
increased from RMB76 million in 2022 to RMB100 million in 2023.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the aforementioned changes, profit of the Group for
the year increased by 42.2% from RMB8,495 million in 2022 to
RMB12,079 million in 2023.

Dividends

Based on the Group’s overall performance in 2023, and having
accounted for, including but not limited to, the Group’s surplus,
overall financial condition and capital expenditures, the Board
proposed to declare a final cash dividend of RMBO0.75 per share
(inclusive of tax, amounting to a total dividend of approximately
RMB8,435 million) for the year ended December 31, 2023 at the
forthcoming 2023 AGM of the Company.
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Long-term Bank Deposits, Pledged Deposits, Cash, Bank
Balances and Borrowings

As of December 31, 2023, the sum of long-term bank deposits,
pledged deposits, cash and bank balances of the Group amounted
to RMB25,639 million, representing an increase of 32.7% as
compared with RMB19,316 million as of December 31, 2022. The
total credit facility of the Group was RMB15,990 million and interest-
bearing borrowings amounted to RMB3,121 million as of December
31, 2023, representing an increase of 28.7% as compared with
RMB2,425 million as of December 31, 2022, with due repayment
of a total amount of RMB13,472 million as of December 31, 2023.
All of the borrowings are denominated in RMB. Among the total
borrowings as of December 31, 2023, the borrowings of RMB100
million were charged at a fixed interest rate (not including discount
of bank acceptance bills). The Group does not have any interest rate
hedging policy.

Inventories

Inventories of the Group increased by 46.7% from RMB2,108 million
as at December 31, 2022 to RMB3,092 million as at December 31,
2023. Due to an increase in raw materials inventory at the end of the
period as a result of production stocking, inventory turnover days
increased from 50.5 days as at December 31, 2022 to 55.0 days as
at December 31, 2023.

Trade and Bills Receivables

Trade and bills receivables of the Group increased from RMB479
million as of December 31, 2022 to RMB547 million as of December
31, 2023. The turnover days of trade and bills receivables decreased
from 5.2 days as at December 31, 2022 to 4.4 days as at December
31, 2023.

Trade and Bills Payables

Trade and bills payables of the Group increased from RMB1,425
million as of December 31, 2022 to RMB1,770 million as of
December 31, 2023. The turnover days of trade and bills payables
increased from 33.3 days as at December 31, 2022 to 33.8 days as
at December 31, 2023.

Gearing Ratio

As at December 31, 2023, the gearing ratio of the Group (equaling
(interest-bearing borrowings + lease liabilities)/equity) was 11.2%
(during the Reporting Period, the Group has no minority equity),
representing an increase as compared with the gearing ratio of the
Group as at December 31, 2022 being 10.5%, mainly due to our
increased use of bills receivable financing.

3 2028 Annual Report
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25 #T MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Treasury Policy

The Group adopts a prudent financial management approach for
its treasury policy to ensure that the Group’s liquidity structure
comprising assets, liabilities and other commitments is able to
always meet its capital requirements.

MATERIAL EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this report, there have been no material events
of the Group from December 31, 2023 until the Latest Practicable
Date.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

As of December 31, 2023, the Group held HK$1,536 million,
US$462 million and a small amount of other foreign currencies. In
2023, exchange gains amounted to approximately RMB46 million. As
of the Latest Practicable Date, the exchange rates of the U.S. dollar
and the Hong Kong dollar against RMB have both increased, and we
need to monitor the further trends in the foreign exchange market.
The Group will closely monitor our foreign exchange risks and will
utilize appropriate financial instruments for hedging purposes when
necessary to help reduce foreign exchange risks.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB4,437 million as at December 31, 2023, mainly used for
construction of production plants and purchase of production
equipment.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at December 31, 2023, no assets of the Group were pledged by
the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

On December 31, 2023, the Company entered into an investment
agreement (the “Investment Agreement”) with the People’s
Government of Jiande City, Zhejiang Province in relation to the
“Nongfu Spring Jiande Drinking Water and Beverage Comprehensive
Industrial Base Project” (the “Project”). Pursuant to the Investment
Agreement, the Company has agreed to acquire the use right
of approximately 1,000 mu (#) of industrial land by way of bid
invitation, auction or listing ({#A#}) and has committed to invest a
total investment amount of RMBS5 billion for the Project, which will be
implemented in two phases and multiple stages and is expected to
complete the entire investment within 5 years after the full delivery of
project sites. As the highest applicable percentage ratio calculated
in accordance with the Listing Rules in respect of the investment
amount of the Project under the Investment Agreement is more than
5% but less than 25%, the entry into of the Investment Agreement
constitutes a discloseable transaction and is subject to the reporting
and announcement requirements, but exempt from the shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. For
details of the investment, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated December 31, 2023 regarding discloseable
transaction — Entry Into the Investment Agreement with the People’s
Government of Jiande City. There was no realised and unrealised
gain or loss or any dividends received from the Project during the
Reporting Period.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2023 and up to the
Latest Practicable Date, the Group did not have any significant
investments held, or any material acquisition or disposal of any
relevant subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

As at the latest practicable date, save for the “Future Plans and Use
of Proceeds” disclosed in the prospectus, the Group did not have
any existing plan for acquiring other material investments or capital
assets.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

From September 8, 2020 (the “Listing Date”) to December 31, 2023,
the Group has gradually utilised the proceeds from the initial public
offering for the intended purposes set out in the prospectus.

3 2028 Annual Report
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The sum of initial public offering proceeds from the listing of the
shares of the Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
and the net proceeds from the full exercise of the over-allotment
option (after deducting underwriting fees and other related expenses)
is approximately HK$9,377 million. As of December 31, 2023, the
Group has utilised approximately HK$4,900 million of the proceeds
for the intended purposes set out in the prospectus issued by
the Company, accounting for 52.26% of all raised funds, and the
remaining unutilised proceeds is approximately HK$4,477 million.
The balance of the proceeds from the Listing will continue to be
utilised according to the purposes and proportions disclosed in the
prospectus. See the table below for details:

B ZE2023F BZ2023F
ErEsE 12A31H 12A318 MEREBAFHE
AMERFEE 2 BEEAREE HAEARE ERRHEAKE
Actual net
Net proceeds amount Unutilised net Expected timeline
from  utilisedupto amountupto for utilising
the Listing December 31, December 31, unutilised net
available 2023 2023 amount
(B¥EE) (B¥EE) (B¥EE)
(HK$ million)  (HK$ million)  (HK$ million)
R R 2,344 1,003 1,341 20249 12H31H
Brand building December 31, 2024
BB HERE 2,344 371 1,973  2024%12H31H
Purchasing sales equipment December 31, 2024
BELEERENNERE 1,875 1,438 437 202412 A31H
Purchasing production facilities and December 31, 2024
building new factories
EIBRE 2R 938 212 726 2024912 A31H
Strengthening fundamental capabilities December 31, 2024
BEEN 938 938 0 TEH
Repaying loans N/A
wmRRBESMEM —REERSE 938 938 0 TNEA
Working capital and other general N/A
corporate purposes
#&ET Total 9,377 4,900 4,477 202412 AH31H

December 31, 2024
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WE2 D HT MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GOING CONCERN

On the basis of current financial projections and facilities available,
the Group has adequate financial resources to continue its operation
in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the financial statements are
prepared on a going concern basis.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at December 31, 2023, the total number of employees of the
Group (including the Company and its subsidiaries) exceeded
20,000. In 2023, the total employee benefit expenses (including
directors’ remuneration) amounted to RMB4,931 million. We have
formulated internal systems such as the Remuneration Management
Measures, Performance Management Measures and Long-term
Incentive Management System to implement the remuneration
management system of equal pay for equal work, ensure the
standardization of remuneration and performance management, and
continue to build up a competitive remuneration system in industry,
so as to provide the necessary safeguards for the attraction and
retention of high-quality talents.

The Group always believes that our long-term growth depends on
the expertise, experience and development of our employees. We
proactively optimize the talent selection and cultivation system in
order to improve the general competitiveness of our employees
and their sense of belongings to the Group. The remuneration and
benefits for employees of the Group are determined with reference
to the market standards as well as individual qualification and
experience, performance bonus and other incentive systems are
established. Performance bonuses are paid based on the Group’s
revenue and profit targets, as well as the performance of the
organisation in which the employee works and the performance of
the individual employee, and to recognise and encourage outstanding
contributions to the Group’s business. During the Reporting Period,
the increase in employees’ remuneration and bonuses was in line
with the growth of our business performance, and such increase was
higher than the industry level, ranking employees’ monetary income
among the top level in the industry with competitiveness.

3 2028 Annual Report
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In order to improve the Company’s incentive mechanism, retain
key employees and promote sustainable growth of the Company’s
performance, as considered and approved in the extraordinary
general meeting held on January 14, 2022, the Company has
adopted the employee share incentive scheme in 2022 to incentivize
management personnel and core technical experts who play an
important role in the Group’s business performance and future
development. According to the employee share incentive scheme,
the maximum number of H Shares that the trustee can acquire and
hold from time to time under the employee share incentive scheme
throughout the duration of the employee share incentive scheme
shall not exceed 5% of the total issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of adoption, and without the approval by a special
resolution at the general meeting, the total number of H shares of the
Company obtained by any scheme participant through the employee
share incentive scheme shall not exceed 1% of the total share capital
of the Company.

In March 2022, the awards granted by the Company according to
the employee share incentive scheme correspond to 6,636,400 H
shares of the Company, accounting for 0.059% of the total issued
shares of the Company and 0.1318% of the issued H shares of
the Company. Pursuant to the provisions of the employee share
incentive scheme, the grant price under the grant of the awards is
30% of the average closing price of the Company’s H shares in the
120 Hong Kong trading days before the grant date, being HK$13.22
per incentive share. The 108 scheme participants in the grant
include Mr. Xiang Xiansong and Ms. Han Linyou, the directors of the
Company, Mr. Rao Minghong and Mr. Liu Xiyue, the supervisors of
the Company, in which, the awards granted to Mr. Xiang Xiansong
correspond to 108,000 H shares of the Company, the awards
granted to Ms. Han Linyou correspond to 90,800 H shares of the
Company, the awards granted to each of Mr. Rao Minghong and
Mr. Liu Xiyue correspond to 99,000 H shares of the Company; and 1
employee of Yangshengtang Group, the awards granted correspond
to 39,600 H shares of the Company (such employee made significant
contributions to the construction of the information system of the
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Group during the participation in the connected transaction project
where Yangshengtang Group provided IT services to the Group
and was re-designated to the Group in 2023). The remaining 103
scheme participants are all employees of the Group, excluding the
directors, supervisors, other connected persons of the Company and
shareholders registered in the register of members of the Company
on the day before the listing of the Company’s H Shares (being
September 7, 2020). The employee share incentive scheme is valid
for 10 years, and as of the Latest Practicable Date, the validity period
of the employee share incentive scheme has about 7 years left. In
April 2022, among the incentive shares under the grant, 2,610,000
incentive shares have met the conditions for the first tranche vesting
and belonged to the corresponding scheme participants, while the
remaining 44,184 incentive shares that did not meet the vesting
conditions have become forfeit shares. For details, please refer to
the relevant content in the 2021 and 2022 annual reports of the
Company.

In April 2023, among the incentive shares under the grant, 1,708,200
incentive shares have met the conditions for the second tranche
vesting and belonged to the corresponding scheme participants,
while the remaining 285,048 incentive shares that did not meet the
vesting conditions have become forfeit shares. In addition, 102,760
incentive shares have become forfeit shares due to the resignation
and demotion of relevant employees. The Company had instructed
the trustee to sell the forfeit shares at the market price in the open
market. The proceeds from the disposal of the forfeit shares, after
repaying the self-owned capital contribution paid by the employees
when subscribing for the granted shares, will be retained by the
trustee and incorporated into the trust fund pool for further purchase
of incentive shares during the implementation of the employee share
incentive scheme in the future. During the Reporting Period, the
Company did not grant any new award.
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ERAEENES  BETELQEENLEME Particulars of the interests of the directors and supervisors,
ELHEERTNEBABIRMEESZREEE  connected entity participants and other employee participants in the
HywT award shares granted and vested are set out below:
20235 20235
1R18 12A31R
) REBRN HAGE REBR REER HAGE
HERG BEARA bt BRN R ih b
b LIESES ol RER HE CHEAR kE HBBEAH kg Ui h#E kit#g
Share price Number of Number of Number of Number of
Number prior to vesting award shares  sharesvested ~sharesforfeited ~ award shares
of award date during unvested as at during the during the unvested as at
Name of scheme Priceof  shares the Reporting  Remaining January 1, Reporting Reporting  December 31,
participants Date of grant grant  granted  Vested date Period  vesting date 2023 Period Period 2023
(78%) () (%) () (&) () ()
(HKD)  (shares) (HKD) (shares) (shares) (shares) (shares)
(M)
(note 1)
WELES) 2022437298 1822 108000  202254A298 % 220 04EAGEE 64,800 32,400 0 32,400
Xiang Xansong March 29, 2022 2003547 28H R5AM2)
(Director) April 29, 2022 and Last trading day in
April 28, 2023 April 2024 {note 2)
EiES) 20224637298 182 90800 202F4A208% 220 04EAGEE 54,568 27,200 0 27,368
Han Linyou (Director] ~ March 29, 2022 202354288 R5AM2)
April 29, 2022 and Last trading day in
April 28, 2023 April 2024 {note 2)
ERiIEZ) 2022437298 182 9000 202548208k 220 04EAGEE 59,400 29800 0 29,600
Rao Minghong March 29, 2022 202354288 R5AM2)
(Supervisor) April 29, 2022 and Last trading day in
April 28, 2023 April 2024 {note 2)
Hztzz) 20224637298 182 9000 202548208k 220 045 AGEE 59,400 26,800 2,970 29,630
Liu Xiyue (Superviso) ~ March 29, 2022 202354288 R5A M)
April 29, 2022 and Last trading day in
April 28, 2023 April 2024 {note 2)
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20235 20235
1A18 128318
) REDRH HAGE KESR RESR HAGE
HERG BEASH gt BEN R g
b LIEES ol RPEK HE GCHERE RE HHBEAH kteg hiteg heE ktre®
Share price Number of Number of Number of Number of
Number prior to vesting award shares ~ shares vested sharesforfeited  award shares
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Name of scheme Priceof  shares the Reporting  Remaining January 1, Reporting Reporting  December 31,
participants Date of grant grant  granted  Vested date Period  vesting date 2023 Period Period 2023
(%) () (%) () (&) (%) ()
(HKD)  (shares) (HKD) (shares) (shares) (shares) (shares)
(HtzH1)
(note 1)
Bezesus 2022437298 1822 30600 2020F4A208R 220 04EASEE 23,800 10,600 1,188 12,012
(HtzEa) March 29, 2022 202354 28R 278 (Hi2)
Connected entity April 29, 2022 and Last trading dayin
participants (note 3) April 28, 2023 April 2024 {note 2)

EfB2EEAH  2020%3A2E 1822 6200000  202254R29B R

Other employee March 29, 2022 2023F4728A
participants in April 29, 2022 and
aggregate April 28, 2023

MIsE Notes:

(1) BARERNDEBE2023F48288 281 B (1)
20234 F27 HHH(E »
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220 04EAGEE 3,720,248 1,681,400 383,650 1,755,198
258 (MH2)
Last trading day in
April 2024 {note 2)

The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately prior to April 28,
2023, i.e. on April 27, 2023.

Any day other than a day on which the securities on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) are authorized or required by
law to close trading.

The employee was originally an employee of Yangshengtang Group and
was re-designated to the Group in 2023.
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ENVIRONMENT, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

As one of the core development concepts upheld by the Company
for a long term, sustainable development is reflected in the
governance, management and practices of environment, social and
governance (ESG) issues. The Company has established a three-
level sustainable development structure with the Board acting as the
top leader, the Office of Public Policy & Sustainable Development
assisting the Board in managing the ESG issues, and various
functional departments and subsidiaries acting as the executors of
ESG issues. In 2023, on the basis of comprehensive understanding
of business development, the Group conducted an extensive survey
to understand the appeals and expectations of stakeholders, and
updated the key ESG issues for the year accordingly, which set the
direction for sustainable development.

° In the governance aspect, Nongfu Spring has formulated
and strictly implemented the Anti-Corruption Policy, the
Whistleblowing Policy, the Code of Business Conduct for
Employees of Nongfu Spring and other internal rules, clarifying
the requirements on business ethics for all employees and
business partners from the institutional level and further
enhancing the ability to detect, report and handle business
ethics violations. By anti-corruption trainings offered to
employees and regular promotion to business partners, the
Company has comprehensively improved the anti-corruption
awareness of internal and external stakeholders, creating a
clean corporate culture and a business atmosphere of integrity
and uprightness. In 2023, the Company updated the Anti-
Corruption Policy and the Whistleblowing Policy, and published
such policies on the company website. The percentage of
employees covered by the signed Code of Business Conduct
was 100%, and the anti-corruption trainings have covered all
employees and business partners.
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£33 4 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In the environmental aspect, Nongfu Spring sets and
continuously updates environmental goals by basing on internal
policies, such as the Policy on Environmental Climate Changes,
and a sound environmental management system and taking into
account business plans and actual development, and devotes
sustained efforts in key environmental management fields
including sustainable water consumption, packaging material
management, waste recycling, biodiversity preservation and
sustainable agriculture development, to effectively cope with
risks and opportunities arising from climate change and to
respond to the Sustainable Development Goals of the United
Nations, working together with other forces of the society to
shape a green future. As at the end of the Reporting Period, all
plants of water and beverage products under the management
of Nongfu Spring have been accredited with ISO 14001
Certificate.

- Nongfu Spring has incorporated climate change risks
into its overall risk management strategy, established
the climate change risk management structure with the
Board as the highest authority, identified climate change
risks and developed response measures on the regular
basis in accordance with the Task Force on Climate-
related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) framework, and
tracked the progress of energy and carbon emission
targets on the ongoing basis, contributing to the
achievement of the national goals of carbon peaking
and carbon neutrality. During the Reporting Period, the
Company was committed to improving energy structure
and energy efficiency, and reduced carbon emissions in
the value chain through low-carbon logistics planning.

- For water resource management, Nongfu Spring focuses
on two main aspects: protection of water sources and
conservation of water resources, integrating the concept
of sustainable water consumption in every link of the
value chain. We monitor and track the conditions of
water sources in real-time, adopt measures to protect
the water sources on the regular basis, and showcase
the achievements in preserving Nongfu Spring’s water
sources to the public through source exploration
activities. In addition, we practice the concept of water
conservation from three dimensions: water-saving
management, design and transformation, to enhance the
overall water use efficiency of Nongfu Spring. During the
Reporting Period, the water intensity has been reduced
by 14% as compared to 2020, and 70% of the strategic
target for water intensity reduction by 2030 has been
achieved.
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#T MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For emission management, Nongfu Spring, supported by
a comprehensive and robust environmental management
system, invests continuously in the development and
application of technologies for treatment of wastewater,
waste gas and solid wastes, and is committed to
reduction at the source, recycling in the process and
hazard-free treatment at the end. During the Reporting
Period, we upgraded or expanded the wastewater
treatment stations at ten plants, significantly improving
the efficiency of wastewater treatment and effectively
reducing the concentration of pollutants in the
wastewater. We continuously advanced the replacement
of inefficient boilers and upgrading to low-nitrogen
boilers, and enhanced the waste gas treatment capability
in the injection molding process, thereby further reducing
the generation and emission of waste gas. Additionally,
we actively collaborated with multiple parties in promoting
the reuse of food processing residues to reduce food
waste.

For packaging material management, we intensified
R&D efforts in reducing the use of packaging materials
and adopting lightweight packaging materials
during the Reporting Period, actively explored the
packaging material recycling mechanism and the reuse
opportunities, and cooperated with business partners
in the value chain to contribute to the development of
circular economy. Our expectation is that 100% of plastic
packaging for water and beverage products would be
recyclable by 2025. During the Reporting Period, we
have completely eliminated the packaging materials
containing carbon black, and 99% of plastic packaging
for water and beverage products were recyclable.
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WE2 D HT MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For employees, upholding the people-oriented philosophy and
the value of respecting and cherishing talents, Nongfu Spring
is devoted to building a workplace environment of equality,
inclusiveness and diversity, and committed to compliant
employment practices, facilitating talent development and
ensuring health and safety. During the Reporting Period,
Nongfu Spring further developed signature talent development
programs and offered customized trainings based on business
characteristics and job requirements, which covered 100%
of employees. We launched the Benefit Platform 2.0, offering
benefits to employees online and enabling employees to
have high “flexibility” to choose the benefits they desire,
thus satisfying their personalized requirements. To ensure
occupational health and safety, we implement the health, safety
and environmental management policy of “people-oriented,
prevention-driven, full staff participation and continuous
improvements”.

For products, with commitment to the philosophy of developing
natural and healthy products and in response to the “three
reductions and three healthy conditions” campaign promoted
by the government, Nongfu Spring continuously strengthens
the R&D team, enhances the R&D capability, introduces new
products and achieves breakthroughs to serve consumers with
changing demands. Additionally, Nongfu Spring incorporates
product quality and safety into the product lifecycle
management, further improves the quality assurance system,
builds the quality culture, intensifies quality supervision and
improves the quality management standard by all-round efforts
in the raw material end, the production end, the marketing end
and the after-sales service end. During the Reporting Period,
Nongfu Spring and all plants under its management were
accredited with ISO 9001 and ISO 22000 (HACCP) certificates.
Throughout 2023, the qualification rate of Nongfu Spring’s
products in national-level random inspections reached 100%,
and 100% of products were recognized in third-party review
and certification.
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o In the social aspect, Nongfu Spring faithfully fulfills social
responsibilities, and sponsors a series of charitable activities in
the four fields of disaster relief, poverty alleviation, improvement
of educational conditions and public sports services, with the
guidance of the Community Investment Policy, practicing the
idea of “Helping the World” and enhancing the community’s
well-being. In addition, Nongfu Spring is committed to building
a sustainable supply chain, and develops the Standards on
Suppliers’ Lifecycle Management ({ f & 7 4 5 38 B & 12 R
&) )), the Supplier Health, Safety and Environment Policy, the
Code of Conduct of Suppliers and other internal policies, thus
ensuring a sound and stable supply chain and comprehensively
strengthening suppliers’ performance in environmental
protection, labor rights and interests, business ethics and other
issues related to sustainable development.

As a responsible enterprise, Nongfu Spring is devoted to evolving
into a leader of sustainability upholding the concept of sustainable
development, while providing natural and healthy products. In the
future, Nongfu Spring will take measures to adapt to the changes
of the times and the market, further improve the work for boosting
sustainable development and governance, faithfully fulfill social
responsibilities, and strive to achieve the sustainability goals and
create greater sustainable value to all stakeholders.

The Company’s 2023 Sustainability Report has been released on the
same day as this Annual Report, and please refer to the report on
the website of the Stock Exchange and the website of the Company
for more details.

OUTLOOK

The global situation in 2024 will remain complex and uncertain, and
the focus will remain on recovery and development. The domestic
consumer market is expected to maintain its steady and positive
recovery, and the food and beverage industry is facing numerous
opportunities. Recently, the Group has been influenced by public
opinions and is also facing challenges. We will strengthen our brand
building, flexibly adapt to market changes, consistently adhere to the
concept of healthy and natural products, and continuously improve
our products and services to better meet our consumers’ needs.
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The Company is committed to upholding high standards of corporate
governance which, it believes, is crucial to the development of the
Company and safeguarding the interests of the shareholders of
the Company. The Company has adopted sound governance and
disclosure practices, and will continuously improve these practices
and establish a highly ethical corporate culture.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to the best practices on corporate
governance, and had complied with all the code provisions as
set out in the Corporate Governance Code during the year ended
December 31, 2023, save for the deviations from the code provision
C.2.1 under Section Il of the Corporate Governance Code disclosed
below.

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 under Section Il of the Corporate
Governance Code, the roles of chairman of the board and chief
executive officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive officer should be clearly established
and set out in writing. Mr. Zhong Shanshan is the Chairman of the
Board and General Manager of the Company. As the founder of the
Group, Mr. Zhong Shanshan has extensive experience in the drinking
water and soft beverage industry and is responsible for the overall
management of the Company’s business strategies and operations.
He has been mainstay to the growth and business expansion of the
Group since the Company’s establishment in 1996. The Board is of
the view that vesting both roles of Chairman and General Manager
in Mr. Zhong Shanshan is beneficial to the management of the
Company.

In addition, the balance of power and authority is ensured by
the operation of the senior management and the Board, which
comprises experienced and high-caliber individuals. The Board
currently consists of four executive Directors (including Mr. Zhong
Shanshan), two non-executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors. Therefore, we consider that the Board has a
fairly strong independence element in its composition.

The Board shall review the structure from time to time to ensure that

the structure facilitates the execution of the business strategies of
the Group and maximizes effectiveness of its operation.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS

The Company works out the Regulations on Securities Transactions
by Directors, Supervisors and Related Employees by applying the
Model Code. The Company has made specific enquires with the
Directors and Supervisors and all of them confirmed that they had
been in compliance with the requirements for securities transactions
of directors and supervisors set out in the Model Code during the
Reporting Period.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

As of December 31, 2023 and up to the Latest Practicable Date, the
Board currently consists of nine Directors, including four executive
Directors (namely, Mr. Zhong Shanshan (Chairman), Ms. Wu Limin,
Mr. Xiang Xiansong and Ms. Han Linyou), two non-executive
Directors (namely, Mr. Zhong Shu Zi and Ms. Xue Lian) and three
independent non-executive Directors (namely, Mr. Stanley Yi Chang,
Mr. Yang, Lei Bob and Mr. Lu Yuan). As far as the Company is
aware, except for the non-executive Director Mr. Zhong Shu Zi,
who is the son of Mr. Zhong Shanshan, the Chairman and General
Manager, there is neither financial, business, family or material/
related relationship between other members of the Board and the
General Manager, nor significant relationships between Directors,
Supervisors and senior management that need to be disclosed.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographies of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.
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MAJOR RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for and has the general power over the
management and operation of our business, including determining
our business strategies and investment plans, implementing
resolutions passed at our Shareholders’ general meetings, and
exercising other powers, functions and duties as conferred by the
Articles of Association. The Board also assumes the responsibilities
for developing and reviewing the policies and practices of the
Company on corporate governance, risk management and internal
control and compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

The Board shall represent the long-term interest of the Company
and the interest of shareholders and related parties when making
scientific and strategic decisions, be effectively supervised and
evaluated when controlling corporate resources and conducting
operation management and maintain effective stimulation and
supervision over the senior management when duly delegating its
power to the senior management. The Board is the core of the
Company’s corporate governance framework and its role is clearly
separated from that of senior management. The Company clearly
defines the responsibilities of the general meeting, the Board, the
Supervisory Committee, and senior management. The general
meeting is the highest authority of the Company, and the Board is
responsible to the general meeting. The Board has established three
special committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Please see below
for the composition and responsibilities of each committee. Each
committee shall provide its recommendations to the Board based
on its respective terms of reference. The decisions of the Board
on such recommendations shall be final, unless otherwise clearly
stated in the terms of reference of these committees. In addition, the
Company has also set up the Office of Public Policy & Sustainable
Development as a working organ of the Board to assist the Board in
identifying and monitoring the Company’s sustainable development
risks, formulating sustainable development strategies, tracking
sustainable development performance and disclosing sustainability-
related information. The Supervisory Committee supervises the
performance of duties by the Board and senior management as well
as the financial activities, risk management, and internal control of the
Company. Under the leadership of the Board, senior management
is responsible for implementing the resolutions of the Board and for
daily business and management of the Company, and reports to the
Board and the Supervisory Committee.
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The Company has a general manager (the “General Manager”). The
roles of the Chairman of the Board and General Manager of the
Company are performed by Mr. Zhong Shanshan. The Chairman of
the Board is responsible for ensuring that the Directors perform their
duties properly and ensuring discussions on material matters take
place on a timely basis. The power and authority to carry out daily
operations and implementation of the strategies and directions set by
the Board are delegated to the management team of the Company
(the “Management”). The Management assumes accountability to
the Board for the operation of the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Board revised the Articles of
Association and the Rules of Procedure of the Board in accordance
with the practice of the Company, and the Office of Public Policy &
Sustainable Development revised the Whistleblowing Policy and the
Anti-Corruption Policy under the Sustainable Development Public
Policy, in order to improve and standardize the relevant provisions to
implement and safeguard the effective enforcement of the Corporate
Governance Code. During the Reporting Period, the Board regularly
reviewed the Company’s compliance with the domestic and
overseas regulatory requirements and its implementation of various
internal corporate governance rules and policies, and reviewed the
Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and
the disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report.
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As considered and approved at the 2022 AGM held on May
16, 2023, Mr. Zhong Shanshan, Ms. Wu Limin, Mr. Xiang
Xiansong and Ms. Han Linyou were elected as executive
Directors of the eighth session of the Board of the Company,
Mr. Zhong Shu Zi and Ms. Xue Lian were elected as non-
executive Directors of the eighth session of the Board of the
Company, and Mr. Stanley Yi Chang, Mr. Yang, Lei Bob and
Mr. Lu Yuan were elected as independent non-executive
Directors of the eighth session of the Board of the Company.
The term of office of the eighth session of the Board of the
Company is three years commencing from the date of approval
at the 2022 AGM. Effective from the same date, the former
executive Directors of the Company, Mr. Guo Zhen, Mr. Zhou
Li, Ms. Zhou Zhenhua and Mr. Liao Yuan, had ceased to act as
the Directors.

As considered and approved at the 2022 AGM, Ms. Liu Min
and Mr. Liu Xiyue were elected as shareholder representative
Supervisors of the eighth session of the Supervisory
Committee of the Company. Subject to the democratic
election procedures of the Company’s employees, Mr. Rao
Minghong was re-elected as the employee representative
Supervisor of the eighth session of the Supervisory Committee
on March 2, 2023. Two shareholder representative Supervisors
elected at the AGM together with the employee representative
Supervisor, Mr. Rao Minghong, will form the eighth session of
the Supervisory Committee of the Company, and their term of
office shall be three years commencing from the date of the
2022 AGM. Effective from the same date, the former Chairman
of the Supervisory Committee of the Company, Mr. Zhong
Jigang, had ceased to act as a Supervisor.

3 2028 Annual Report



o 2023F5A16H - MNERE2022F E
BEXEEEANEN\EEESE—
ReFE b EMMELEEZTAEEN
EEECESER - R EFSE
ZEUANTABAERRRNSHREEA

8 (1)EMB A AR AT BT

QRFNBLZLEABARRRTEEERA

@)AIRAA S £ AR BT 8RO RS

B RABHRAZLEARARESE

WME - LLEFALTZTHEEHREEA

B 51 BE2023F5 816 B4

ABH=F EHFE)\EEFeTH—

B RHEE  FIREEMBDELED

BETARAFBAEE  AEERL

N TABETARRTEEE ARES

ETRAIE3.056B T RTERNEER

R -EFENRIEMRLLTNES

NZEARARBEARME  RH)

B EMEBEMRK LT AT S LTRE

FI05FBE TR ENREREK - TH

=4 B2023F5H16HEER - &

FN\EESEgEm2 AL -

e [AH > REME02FERRAGED
FRHE\EEFeF - Regx L 2

PRt EZERF\EEFEER -

PATEESE EFEENE - BIRKE - B
BREANRBERREE  SREE BN
BEERERRE -

EHELMARRES  EENaREEAR
BEMNFE  B2HARQR HEA20234F
3A3AM2023E5 16 AERBEA
20234 717 BRI K ©

B2023F 12 A1 HEEEREATHE &
= EENSREEAESHBERNOT

o  IEo024F1AC6REFESHE AR
W ZEBERFE LR AIZE3.281KR
EEARABIARWMENER  BE
NI EBE2024%2 A13H#E BT AR
ABELTWE  EECLABMMK
Z+BHZARERABNME—QEHH

=,
=

F Rz 2023 Annual Report

¥ E B E CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

° On May 16, 2023, at the first meeting of the eighth session of
the Board held immediately after the 2022 AGM, Mr. Zhong
Shanshan was appointed as the chairman of the eighth
session of the Board. In addition, the Board has approved
the appointments of the following individuals as senior
management of the Company: (1) Mr. Zhong Shanshan as the
General Manager of the Company; (2) Ms. Wu Limin as the
Chief Financial Officer of the Company; (3) Mr. Xiang Xiansong
as the General Manager of the Sales & Marketing Center of
the Company; and (4) Ms. Han Linyou as the Board Secretary
of the Company. The terms of office and senior management
capacity of the above individuals are effective from May 16,
2023 for a period of three years, which was consistent with the
term of office of the eighth session of the Board. Effective from
the same date, Mr. Guo Zhen and Mr. Zhou Li had ceased to
act as the Deputy General Managers of the Company, and
Ms. Zhou Zhenhua had ceased to act as the Chief Financial
Officer and an authorised representative of the Company for
the purpose of Rule 3.05 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.
The Board also appointed Ms. Han Linyou and Ms. Mak Po
Man Cherie as Joint Company Secretaries of the Company,
and Ms. Wu Limin and Ms. Han Linyou as the authorised
representatives as required under Rule 3.05 of the Hong Kong
Listing Rules, all for a term of three years effective from May
16, 20283 and ending on the date of expiry of the term of office
of the eighth session of the Board.

° On the same day, at the first meeting of the eighth session of
the Supervisory Committee held immediately after the 2022
AGM, Ms. Liu Min was appointed as the chairman of the eighth
session of the Supervisory Committee.

In respect of the aforesaid changes in members of the Board, the
Supervisory Committee, the Deputy General Managers, the Chief
Financial Officer and the authorised representatives, Mr. Guo Zhen,
Mr. Zhou Li, Ms. Zhou Zhenhua, Mr. Liao Yuan and Mr. Zhong
Jigang all retired due to the expiry of their terms of office.

For details of the aforesaid changes in Directors, Supervisors
and senior management of the Company, please refer to the
announcements dated March 3, 2023 and May 16, 2023 and the
circular dated April 17, 2023 of the Company.

Changes in Directors, Supervisors and senior management from
December 31, 2023 to the Latest Practicable Date are set out below:

° As approved by the Board on January 26, 2024, Ms. Mak
Po Man Cherie has resigned as one of the joint company
secretaries of the Company with effect from February 13,
2024, and the Board has appointed Ms. Han Linyou to be
the sole company secretary of the Company with effect from
the same date as she was qualified to act as the company
secretary of the Company as required under Rule 3.28 of the
Listing Rules.
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In March 2024, (i) Ms. Xue Lian resigned as a non-executive
Director of the Company due to family reasons; (i) Ms. Liu Min
resigned as a Supervisor and the chairman of the Supervisory
Committee of the Company due to changes of her work;
and (i) Mr. Rao Minghong resigned as a Supervisor of the
Company due to adjustment of work. The resignations of Ms.
Xue Lian, Ms. Liu Min and Mr. Rao Minghong will take effect
from the date on which new Director and Supervisors elected
at the general meeting or through the employees’ democratic
election procedure assume office. During the period when their
resignations have not yet taken effect, the aforementioned
persons will continue to perform their duties in accordance with
the relevant laws, administrative regulations and the Articles of
Association.

On March 26, 2024, the Board resolved to recommend
the appointment of Mr. Rao Minghong as an executive
Director, and the Supervisory Committee recommended the
appointment of Ms. Yu Minyu as a shareholder representative
Supervisor and Mr. Jiang Xiaodong as an employee
representative Supervisor. Such proposed appointments of
Director and shareholder representative Supervisor are subject
to approval by the Shareholders at the forthcoming 2023 AGM,
while the proposed appointment of employee representative
Supervisor is subject to approval by the employees of the
Company through the democratic election procedures. Subject
to the approval of the appointment of Mr. Rao Minghong as an
executive Director at the general meeting, Ms. Yu Minyu as a
Supervisor at the general meeting and Mr. Jiang Xiaodong as
a Supervisor through the democratic election procedures, the
Company will enter into a service contract with each of them
for their services to the Company. Mr. Rao Minghong will not
receive any Director’s remuneration as an executive Director
of the Company, and Ms. Yu Minyu and Mr. Jiang Xiaodong
will not receive any Supervisor's remuneration as Supervisors
of the Company, and will only be remunerated in respect of
their respective other positions held by them in the Group in
accordance with the remuneration standards as set out in their
respective employment contract entered into with the Group.
The basic salaries of Mr. Rao Minghong, Ms. Yu Minyu and
Mr. Jiang Xiaodong are RMB90,000 per month, RMB250,000
per month and RMB89,500 per month, respectively, and other
remunerations include performance-based bonuses, pension
scheme contributions and other matters as determined
by the Company, which will then be determined based on
their performance and the assessment indicators set by the
Company.

For details of the aforesaid changes in Directors and

Supervisors, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated March 26, 2024.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS

During the Reporting Period, the Company held 5 Board meetings
and 1 general meeting. During the Reporting Period, the attendance
record of each Director at the Board meetings and general meetings is
as follows:

EHESRRE
EHEERRE
Meetings attended/
Meetings eligible to attend
EEXgel BEAE
Board General

E=x Directors meetings meetings
BITES Executive Directors
SEME A Mr. Zhong Shanshan 5/5 1/1
SFF L+ (20235816 BEZF)  Ms. Wu Limin (Appointed on May 16, 2023) 3/3 0/0
ARASEE (FA20235E5 16 B EEE)  Mr. Xiang Xiansong (Appointed on May 16, 2023) 3/3 0/0
Bt (7202355 416 BEEE)  Ms. Han Linyou (Appointed on May 16, 2023) 3/3 0/0
BRI A (72023F5 B 16 HET) Mr. Guo Zhen (Retired on May 16, 2023) 2/2 1/1
B (7R2023F5 A 16 B R T) Mr. Zhou Li (Retired on May 16, 2023) 2/2 1/1
FEIEEL £ (H2023F5 816 HET) Ms. Zhou Zhenhua (Retired on May 16, 2023) 2/2 1/1
BRTHE(R2023F5 416 AR ME) Mr. Liao Yuan (Retired on May 16, 2023) 2/2 1/1
FHTES Non-executive Directors
Zhong Shu Zist 4 Mr. Zhong Shu Zi 5/5 11
BB (20285 16 B EER(T) Ms. Xue Lian (Appointed on May 16, 2023) 3/3 0/0
BYEHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
Stanley Yi Chang%t £ Mr. Stanley Yi Chang 5/5 1/1
BREEE Mr. Yang, Lei Bob 5/5 1/1
BIREE Mr. Lu Yuan 5/5 1/1

REZSERHME  ARASMEERE LE
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At Board meetings, the senior management of the Company reported
the information regarding business activities and development of the
Company to all Directors on a timely basis. The executive Directors
also often communicate with the non-executive directors for their
opinions on the Company’s business development and operations. If
any Director has conflict of interests in any proposed resolution to be
considered at the Board, such Director shall abstain from voting on
such resolution.
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TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

The Company is responsible for arranging and funding suitable
training for the Directors. During the Reporting Period, a general
election of the Board was held, and the Company arranged
orientation training for the new Directors, Supervisors and senior
management of the Company to enhance their understanding of
the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code, and to
improve their professional judgement and decision-making ability.
Besides, the Office of the Board has provided all Directors with
relevant training, guideline and materials regarding the roles, duties
and responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws and
regulations applicable to them, duty of disclosure of interests and
business of the Group. They have also made timely updates on the
latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and enhance all
Directors’ awareness of good corporate governance practices.
The Board ensures the Directors, upon reasonable request, to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstance,
at the Company’s expenses. The Directors confirmed that they
have complied with Code Provision C.1.4 under Section Il of the
Corporate Governance Code on directors’ training. During the
Reporting Period, new Directors attended orientation training and
all of the Directors have participated in continuous professional
development by attending training courses, conducting business
research or reading materials on corporate governance and related
topics to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

3 2028 Annual Report



BIBARRFENLH  2023FEFER

T TEIE RN R E#

¥ E B E CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

According to the records kept by the Company, the Directors

received the following training and updates in 2023:

2 mEEIR,
RBER, K
RN WWE

Training and/or
seminars and/or
conferences
and/or forums
participated in

HRIBEES
BER B
TEERRHAM
HERENER
REEE
Reading or
watching data
or information
regarding
Directors’
responsibilities
and/or corporate
governance
and other
related topics

BITES
ERAMEE
R L
[AIRUARSE £
LN G e
SR A (BARAE)
BAHzE(BRE)
AEEZL(BRE)
BREE(BERE)

FHITES
Zhong Shu Zi%t 4
gLt

BAEHTES
Stanley Yi Chang %t 4
o Fayivlas

=R A

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhong Shanshan

Ms. Wu Limin

Mr. Xiang Xiansong

Ms. Han Linyou

Mr. Guo Zhen (Retired)

Mr. Zhou Li (Retired)

Ms. Zhou Zhenhua (Retired)
Mr. Liao Yuan (Retired)

B S S N .

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhong Shu Zi
Ms. Xue Lian

<. <

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Stanley Yi Chang

Mr. Yang, Lei Bob

Mr. Lu Yuan

<< <
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< <

< < <
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

As approved by a Board resolution on May 16, 2023, Mr. Zhong Shu
Zi ceased to be a member of the Audit Committee of the Company.
As of December 31, 2023 and up to the Latest Practicable Date,
the Audit Committee of the Company consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, including Mr. Stanley Yi Chang, Mr. Yang,
Lei Bob and Mr. Lu Yuan with Mr. Stanley Yi Chang currently serving
as the chairman. The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee
are to inspect, review and supervise the Company’s financial
information and reporting procedure for financial information. These
responsibilities include, among others:

o advising the Board on the appointment, renewal or
replacement, dismissal of the external audit agency;

o reviewing and supervising the independence and objectivity of
the external auditor agency and the effectiveness of the audit
procedures in accordance with applicable standards;

° formulating and implementing policies of non-audit services
provided by the external audit agency (if any);

o serving as the main representative between the Company and
the external audit agency to monitor their relationship;

o reviewing and monitoring the completeness of the Company’s
financial statements, annual reports and accounts, interim
reports and quarterly reports (if they are prepared for
publication), and reviewing significant financial reporting
opinions contained in the financial statements and financial
reports;

o reviewing the Company’s financial control system, and risk
management and internal control systems;

° having discussions on the risk management and internal
control systems with the management to ensure that the
management has performed their duty to establish effective
systems;

48 / BXILRBEHERAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD. 44§ 2023 Annual Report



FHNEEESLR  REBERE
BRNANSIEHEENEZAELERER
EREHRATERNEREI TR

FEIR A B EE AT 0PI BL SN AR 2 AT M B 1Y
THEB2H

BENRNIE - SFTBEREER

EHIMEEHBREEERIAE
ZERRARE) - SN EPEA B S
AHRCER - BIF5RR B Sk R BDIE I R AR
EEEBRANTAEARBLELE
fEHEEZ -

BRATBREERENEETI AR
RENER oL B R R - REHES
HEM S EAGEEENNLEETAE
TRHFIELER I TREEEH
ZH o BARHBEEFEEFERAFE
VL - WREVEETE -

RENZESRAREANNBEERA

mi%:a%#& ’

el A B E T REEATRDEIER
RHECEEERRE )N « &

RAEFER THOEMBHE -

F Rz 2023 Annual Report

TEEERIRE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

considering major investigations findings on risk management
and internal control matters on its initiative or as delegated by
the Board and the management’s response to these findings;

ensuring coordination between the internal audit department
and the external audit agency;

reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on financing
and accounting;

reviewing the Explanatory Letter on Audit submitted by the
external audit agency to the management, any material
questions raised by the external audit agency to the
management in relation to accounting records, financial
accounts or internal control system and the management’s
responses on these material questions;

ensuring proper channels have been established by the
Company for the employees to report or raise concerns on
potential improprieties in financial reporting, internal controls or
other matters in a confidential manner, and reviewing relevant
arrangements from time to time to ensure fair and independent
investigations and appropriate follow-up actions have been
taken by the Company to address these matters;

reporting to the Board on relevant matters within the scope of
the Audit Committee’s duties;

reflecting the Company’s extent of compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code and disclosures in the Corporate

Governance Report; and

other duties and powers authorized by the Board of the
Company.
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NTEEZERREHEEFEERBEN Committee. The attendance record of the committee members at
the meeting during the Reporting Period is as follows:
EHESBRRE
EHEESRIH
Meetings
attended/Meetings
= Directors eligible to attend
Stanley Yi Chang%t 4 (/&) Mr. Stanley Yi Chang (chairman) 3/3
HBEkE Mr. Yang, Lei Bob 3/3
BRI A (7220235 16 B E R T) Mr. Lu Yuan (Appointed on May 16, 2023) 11
Zhong Shu ZiZ 4 (7A2023F5 816 HRE) Mr. Zhong Shu Zi (Retired on May 16, 2023) 2/2
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee had reviewed the
Company’s interim report for the six months ended June 30, 2023,
and confirmed that the applicable accounting principles, standards
and requirements have been complied with, and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Audit Committee has reviewed
the annual result announcement of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2023 and believes that the Company has complied
with all applicable accounting standards and regulations and made
sufficient disclosures. The Audit Committee has reviewed the
Group’s risk management and internal control for 2023, finding
that there had been no deficiency in material risk control nor any
weakness in material risk control. The Audit Committee has reviewed
the remuneration of the auditors for 2023 and recommended the
Board to re-appoint Pan-China Certified Public Accountants LLP as
the domestic auditors of the Company for 2024 in the PRC and Ernst
& Young as the overseas auditors of the Company for 2024, subject
to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming 2023 AGM.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As of December 31, 2023 and up to the Latest Practicable Date, the
Nomination Committee of the Company comprised three Directors,
including one executive Director, namely Mr. Zhong Shanshan; two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lu Yuan and Mr.
Stanley Yi Chang, with Mr. Zhong Shanshan currently serving as the
chairman. The primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
of the Company are to formulate the nomination procedures and
standards for candidates for Directors, and to review and make
recommendations on candidates, selection criteria and procedures
to directors and senior management members of the Company.
These responsibilities include, among others:

o reviewing the structure, size and composition (including skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least once a year
and making recommendations on any proposed changes to
the Board in line with the Company’s corporate strategies;

o conducting researches and making recommendations on the
criteria, procedures and methods for selection of directors and
senior management members;

° identifying qualified candidates for directors and senior
management members in an extensive manner;

o evaluating candidates for directors and senior management
members and making suggestions on the evaluation and
recommendations on appointment to the Board;

° assessing the independence of independent non-executive
directors;

° making recommendations to the Board on matters related to
the appointment and reappointment as well as succession
planning of directors and senior management members, in
particular, chairman of the Board and the general manager;

o reporting to the Board on its decisions or recommendations,
unless otherwise restricted by laws or regulations; and

° other duties and powers granted by the Board.

The nomination procedures of the Directors are as follows: the
Nomination Committee shall firstly propose a list of candidates for
Directors, which shall then be submitted by the Committee to the
Board for review; the Board shall then submit the relevant proposal
to the general meeting for approval.
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The examination procedures of the candidates for Directors are: (1)
the Company recommends talents to the Nomination Committee
according to its management requirements; (2) the Nomination
Committee considers and reviews the candidates recommended
by the Company, and may, as required, widely search for the
candidates for directors and senior management within the
Company and its wholly-owned and holding (joint-stock) enterprises
as well as in the talent market; (3) collecting information about the
primary candidates, such as occupation, educational background,
professional titles, detailed work experience and all part-time
experience, and forming written materials; (4) seeking consent
from each candidate before nominating him/her as a candidate
for director or senior management members; (5) convening the
Nomination Committee meeting and conducting qualification review
on the primary candidates based on requirements for directors and
senior management members; (6) providing suggestions and related
materials of the candidates for directors and senior management
members to the Board prior to the election of new directors and
appointment of new senior management members; (7) carrying
out additional follow-up works in accordance with decisions and
feedbacks of the Board.

In order to ensure a diversity on the Board members and improve
the Company’s corporate governance, the Company has adopted
the Board diversity policy, pursuant to which, apart from complying
with relevant requirements under the relevant laws, regulations
and rules (including but not limited to the Company Law, the
Listing Rules and the Articles of Association), the Company should
also consider various diversity factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, culture and education background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and/or length of service, etc. when
designing the Board’s composition. The Nomination Committee
shall make final recommendation on the appointment to the Board
based on the merits of the candidates and contribution they may
bring to the Board. Meanwhile, the Company’s diversity policy also
includes monitoring, reporting and reviewing system to ensure the
effectiveness and successful implementation of the policy. The
Nomination Committee believes that, with the strict implementation
of the Board diversity policy, the composition of the Board has
satisfied the diversity policy in terms of gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and/or length of service. The Nomination Committee will review
the policy on an annual basis to ensure its effectiveness and make
recommendations to the Board on any amendments to the policy
when necessary.
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As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Board consists of three female
and six male Directors. The Board is satisfied with its gender diversity
and will continue to maintain a diverse Board. In the future, gender
will continue to be fully considered in the selection and development
of nominees on the basis of maintaining at least one female Board
member. The Nomination Committee and the Company’s Human
Resources Center will also pay attention to maintaining and
strengthening the concern, selection, and development of high-
potential female talents, and nominate and recommend competent
and qualified candidates to the Board when necessary. As of
December 31, 2023, the gender ratio of all employees (including
senior management) of the Group was approximately 70% (male) to
30% (female). For details on gender diversity of employees, please
refer to section “EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT” of the Group’s “2023
Sustainability Report (ESG Report)”, to be released on the same day
as this Annual Report.

During the Reporting Period, one meeting was held by the
Nomination Committee. The attendance record of the committee
members at the meeting during the Reporting Period was as follows:

BHEEERE
EHEERIH
Meetings attended/
Meetings eligible

=2 Directors to attend
SERMIR S A () Mr. Zhong Shanshan (chairman) 11
=R E Mr. Lu Yuan 11
Stanley Yi Changt 4 Mr. Stanley Yi Chang 1/1

RIRERR - IRREZ B ERBEeH LT
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BER  BEMBMBRAES - BIUIERTT
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FERAHEE -
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During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee has
assessed and reviewed new proposed directors and senior
management members at the relevant meetings, and confirmed that
the Board of the Company has satisfied the indicators of the diversity
policy, the new directors and senior management members are
qualified with the relevant qualifications, professional knowledge and
ability to perform their duties, and the candidates for independent
non-executive directors are independent and do not have any
relationship with the Company that affects their independence.
For relevant disclosures, please refer to the relevant disclosures
under “Report of The Directors — Confirmation of Independence by
Independent Non-Executive Directors”.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As of December 31, 2023 and up to the Latest Practicable Date,
the Remuneration Committee consists of three Directors, including
one executive Director, namely Mr. Zhong Shanshan and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lu Yuan and Mr.
Yang, Lei Bob, with Mr. Lu Yuan currently serving as the chairman.
The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company are to formulate and review the remuneration policies and
schemes for the Directors and senior management of the Company.
These responsibilities include, among others:

o advising the Board on the overall remuneration policy and
framework for directors and senior management members,
and the establishment of a standardized and transparent
remuneration policy formulation procedures;

o formulating and advising the Board on the remuneration
packages for directors and senior management members of
the Company;

° reviewing and approving the compensation payable for
the loss or termination of the office or appointment of the
executive directors and senior management members, and
the compensation arrangements with regard to the dismissal
or removal of directors due to their misconduct, to ensure the
compensation shall be fair, reasonable and not excessive;

° examining assessment criteria, performance evaluation
procedures, remuneration and rewards and punishment
policies for directors and senior management members and
submitting these policies and procedures for the Board’s
approval;

° making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior
management members, including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments (such as any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment);

° making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive directors;

° examining the performance of duties by directors and
senior management members and conducting performance
appraisals and evaluations;
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o ensuring that no director or any of his/her associates (as
required by the Hong Kong Listing Rules) is involved in
deciding his/her remuneration;

o studying and advising on the Company’s equity incentive plan
at the request of the chairman;

o reporting to the Board on its decisions or recommendations,
unless otherwise restricted by laws or regulations; and

° other matters authorized by the Board.

During the Reporting Period, one meeting was held by the
Remuneration Committee. The attendance record of the committee
members at the meeting during the Reporting Period was as follows:

BHEERAE
FELHEERRH
Meetings attended/
Meetings eligible

=% Directors to attend
EREE(ERE) Mr. Lu Yuan (chairman) 1/1
BRI ST A Mr. Zhong Shanshan 11
(o Etas Mr. Yang, Lei Bob 1/

E’\#&iﬁﬁfﬁ %M@,\MEE*HWQEiiﬁ
BRAEEENSAETIEA BT EF
@Jﬂﬁ AMEM ARSI -
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During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee has
considered and approved the remuneration packages, remuneration
policies of directors and senior management members and other
related matters at relevant meetings.
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FHITES TR TERM OF OFFICE OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
HE B Hm B & 5w B H#

Name Position Starting date Expiry date

Zhong Shu Zie & FERITES 201756 A21H 2026558 15H

Mr. Zhong Shu Zi Non-executive Director June 21, 2017 May 15, 2026

EeEa L FEMITES 2023%F5A16H 202655 A15R (1)

Ms. Xue Lian Non-executive Director May 16, 2023 May 15, 2026 (Note)

FE PR202443A c BEELTIREBEARARIIES  Note: Ms. Xue Lian has tendered her resignation as a non-executive Director in

TEERG - B BT BAARAR2023FE March 2024. Her resignation will take effect from the date of the 2023 AGM
AR A& (HR2024F5 521 B B 5 ) EEAE (proposed to be convened on May 21, 2024) when the new Director to be
HFTEEET 2 BB » elected officially assume his/her duties.

ZEET 2 REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

NRABBRNBTEBERESHAIESAT(E  The Company’s domestic audit agency, Pan-China Certified Public
HREBAE) MIBINETHELKEETEE  Accountants LLP and overseas audit agency, Emst & Young have
TSR AR E BB IMNIBIXEIAD - REB S served as the independent external auditors of the Group. The
MEMTRESTMESHT(EHREMEE)  remuneration paid and payable by the Group to Pan-China Certified
Nk &TATESA BHREEEAIEMEAR  Public Accountants LLP and Ernst & Young in respect of the services

BHEMSHT provided during the Reporting Period is as follows:
FriR itz BR#E ENRENER
Fees paid
Services provided and payable
(AR®EET)
(RMB million)
2023F EATE R BRK 6.241
Statutory audit service provided for 2023
FEZBIRTE 0.3
Non-audit service
M : IR EEBEESGRE L HAREE - Note: Non-audit services mainly include the consultancy services for ESG

reporting.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for supervising the preparation of
annual accounts in order to give a true and fair view of the financial
position, operating results and cash flow of the Company during the
year. For the purpose of the preparation of the financial statements
for the Reporting Period, the Directors have selected appropriate
accounting policies, adopted applicable accounting principles, made
judgments and assessments that are prudent and reasonable and
ensured the accounts were prepared on a going concern basis. The
Directors have confirmed that the Group’s financial statements were
prepared in accordance with the requirements of laws and applicable
accounting principles.

The Directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control
system of the Group. The review covered all the material aspects
of its internal controls, including the supervision of the financial and
operational and compliance affairs, as well as risk management.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast doubt upon the ability of the
Company to operate as a going concern. The statement of auditors
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is
set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this
Report.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company shall convene an extraordinary general meeting at the
request of shareholders who individually or collectively hold more
than 10% of the Company’s shares. However, prior to the date of
announcement of the resolutions approved at the general meeting,
the number of the Company’s shares individually or jointly held by the
above shareholders shall not be lower than 10% of the total number
of the Company’s shares with voting rights; should the shareholding
is less than 10%, resolutions passed at the extraordinary general
meeting would become invalid.

When the Company convenes a shareholders’ general meeting, the
shareholders who individually or jointly, hold more than 3% of the
total number of voting shares of the Company, have the right to put
forward a new proposal in written form to the Company and submit
it to the convener not less than 10 days before the shareholders’
general meeting is held. The convener of the shareholders’ general
meeting shall, within 2 days after receiving the proposal, issue a
supplementary notice of the shareholders’ general meeting to inform
other shareholders and include the matters which are within the
scope of responsibilities of the shareholders’ general meeting in the
agenda of the meeting and submitted to the shareholders’ general
meeting for deliberation.

The shareholders may put enquiries to the investor relations
working team of the Company or the Office of the Board via email
(ir@mail.nfsg.com.cn) or telephone (86-571-26699096) as stated in
this annual report.
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AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

During the Reporting Period, due to the change of the Board
composition, the Board proposed to amend the existing Articles of
Association of the Company as at March 3, 2023. The 2022 AGM
has considered and approved the amendment to the Articles of
Association on May 16, 2023. As at June 2, 2023, the Company
has completed its registration and filling procedures regarding to
the amendment of the Articles of Association in Zhejiang Provincial
Administration for Market Regulation.

Particulars of the amendment to the Articles of Association are as
follows:

Article 93, which originally reads as:

“The Company shall establish a Board, which shall be accountable
and report its work to the shareholders’ general meeting. The Board
shall consist of nine directors, in which there shall be five executive
directors, one non-executive directors, and three independent
non-executive directors. The Board shall have one chairman. The
chairman shall be appointed and could be removed by a majority of
all members of the Board. The chairman shall serve a term of three
years subject to re-election.”

is changed to after amendment:

“The Company shall establish a Board, which shall be accountable
and report its work to the shareholders’ general meeting. The Board
shall consist of nine directors. At all times, more than one-third of the
members of the Board shall be independent non-executive directors,
and the total number of independent non-executive directors shall
be not less than three, at least one of whom shall have appropriate
professional qualifications in line with regulatory requirements, or
appropriate accounting or related financial management expertise.
The Board shall have one chairman. The chairman shall be appointed
and could be removed by a majority of all members of the Board.
The chairman shall serve a term of three years subject to re-election.”
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The Articles of Association are written in Chinese without an official
English version. Therefore, any English translation is for reference
only. In case of inconsistency, the Chinese version shall prevail.

In February 20283, the State Council of the PRC and the China
Securities Regulatory Commission (the “CSRC”) published the
“Decision of the State Council to Repeal Certain Administrative
Regulations and Documents” (¢ B 755 B8 70 % L= B0 2 TTIBUEAR AN XA
H)RE D) and “Trial Administrative Measures of Overseas Securities
Offering and Listing by Domestic Companies” ({ 3% A 1b % 35 4 %
THEEM EWEESITIE)) (colectively, the “New Domestic
Regulations”), respectively, which came into effect on March 31,
2023 (the “PRC Regulation Changes”). On the same day when
the New Domestic Regulations became effective, the “Special
Regulations of the State Council on the Overseas Offering and
Listing of Shares by Joint Stock Limited Companies” (€ B 7z B8 7
I BR A BIRINEERR D & EH eV ERIFRE ) and the “Mandatory
Provisions for the Articles of Association of Companies Listed
Overseas” & 3% s £ 1 2 7] & 12 & & & 5% ) (the “Mandatory
Provisions”) were repealed, and PRC issuers shall formulate their
articles of association with reference to the Guidelines for the
Articles of Association of Listed Companies ({ - A @ Zf2$E3|))
issued by the CSRC. Subsequently, the Stock Exchange has made
corresponding amendments to the Listing Rules in response to the
promulgation of the New Domestic Regulations, among other things,
the articles of association of PRC issuers are no longer required to
include the Mandatory Provisions and other ancillary requirements,
with effect from August 1, 2023.

In light of the above, and according to the actual situation of the
Company, the Board passed relevant resolutions on April 11, 2024,
proposing to amend the Articles of Association (the “Proposed
Amendment”) in order to (i) reflect the amendments as required
by the relevant laws and regulations as aforesaid and to continue
to comply with all the applicable regulatory requirements, and (ii)
improve the governance practices of the Company.

For details of the aforesaid Proposed Amendment, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated April 12, 2024. The aforesaid
Proposed Amendment is subject to the approval of shareholders at
the 2023 AGM.
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EFFECTIVE COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company has adopted the Shareholder Communication Policy
to guarantee the continuous communication with shareholders
and also to review the policy on a regular basis to ensure its
effectiveness. Particulars of the policy are available at the website of
the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholder Communication
Policy during the Reporting Period, and considers that the
Shareholder Communication Policy has been duly implemented and
effective during the Reporting Period.

The Company publishes updated information on its business
operations and development, financial data, corporate governance
practices and other information on its website for public access.
Meanwhile, the Office of the Board of the Company is responsible
for receiving enquiries from shareholders and investors, handling
relevant information requests and ensuring timely and effective
communication with shareholders and investors.

The investor relations of the Group in 2023 were effectively
carried out under the leadership and support of the Board and
the management. After issuing the interim results announcement
and annual results announcement every year, the Group will hold
a performance presentation meeting to fully communicate with
investors and analysts. In addition, we also maintain continuous and
effective commmunication with shareholders and investors by holding
on-site research, exchange meetings, attending investor forums and
investment summits, etc.
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PERFORMANCE OF NON-COMPETITION
UNDERTAKING

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
compliance by Mr. Zhong Shanshan and Yangshengtang of the
Non-competition Undertaking and confirmed that Mr. Zhong
Shanshan and Yangshengtang have complied with the terms of such
undertaking during the year ended December 31, 2023. Mr. Zhong
Shanshan and Yangshengtang also confirmed to the Company
that they have complied with the terms of the Non-Competition
Undertaking.

The independent non-executive Directors were not aware of any
breach of the terms of the Non-Competition Undertaking by Mr.
Zhong Shanshan and Yangshengtang and therefore, no remedy
action was taken by the Company during the year ended December
31, 2023.

In accordance with the Non-Competition Undertaking entered
into between the Company and Mr. Zhong Shanshan and
Yangshengtang, if any of Mr. Zhong Shanshan and Yangshengtang
or their subsidiaries (excluding their listed subsidiaries and the
Group) are recommended or provided with Business Opportunities
which directly or indirectly compete with the Restricted Business in
the PRC during the term of the Non-competition Undertaking, the
New Business Opportunities should be recommended or introduced
to the Group. For details, please refer to the “Non-Competition
Undertaking” and “New Business Opportunities” mentioned in the
section headed “Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders” in
the Prospectus.

During the Reporting Period, the Directors of the Company (including
the independent non-executive Directors) did not make any decisions
in relation to the exercise or termination of the option or the right of
first refusal or take up or waive any Business Opportunities.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has established a risk management and internal control
system in accordance with the requirements of paragraph D.2 under
Section Il of the Corporate Governance Code, which is responsible
for independently reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control system of the Company,
and continuously monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of its
operation once a year. The system aims to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, promote
effective and efficient operations, reasonably ensure the reliability of
financial reports and comply with applicable laws and regulations
and protect the assets of the Group. The Board can only give
reasonable but not absolute assurance that there will be no material
misrepresentation or loss.

Characteristics of the Risk Management and Internal Control
Organization System

In accordance with the requirements of code provision D.2.2
under Section Il of the Corporate Governance Code, the Group
has established a sound risk management and internal control
organization system which includes the Board, the Audit Committee,
the Supervisory Committee, the management of the Group, the
Office of the Board, the audit and inspection center, the legal
department and other departments to ensure that the Group has
sufficient resources, qualified and experienced staffs, training
courses and related budget for risk management and internal audit.
The various departments of the Group are the first line of defense
for risk management and internal control; the Office of the Board
and the management of the Group are the second line of defense;
while the audit and inspection center, the legal department, the
Audit Committee and the Supervisory Committee are the third
line of defense. The Board bears the ultimate responsibility for the
establishment and improvement of the Group’s risk management
and internal control system as well as the effective implementation
of the risk management work, and serves as the highest decision
maker for the Group’s risk management and internal control.
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Implementation of Risk Management and Internal Control

The Group reviews the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems every year and assesses all important
monitoring aspects including supervision on financial, operation and
compliance affairs, etc. based on the elements of internal control
such as the internal environment, risk assessment, control activities,
information and communication as well as internal supervision, and
optimizes and updates the risk control mechanism.

After risk assessment, the Company’s major risks in 2023 mainly
involve business risks, financial risks, compliance risks, inside
information and internal control risks. According to our actual
situation, we have formulated practical and feasible response plans
to effectively manage risks:

o Business risks: The business risks the Group mainly faces
include macro-environmental risks, competition risks, supply
chain risks, reputation risks and sustainability risks. The Board
regularly reviews and identifies potential risks of the Group, and
adjusts strategies and policies in a timely manner, to ensure
that the business risks are controlled and managed.

° Financial risks: The Group has adopted financial risk
management policies to control the Group’s financial risk
exposure, such as taxation risks, currency risks and financial
reporting risks. Also, the Board monitors the financial results
and key operating statistics with the assistance of the Group’s
internal finance department on a regular basis.

° Compliance risks: The Group has adopted internal
procedures to monitor the Group’s compliance risks to ensure
that the Group has complied with the laws and regulations of
the regions where the Group conducts business. In addition,
the Group engages professional advisers from time to time to
keep the Group updated with the latest development in the
regulatory environments. It also arranges compliance trainings
on connected transactions, internal control management and
anti-corruption for employees, and promotes the “Code for
Mutual Supervision of Anti-Commercial Bribery and Fraud”
among distributors, to further standardize risk management
efforts.

o Inside information and internal control risks: The Group
attaches utmost importance to the proper handling and
dissemination of inside information. Internal policies are put in
place to ensure that inside information is properly controlled.
The Group has implemented information management system
control to prevent the leakage of sensitive information.
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Formation of a Long-term Mechanism for Risk Management
and Internal Control

We continue to improve risk management policies and procedures,
specify the risk management structure and responsibilities. We
identify major risks that hinder the achievement of objectives and
control them within acceptable levels to ensure the achievement of
business objectives, the improvement of operational efficiency, the
reliability of financial reports and compliance with national regulations
and other compliance requirements.

We evaluate and check the effectiveness of our risk management
and internal control systems through channels such as the
management, business units in the risk management system, audit
and inspection teams of the Group, external auditors, and external
legal advisor to improve risk response measures. Meanwhile, in order
to ensure the effective operation of the risk management system, the
Audit Committee reviews and supervises the risk management work.

The audit and inspection team of the Group focuses on business
risks, financial risks and compliance risks. Through agile audits, it
achieves more comprehensive and accurate risk control, identifies
potential risks more quickly, and promotes the improvement in
management and system processes to support the achievement of
the mid — to long-term vision and strategic goals of the Company.

The Group’s management procedures for financial reporting
and information disclosure, etc. are in strict compliance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules. Office of the Board conducts
information reporting, reviewing and disclosure in strict accordance
with the Information Disclosure Management formulated by the
Company. Prior to disclosing relevant information to the public, the
Group will ensure that such information is kept confidential properly
and will perform the obligation to inform and supervise the insiders of
inside information as required.

The Board reviewed the risk management and internal control
during the Reporting Period and concluded that there had been no
deficiency in material risk control nor any weakness in material risk
control based on the outcome of the risk management and internal
control work implemented by the Group as of the Latest Practicable
Date. The Board was of the view that the risk management and
internal control system of the Group is effective and sufficient.
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BRIFRKHERAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Group has established the whistleblowing policy and system,
publicly released the special phone number and E-mail address for
whistleblowing, and emphasized the protection for whistleblowers.
The personal information of whistleblowers and the information
provided by them shall be kept strictly confidential. Any act of
malicious retaliation against whistleblowers will be held accountable
to relevant personnel. The Audit and Inspection Center of the
Group will independently conduct the third-party investigation on
the reported clues to ensure the objectivity and impartiality of the
process and results. The Audit and Inspection Center will report its
work results to the Audit Committee on a regular basis.

During the Reporting Period, the Group revised and optimized
the whistleblowing policy, and refined its whistleblowing channels
and management responsibilities, with the aim of encouraging the
Group’s employees, stakeholders and external parties to be able to
raise concerns about any possible improprieties regarding the Group
to the Company through a number of free and open whistleblowing
channels. Particulars of the policy is available for inspection on the
website of the Company.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Group has always attached great importance to the construction
and implementation of its anti-corruption systems. We have
adopted the “Code of Business Conduct for Employees of Nongfu
Spring”, the “Management Measures for Employee Rewards and
Punishments” and other rules to clearly stipulate the illegal behaviors
of employees such as fraud, corruption, etc. and the punishment
standards, and we will terminate the labour contracts of employees
with fraudulent behaviors and include them into the blacklist of the
anti-fraud alliance. Through the “Code of Conduct of Suppliers”, the
“Code of Mutual Supervision on Anti-Commercial Bribery and Fraud”,
the “Letter of Commitment to Integrity of Business Partners”, the
“Distribution Contract”, the “Procurement Contract”, etc., we define
the bribery, fraud and other illegal behaviors of our partners and
the liabilities for breach of contract, and include the customers and
suppliers who violate the agreement into the cooperation blacklist.

During the Reporting Period, the Group revised and optimized the
anti-corruption policy, and refined the scope of application of the
policy and the statement of duties, with the aim of ensuring that
anti-corruption management is carried out in an orderly manner.
Particulars of the policy is available for inspection on the website of
the Company.
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(JOINT) COMPANY SECRETARY(IES)

Ms. Han Linyou (E8#K{&, former name: Han Yang (§845)), age 43,
has been the Secretary to the Board of the Company since February
2020 and an executive Director of the Company since May 2023;
and concurrently a Joint Company Secretary from January 2020
to February 2024 and became the sole Company Secretary of the
Company in February 2024. She is responsible for the Company’s
corporate governance, information disclosure, investor relations
and the management of Office of Public Policy & Sustainable
Development. For the biographical details of Ms. Han Linyou, please
refer to the section headed “BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT” below.

Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie (222 X) served as a Joint Company
Secretary of the Company from September 8, 2020 and resigned
as the Joint Company Secretary of the Company with effect from 13
February 2024. During the term of office of Ms. Mak, Ms. Han Linyou
was the main contact person between the Company and Ms. Mak.
For the biographical details of Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie, please refer
to the biography of “Joint Company Secretaries” below.

Ms. Han Linyou and Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie have taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training in 2023 financial year,
which is in compliance with the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The
Company will ensure that Ms. Han Linyou continue to have access
to the relevant training and support in relation to the Listing Rules
and the duties required for a company secretary of an issuer listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhong Shanshan

Mr. Zhong Shanshan (§£8H%), age 69, is the founder, Chairman
of the Board, an executive Director and the General Manager
of the Company. He founded Zhejiang Thousand-Island Lake
Yangshengtang Drinking Water Company Limited (37T T &#&4
EERAKAR AT, the predecessor of the Company, in September
1996. Mr. Zhong was appointed as the Chairman of the Board and
an executive Director in June 2001 and the General Manager of the
Company in May 2005, as well as the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee under
the Board of the Company in March 2020. Mr. Zhong Shanshan
has also been serving as the director of all subsidiaries of the
Company since their establishment. Mr. Zhong is responsible for the
Group’s overall development strategies, business plans and major
operational decisions and direct management of our brands and
human resources. Prior to the establishment of the Company, Mr.
Zhong Shanshan founded Yangshengtang in March 1993 and has
served successively as Director, General Manager and Chairman
of the Board of Directors of Yangshengtang since March 1993. Mr.
Zhong Shanshan had been Chairman of Beijing Wantai Biological
Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 603392) from November 2001 to January
2021.

Mr. Zhong Shanshan is the father of Mr. Zhong Shu Zi, the non-
executive Director of the Company.

Ms. Wu Limin

Ms. Wu Limin (2%18), age 51, was appointed as an executive
Director and Chief Financial Officer of the Company in May 2023,
and joined the Group in January 2022 as the General Manager of
the Financial Center of the Company, and is responsible for financial
management of the Company. Prior to joining the Group, Ms.
Wu Limin served as the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
of Yonghui Superstores Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 601933) from April 2019 to December
2021. Ms. Wu Limin joined Unilever China Ltd. in 1996 and served
successively as the Finance Director of Malaysia and Singapore, and
the Vice President of Finance of Vietnam of Southeast Asia Cluster
and the Vice President of Finance of the North Asia Cluster of the
aforesaid company from 2010 to 2019.

Ms. Wu Limin obtained a bachelor’s degree in biochemistry from
Fudan University in July 1996, an MBA degree from China Europe
International Business School in September 2007, and was admitted
as a Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in
November 2004.
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Mr. Xiang Xiansong

Mr. Xiang Xiansong (E12), age 42, was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company in May 2023. He has served as the
General Manager of the Sales & Marketing Center of the Company
since August 2022, and is responsible for sales and marketing
management of the Company. Mr. Xiang Xiansong joined the Group
in June 2009. He successively served as the Sales Representative,
Sales Supervisor, Operation Supervisor and Regional General
Manager of the Company and was responsible for the establishment
and expansion of catering channel of the Company.

Ms. Han Linyou

Ms. Han Linyou (88#k{#, former name: Han Yang (§845)), age 43,
was appointed as an executive Director of the Company in May
2023 and has been the Secretary to the Board of the Company
since February 2020. She concurrently served as a Joint Company
Secretary from January 2020 to February 2024 and became the sole
Company Secretary of the Company in February 2024, responsible
for corporate governance, information disclosure, investor relations
and the management of Office of Public Policy & Sustainable
Development of the Group. Ms. Han Linyou joined the Group in
November 2019 as the Deputy General Manager of Nongfu Spring
Drinking Water Hong Kong Company Limited (£ |1 R &K EE
AR F]). Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Han Linyou served as an
Assistant to the Chief Executive Officer, a Legal Director and a Senior
Vice President of Tibet Water Resources Ltd. (a company listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, stock code: 01115) from April 2013
to November 2019, and an Executive Director from May 2017 to
November 2019. She has been Chairman of the Risk Management
Committee of the Board of the aforesaid company since August
2017. Ms. Han Linyou worked at Jingtian & Gongcheng from August
2002 to March 2013 and became a Partner of such firm in 2009,
and concurrently served as the PRC Legal Adviser of Chiu & Partners
in Hong Kong from May 2008 to May 2009.

Ms. Han Linyou obtained a bachelor’s degree in law from Peking
University in July 2002 and a PRC Legal Professional Qualification
Certificate in February 2008.
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Mr. Zhong Shu Zi

Mr. Zhong Shu Zi, age 36, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company in June 2017, responsible for providing
advice on our business plans, major decisions and investment
activities, and served as a member of the Audit Committee under the
Board from March 2020 to May 2023. Mr. Zhong Shu Zi joined the
Group in January 2014 and has been the General Manager of the
Brand Center of Yangshengtang, the shareholder of the Company,
since January 2020. He has also served as Hangzhou Regional
General Manager of the Sales & Marketing Center of the Company
since September 2023, responsible for the sales and marketing
management of the Hangzhou Region.

Mr. Zhong Shu Zi obtained a bachelor of arts degree in English
from University of California, Irvine in the United States in December
2011, and received his master degree in international business from
Zhejiang University in March 2021.

Ms. Xue Lian

Ms. Xue Lian (E£3%), age 50, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company in May 2023, responsible for providing
opinions on the research and development and quality control
of the products of the Company. Ms. Xue Lian joined Zhejiang
Yangshengtang Natural Medicine Research Company Limited (#/L
BB RREYIHERAERAT) in July 1999, and was the Chief
Engineer of the Research Institute of the aforesaid company. From
September 2019 to March 2024, She had served as the Director of
the Research Institute of the aforesaid company.

Ms. Xue Lian obtained a bachelor’s degree in biochemistry from
Zhejiang University in June 1994, and a doctor’s degree in chemical
engineering from Zhejiang University in December 1999, and
completed the postdoctoral research at the Chinese Academy of
Sciences in December 2003, and obtained the senior engineer
qualification in pharmacy in November 2004.
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Mr. Stanley Yi Chang

Mr. Stanley Yi Chang, age 65, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee and
a member of the Nomination Committee under the Board of the
Company in March 2020 and is responsible for overseeing and
providing independent judgment to the Board, and offering strategic
advice and guidance to our financial management, internal control
and external investment. Mr. Chang is currently a standing council
member of China Institute of Internal Audit, and served as a member
of Auditing Expert Panel of Asian Development Bank, and has been
serving as an independent director of Cowealth Medical China Co.,
Ltd. (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code:
603122) since April 2019. He was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and the Chairman of the Audit Committee of
Sipai Health Technology Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange, stock code: 0314) in December 2022 and
served as an independent non-executive Director and the Chairman
of the Audit Committee of YS Biopharma Co., Ltd. (a company listed
on the NASDAQ, stock code: YS) from January 2021 to December
2023. Mr. Chang has been a Professor at Shanghai Advance Institute
of Finance of Shanghai Jiaotong University since July 2018. He was
a Professor at National Taiwan University from August 2016 to June
2018. Prior to that, Mr. Chang successively served as Partner of
Business Risk Services and Asia Pacific Life Sciences Leader for
Ernst & Young, Managing Partner of China Advisory Services and
Global Business Risk Services Leader for Grant Thornton, and the
Chief Operating Officer of MarcumBP where he also led its China
Advisory Services from September 2007 to October 2016.

Mr. Chang received his bachelor’s degree in Business Administration
from National Taiwan University in June 1980; his master’s degree
in Accounting from University of Missouri-Columbia in the United
States in August 1983; and his PhD in Accounting from Texas
Tech University in the United States in August 1987. Mr. Chang is a
Certified Public Accountant of Texas, United States.
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Mr. Yang, Lei Bob

Mr. Yang, Lei Bob (#5#&), age 56, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company in September 2019 and a
member of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee under the Board of the Company in March 2020, and is
responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement to
the Board and offering strategic advice and guidance to the Group’s
financial management, internal control and external investment.
Mr. Yang, Lei Bob was an independent director, chairman of the
nomination committee and member of the audit committee of
Shanghai Kehua Bio-Engineering Co., Ltd. (_E/&RIEEA4 %) TI2R1%D
BBRAF], a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock
code: 002022) from May 2017 to June 2020; was a visiting professor
of finance at China Europe International Business School from
January 2012 to December 2012 and from April 2016 to December
2019, and was an adjunct professor of finance at China Europe
International Business School from April 2013 to March 2016. Mr.
Yang, Lei Bob has extensive experience in corporate finance and
financial management. He worked for The Hongkong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Limited from July 2004 to March 2010 with his
last positions as the Global Banking and Markets managing director
and head of the China Investment Banking Division, and worked for
Goldman Sachs Asia Limited from August 1999 to June 2004 with
his last position as an executive director of the Investment Bank
Division.

Mr. Yang, Lei Bob obtained an MBA (with a finance concentration)
degree from McGill University in Montreal, Canada in June 1993.
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Mr. Lu Yuan

Mr. Lu Yuan (B JJ8), age 68, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company in September 2019 and the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee under the Board of the
Company and a member of the Nomination Committee in March
2020, and was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee
under the Board of the Company in May 2023, responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgement to the Board and
offering strategic advice and guidance in relation to the business
and operations management of the Group. Mr. Lu Yuan has been
an adjunct professor at the Department of Management and an
honorary teaching and research fellow at the Asia-Pacific Institute of
Business of The Chinese University of Hong Kong since December
2013, and served as an adjunct professor of South China University
of Technology in May 2023. Mr. Lu Yuan was a chair professor at
the School of Business Administration of South China University
of Technology from February 2019 to January 2022, and was
an adjunct professor at the School of Management of Zhejiang
University of Technology from August 2018 to July 2021, and acted
as an independent director of Sirio Pharma Co., Ltd. ({244 R
A% A PR A 7], a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
stock code: 300791) from April 2015 to July 2021. Prior to that,
Mr. Lu Yuan was the Dean of the Business School of Shantou
University from October 2013 to August 2017, and the distinguished
professor there from September 2017 to August 2018, an adjunct
professor, an associate professor and a professor at the Department
of Management of the Chinese University of Hong Kong from August
1996 to September 2013, the Rothmans researcher at Cambridge
Judge Business School (the predecessor of the Judge Institute of
Management Studies) from January 1993 to August 1996 and an
assistant research fellow at Lancaster University Management School
in the UK from 1991 to 1992.

Mr. Lu Yuan received his bachelor’s degree in Engineering from
Beijing University of Technology in January 1982; his MBA from the
China Europe Management Programme (the predecessor of China
Europe International Business School) in December 1986; and his
PhD in Management from Aston University in Birmingham, the UK in
July 1991.
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SUPERVISORS

Ms. Liu Min

Ms. Liu Min (2/%87), age 47, was appointed as a shareholder
representative Supervisor and the Chairman of the Supervisory
Committee of the Company in May 2023, responsible for supervising
operations, legal affairs and human resources management
of the Company. Ms. Liu Min served as the vice president of
Yangshengtang from June 2021 to September 2023 and worked
at Midea Group Co., Ltd (listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
stock code: 000333) from August 1998 to June 2021 and
successively served as the general manager of overseas sales of the
business division, the operation director of the group, the human
resources director of the group, the vice president of the group,
etc. Among them, she served as the chairman of the supervisory
committee of Midea Group from February 2016 to September 2020,
and the supervisory board member of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft
(formerly listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, Germany, former
stock code: FWB:KU2(DB)) from January 2017 to December 2022.

Ms. Liu Min obtained a bachelor’s degree in French from Beijing
International Studies University in July 1998 and successively
obtained an Executive MBA from Cheung Kong Graduate Business
School, an MBA degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong
and a master’s degree in management from Institut Européen
D’administration des Affaires (INSEAD).

Mr. Rao Minghong

Mr. Rao Minghong (#:FH4T), aged 49, was elected as an employee
representative Supervisor of the Company in December 2019 and as
the President of the Labour Union of the Company in April 2020. Mr.
Rao has been the General Manager of the Production and Operation
Center of the Company since August 2022, responsible for the
production and operation management of the Company. Mr. Rao
Minghong concurrently serves as manager and legal representative
of several subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Rao Minghong joined
the Group in June 1999 and successively served as the Mechanical
Engineer, Chief of the Manufacturing Section, Manager of the Plant
and General Manager of the Manufacturing Base, etc.
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Mr. Liu Xiyue

Mr. Liu Xiyue (2]=1%), age 50, has been a shareholder
representative Supervisor of the Company since December 2019
and is responsible for overseeing the Company’s operations and
financial activities, etc. Mr. Liu Xiyue has been the Chief Information
Officer of the Group since November 2017. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Liu Xiyue worked at the software center of the Ministry of
Posts and Telecommunications of the People’s Republic of China (the
predecessor of the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology
of the People’s Republic of China), UTStarcom Telecom Co., Ltd. (UT
HTERB@A AR A R]), Accenture (China) Co., Ltd. (&% (HE)
A2 7)) and Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd. EEAFERMARE A
A]) successively from August 1996 to November 2017.

Mr. Liu Xiyue obtained a bachelor’s degree in computer communication
from Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications in July 1996
and obtained an MBA degree from the School of Economics and
Management of Tsinghua University in June 2001 and completed the
International MBA Program of MIT Sloan School of Management in
the same year.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

For the biographical details of Mr. Zhong Shanshan, Ms. Wu Limin,
Mr. Xiang Xiansong and Ms. Han Linyou, see the biographies in the
“Directors” above.

(JOINT) COMPANY SECRETARY(IES)

For the biographical details of Ms. Han Linyou, see the biographies
in the “Directors” above.

Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie (22 X) served as a Joint Company
Secretary of the Company from September 8, 2020 and resigned
as the Joint Company Secretary of the Company with effect from
13 February 2024.Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie is the vice president
of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited. She
has worked for various professional firms and listed companies
in Hong Kong, with over 18 years of experience in the fields of
auditing, accounting, corporate finance, compliance and company
secretarial. Ms. Mak has been the vice president of SWCS Corporate
Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited since October 2019 and
was the assistant vice president from August 2018 to September
2019. Ms. Mak also served as a company secretary of Cosmos
Machinery Enterprises Limited (a company listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange, stock code: 0118) from June 2014 to March
2018. Ms. Mak obtained a master degree of corporate governance
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2017. She has been
admitted as an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators in the United Kingdom in 2017, a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 2003, and a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
in 2006.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as of December 31, 2023,
there was no other information required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2023.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Group is a leader in the packaged drinking water and beverage
business in the PRC with devotion to providing consumers with high-
quality products. The Group’s major products include packaged
drinking water, tea beverage, functional beverage and juice beverage.
Since its establishment in 1996, the Group has adhered to the
principle that “every drop of Nongfu Spring has its source” (B — & 2
kL REBAE T #9REE). The Group sources all of packaged drinking
water products from natural water sources. We have obtained
access to twelve quality natural water sources in different regions
of China which cover the entire national market supply. The twelve
water sources are all located in excellent ecological environments
and have outstanding water quality.

The Group has established dual growth engines, packaged drinking
water and beverage, which enhance our competitive advantage
and reduce the risks of fluctuating operating results. The Group
implements a multi-brand strategy, has long-term visions for our
brands and strong brand communication capabilities, and has built a
super brand in the PRC soft beverage market.

Please refer to the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance
Report” in this annual report for a review and the analysis using
financial key indicators on the Group business, major risks and
uncertainties faced by the Group, and the future development of the
Group’s business.

RELATIONS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The success of the Group relies on the support of important relations
such as employees, suppliers and customers. The Company
maintains a good relationship with its employees, customers and
suppliers in order to ensure smooth business operation.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The analysis of the Group’s performance by business segment for
the year is set out in note 4 to the financial statements.

RESULTS

The operating results of the Group during the Reporting Period are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 111 of
this annual report.

ISSUED SHARES

Details of the changes in the share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

Relevant resolution has been passed at a meeting of the Board held
on March 26, 2024, and the Board proposed the distribution of a
final dividend (the “Final Dividend”) of RMBO0.75 (tax inclusive) per
share for the year ended December 31, 2023, with a total amount
of approximately RMB8,435 million. If such profit distribution plan is
reviewed and approved by shareholders at the 2023 AGM to be held
on Tuesday, May 21, 2024, the Final Dividend will be distributed on
August 28, 2024 to the shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Saturday, May 25, 2024.

The Company will not be liable for any claim or dispute over the
withholding mechanism arising from any delay in, or inaccurate
determination of the status of the shareholders.

The Board is not aware of any shareholders who have waived or
agreed to waive any dividend.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company currently does not have a pre-determined dividend
payout ratio. The Board may declare and pay dividends after taking
into account results of operations, financial condition, cash flow,
operating and capital expenditure requirements, future business
development strategies and estimates of the Group and other factors
as it may deem relevant. Historical declarations of dividends of the
Company may not reflect our future declarations of dividends.

The allocations to the statutory common reserve are currently
determined to be 10% of the Company’s after-tax profit attributable
to equity holders of the Company for the fiscal year determined in
accordance with PRC accounting rules and regulations. When the
accumulated allocations to the statutory common reserve reach 50%
of the registered capital of the Company, it will no longer be required
to make allowances for allocation to the statutory common reserve.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are carried out primarily in the PRC, while
the Shares of the Company are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. The businesses operated by the Group are subject to the
laws of the PRC, Hong Kong and other relevant jurisdictions. During
the year ended December 31, 2023 and as of the Latest Practicable
Date, the Group has complied with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group in the applicable jurisdictions.
Specifically, as a manufacturer of packaged water and beverages,
the Group’s operations in China are subject to the applicable food
safety and environmental protection laws and regulations in the PRC.
During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any material
non-compliance with such laws and regulations.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended December 31, 2023, none of the Company
and its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
listed securities of the Company.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

For details, please refer to the section headed “Use of Proceeds
from the Listing” under “Management Discussion and Analysis” in
this annual report.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the names, principal places of business, places of
incorporation and issued share capital of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the Reporting
Period are set out in the consolidated statement of changes inequity
on pages 115 to 116 of this annual report and note 30 to the
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the PRC Company Law, the Company may only
distribute dividends out of its distributable profits of the year (i.e., the
Company’s profit after tax after offsetting: (i) the accumulated losses
brought forward from the previous years; and (ii) the allocations to
the statutory surplus reserve and, if any, the discretionary common
reserve (in such order of priorities)).

According to the Articles of Association, for the purpose of
determining distributable profit, the distributable profit of the Company
shall be the lower of its profit after tax determined in accordance
with: (i) the PRC accounting standards and regulations; and (ii) the
international standards or the accounting standards of the place(s)
outside the PRC where the shares of the Company are listed.

As at December 31, 2023, the distributable reserves of the
Company, calculated based on the above principles, amounted to
approximately RMB12,398 million.

RXIWRBHHRAS NONGFUSPRING CO.,LTD. / 79



EE2HE REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Y3 - BER R
AEBZYE - BE FREN#RE HE 22
B BERN KM EE14

BE
REE 2 BEFBHNP B RKME26 -

RITHVEER
RBERA - KRR WARBEITRAES

FEEFRHEER

BEM - AAREAEEIAESRE
AREEZ HERRBEEIORES 2
=+

MESHA > MEESHEBREANTERS
RARB D BETRATHEBE%SIA LS
MEFBRRAEERNEARERS - AKF
PR s

B AESFRRERX

ARRAERRESETRE - URARAE
SRR EAETAEL R L ulIRRG
TEAT RS BREVIB A T MK SR EURE -

ERFEEARBERKATAY - BAFD
RBEGRX(EEE LB B AN F622DE(R
A(EFERE)RIDNEMR) BLREER
FALES -

80 / BXWRKHHRAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of changes in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 14 to the financial
statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of borrowings of the Group are set out in note 26 to the
financial statements.

ISSUED DEBENTURE

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not issue corporate
bonds.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, the Group purchased less than 30% of
its goods and services from its top five suppliers and sold less than
30% of its goods to its top five customers.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, none of the Directors or
their associates or any Shareholders who is expected to have 5% or
more of the issued share capital of the Company has any interest in
the top five suppliers and top five customers of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company has maintained directors’ liability insurance to protect
the Directors of the Company against any potential losses arising
from his/her actual or alleged misconduct.

During the year and up to the Latest Practicable Date, permitted
indemnity provision (as defined in Section 9 of the Companies
(Directors’ Report) Regulation (Chapter 622D of the Laws of Hong
Kong)) was and is being in force for the benefit of the Directors.
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NON-FULLY EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

As of December 31, 2023, Mr. Zhong Shanshan held approximately
83.9757% interest in our total share capital, including approximately
17.1543% direct interest and approximately 66.8215% indirect
interest through Yangshengtang (Mr. Zhong Shanshan holds 100%
of the total registered capital of Yangshengtang, including 98.38%
direct interest and 1.62% indirect interest held by Hangzhou
Youfu, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Zhong Shanshan). Mr. Zhong
Shanshan and Yangshengtang and their respective associates are
our connected persons.

The Group conducted non-fully exempt continuing connected
transactions in 2023. The transactions set out below are made in the
ordinary and usual course of business and on normal commercial
terms where, as our Directors expected, the highest applicable
percentage ratios for the purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
would be more than 0.1% but less than 5% on an annual basis.
Accordingly, such transactions are subject to the announcement,
reporting, and annual review requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules but are exempted from the circular (including
independent financial advice) and independent shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The following table sets forth the proposed annual caps for and the
actual transaction amounts of such transactions:

1 BEEENEBEARBERY

306.0 262.0

Purchase of goods from Yangshengtang and its associates

2 REEE R B E AR AR  ORRY R R R

(IAEEFE)

100.0 73.0

Basic R&D, test services and authorization of R&D achievements (if
needed by the Group) provided by Yangshengtang and/or its associates
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Purchasing Framework Agreement

On August 12, 2020, the Company entered into the Purchasing
Framework Agreement with Yangshengtang, pursuant to which, the
Group has purchased bottle caps for the production of “Scream (42
A)” and other products of Yangshengtang Group which are sold
through the Group’s new retail channels represented by vending
machines from Yangshengtang and its associates, with a term
commencing from the Listing Date to December 31, 2022. As the
agreement expired, the parties entered into the New Purchasing
Framework Agreement to renew such agreements on December 14,
2022, with the New Purchasing Framework Agreement for a term
of three years from January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2025. For
details of signing of the agreement and the transaction, please refer
to the section headed “Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus
and the section headed “Non-fully Exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions” in the 2022 annual report.
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Pursuant to the New Purchasing Framework Agreement,
Yangshengtang Group agrees to sell and the Group agrees to
purchase: (i) some bottle caps for the production of some of the
Group’s products, such as “Scream” bottle caps; (ii) products of
Yangshengtang Group sold through the Group’s vending machine
business and other channels, including but not limited to food,
cosmetics products, etc.; and (i) products of Yangshengtang Group
used by the Group as raw materials for production, including but
not limited to raw fruit materials used for juice extraction, etc. The
Group will enter into specific agreements or place purchase orders
with Yangshengtang Group to set out specific terms and conditions
in respect of the supply of goods. The consideration payable by
the Group under the New Purchasing Framework Agreement for
purchasing goods paid at the time and according to the method
agreed in specific agreements or purchase orders.

The prices of transactions contemplated under the New Purchasing
Framework Agreement are determined on an arm’s length basis.
The price for the Group to purchase some bottle caps for some of its
products from Yangshengtang Group is determined with reference
to the fee quote of bottle caps that the Group could obtain from the
independent third party, but in any event is not higher than the fee
quote provided by the independent third party; and the price for the
Group to purchase other products from Yangshengtang Group is
determined with reference to prices of such products provided to
other independent third parties by Yangshengtang Group, but in any
event is not higher than the prices provided to independent third
parties by Yangshengtang Group.

Mr. Zhong and Yangshengtang are substantial Shareholders of
the Company and the connected persons of the Company under
the Listing Rules. Therefore, the transactions under the New
Purchasing Framework Agreement entered into by the Company and
Yangshengtang constitute the continuing connected transactions of
the Company.

The proposed annual cap and the actual amount of the transactions
contemplated under the New Purchasing Framework Agreement
for the year ended December 31, 2023 are RMB306 million and
RMB262.0 million, respectively.
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Basic R&D and Test Service Framework Agreement

On August 12, 2020, the Company entered into the Basic R&D and
Test Service Framework Agreement with Yangshengtang and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, YST Natural Medicine Research, pursuant
to which, Yangshengtang and/or YST Natural Medicine Research
have/has agreed to provide basic beverage R&D services and test
services of raw material and product to the Company, with a term
commencing from the Listing Date to December 31, 2022. As the
agreement expired, the parties entered into the New Basic R&D
and Test Service Framework Agreement to renew such agreements
on December 14, 2022, with the New Basic R&D and Test Service
Framework Agreement for a term of three years from January 1,
2023 to December 31, 2025. For details of signing of the agreement
and the transaction, please refer to the section headed “Connected
Transactions” in the Prospectus and the section headed “Non-fully
Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions” in the 2022 annual
report.

Pursuant to the New Basic R&D and Test Service Framework
Agreement, Yangshengtang Group agrees to provide the Company
with basic R&D and raw material and product test services related to
the products of the Group, and to authorize the Group to use other
R&D achievements of Yangshengtang Group (excluding the R&D
achievements of Yangshengtang Group as entrusted by the Group)
whenever the Group requires. The Group will enter into specific
agreements or place orders with Yangshengtang Group to set out
specific terms and conditions in respect of the basic R&D, test
services and authorization of R&D achievements. The consideration
payable by the Group under the New Basic R&D and Test Service
Framework Agreement for accepting such services paid at the time
and according to the method agreed in specific agreements or
orders.
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Fees of basic R&D services provided by Yangshengtang Group
under the New Basic R&D and Test Service Framework Agreement
are determined with reference to the actual cost incurred by
Yangshengtang Group with a cost markup of 25% of the actual
costs, and in any event are not higher than the prices of similar
services that can be procured from independent third-party suppliers
by the Group. Fees of test services provided by Yangshengtang
Group under the New Basic R&D and Test Service Framework
Agreement are determined with reference to the prevailing market
prices, and in any event are not higher than the prices of similar
services that can be procured from independent third-party suppliers
by the Group. Fees for the Group’s use of other R&D achievements
of Yangshengtang Group (excluding the R&D achievements of
Yangshengtang Group as entrusted by the Group) authorized by
Yangshengtang Group under the New Basic R&D and Test Service
Framework Agreement are determined with reference to the current
market prices according to the specific intellectual property rights
involved, and in any event are not higher than the prices of similar
services that can be procured from independent third-party suppliers
by the Group.

Mr. Zhong and Yangshengtang are substantial Shareholders of
the Company and the connected persons of the Company under
the Listing Rules. Therefore, the transactions under the New Basic
R&D and Test Service Framework Agreement entered into by the
Company, Yangshengtang and its wholly-owned subsidiary, YST
Natural Medicine Research, constitute the continuing connected
transactions of the Company.

The proposed annual cap and the actual amount of the transactions
contemplated under the New Basic R&D and Test Service
Framework Agreement for the year ended December 31, 2023 are
RMB100 million and RMB73.0 million, respectively.
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Review for Non-fully Exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions

Mr. Zhong and Yangshengtang are substantial Shareholders of the
Company and the connected persons of the Company under the
Listing Rules. Therefore, the transactions abovementioned constitute
the continuing connected transactions of the Company.

The Company has confirmed that the execution and the
implementation of the specific agreements under the continuing
connected transactions set above for the year ended December
31, 2023 has followed the pricing principles of such continuing
connected transactions.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive Directors had reviewed the above non-fully exempt
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that these
transactions had been entered into:

in the usual course of business of the Company;

ii. either on normal commercial terms or on better terms; and

ii. in accordance with relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole. Pursuant to Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the auditors
of the Company to perform certain agreed-upon procedures
in respect of the continuing connected translations and the
auditors have reported the factual findings on these procedures
to the Audit Committee.
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The auditors of the Company had informed the Board and confirmed
that the abovementioned continuing connected transactions:

i. were approved by the Board;

i. were entered into pursuant to the terms of relevant transaction
agreements; and

ii. did not exceed the 2023 annual cap disclosed by the
Company in the section headed “Non-fully Exempt Continuing
Connected Transactions” in this report.

Save as disclosed above, for the year ended December 31, 2023,
there is no other related party transaction or continuing related
party transaction set out in note 35 to the financial statements
which constitutes disclosable connected transaction or disclosable
continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules. In respect
of the connected transactions and the continuing connected
transactions, the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules in force from time to time.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, we have entered into a contract
with each of our Directors and Supervisors in respect of, among
other things, (i) the compliance of relevant laws and regulations;
(i observance of the Articles of Association; and (iii) provisions on
arbitration.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Supervisors has
entered into any director or supervisor service contract with any
member of the Group (other than contracts expiring within one year
or determinable by the relevant employer without the payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND

Biographies of the Directors, Supervisors and senior management

are set out from pages 68 to 75 of this annual report.

The list of Directors during the Reporting Period and as at the Latest

SNHIESEZEBENT ¢ Practicable Date (unless otherwise stated) is set out below:
i B FEEHAR% A H FEEHER A H
Commencement Expiry Date of
Date of the Current the Current Term
Name Position Term of Office of Office
B WTES 202345/ 16H 202655 A15H
Mr. Zhong Shanshan executive Director May 16, 2023 May 15, 2026
R L WTEZS 202355816H 2026%5A15H
Ms. Wu Limin executive Director May 16, 2023 May 15, 2026
AR FA 55 A WITES 2023F5A16H 2026F5A15H
Mr. Xiang Xiansong executive Director May 16, 2023 May 15, 2026
BT WTES 2023%5H16H 2026557 15H
Ms. Han Linyou executive Director May 16, 2023 May 15, 2026
Zhong Shu Zi%t 4 FENTES 2023F5H16H 2026F5H15H
Mr. Zhong Shu Zi non-executive Director May 16, 2023 May 15, 2026
BExt FNITES 2023%F5A16H 2026558158 (&)
Ms. Xue Lian non-executive Director May 16, 2023 May 15, 2026 (Note)
Stanley Yi Chang?t 4 BAERTES 202395 716H 2026495 A15H
Mr. Stanley Yi Chang independent non-executive Director May 16, 2023 May 15, 2026
Wk E BUFNITES 2023%F5H16H 2026%5A15H
Mr. Yang, Lei Bob independent non-executive Director May 16, 2023 May 15, 2026
AR E BUETES 202357161 2026554 15H
Mr. Lu Yuan independent non-executive Director May 16, 2023 May 15, 2026

BT FA20244F3F  BEELTIRHBEHEIFMITES  Note: Ms. Xue Lian has tendered her resignation as a non-executive Director in
% o 2 B A AR F2023F FRE K March 2024. Her resignation will take effect from the date of the 2023 AGM
2 (#R2024F5 A21 B BH )R EREENIE (proposed to be convened on May 21, 2024) when the new Director to be
EEREZABRER - elected officially assume his/her duties.
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REMUNERATIONS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS,
SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for formulating,
reviewing and advising the Board on the remuneration policies and
packages for Directors and senior management of the Company
(“remuneration” shall include but not limited to all salaries, bonuses,
allowances, benefits (in cash or in kind), pensions, compensations
(including compensation payable in respect of loss or termination of
office or appointment), options and gifting of shares).

Details of emoluments of Directors, Supervisors and chief executive
and the five highest paid individuals of the Group in 2023 are set out
in note 9 and note 10 to the financial statements from pages 169 to
174 of this annual report. Details of the remuneration of the current
senior management of the Company by band for the year ended
December 31, 2023 are set out as follows:

AE

Number of

N Range individuals
072 1,000,0007T HKS$0 to 1,000,000 0
751,000,001 72 1,500,0007T HK$1,000,001 to 1,500,000 0
7 #1,500,0017C22,000,0007T HK$1,500,001 to 2,000,000 0
752,000,001 7TA £ Above HK$2,000,001 4

F Rz 2023 Annual Report

RXIWRBHHRAS NONGFUSPRING CO.,LTD. / 89



EE2HE REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

BEEREEERS THHEHNF
Y 2
BMEENEEREEL - ARET X
MR LIS BREE H X 5 | RAREAN 5
BRER S | — BT EE SN - #E2023F
12A81BIEFE  RARIESENESFKE
HEBRENTEREARN A S E(T(AIER
N A SR EAT BB A Ak E M B AR
MNEREERS THRENFEREANE
B EEEAER -

ESERFRBEPOES

BHE2023F12A3IBILFE - EE - AR
RIETHBARCESARESECHE
AT EETAEAR R RENERRER
BT XN R T (T E R S EiE)
CEBRREEE(ERESERRENE
R EERBES A ZBMEALRIN -
W EREC ETRBIDES A0 Z FRIE T UAH

Ego

EE EERERSITHRABRAR
ARHEHMBABEIE KRG - HERS
REER 2 EERAR

M2023F12A31H * RARIEE -« E£5
BETHRABRAR R M EHEE
(EERBEBEOESNEBH RIS 150
([FEHMEEED ) FEXVED) R - 8RS
RS REREE P A RIEE S KA EEDIE
352 EB T HEF 2 ELMATRES: - SR
BOZESTRDRRE BNE A A 7 BB
RETZ SRR IT ¢

90 / mXWRKRHHRAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS IN
TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT

Save as the Directors’ or Supervisors’ service contracts, those
disclosed in the “Related Party Transactions” in note 35 to the
financial statements in this report and the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” of this report, there was no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company or
its holding company or its subsidiaries or its fellow subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director, Supervisor or their connected entity
has or had for the year ended December 31, 2023, in any way,
whether directly or indirectly, a material interest.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

For the year ended December 31, 2023, none of the Directors,
the directors of the Company’s subsidiaries or their respective
associates had any interest in a business, which competes or is likely
to compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Company
and its subsidiaries (except as acting as Directors and/or directors
of their subsidiaries and their respective associates), which would
require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at December 31, 2023, the interests or short positions of the
Directors, Supervisors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the
requirements of the Model Code are as follows:

3 2028 Annual Report
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RARRA T RER Interests in the Company
SN AERORE
R} RAER BEREN
BREDL BREDL
(%) (%)
Approximate Approximate
BENRBEE  Percentageof  Percentageof A&/ %A/
(B)  Shareholding  Shareholding Tt HMNREA
Number of in the Relevant inthe Total  Long Position/
#e gkl ERtE Shares Held Classof lIssued Share  Short Position/
Name Class of Shares  Nature of Interest (shares) Shares (%) Capital (%) Lending Pool
EMBEE NER SEEEREER 6,211,800,000 100.0000 552333 {78
Mr. Zhong Shanshan Domestic shares  Interest held by controlled (Ft1) Long position
corporations (note 1)
EMBEE HiR SRR 1,303,252,410 25.8856 115881  #f&
Mr. Zhong Shanshan H shares Interest held by controlled Long posttion
corporations
BYRBEE Hi ESRAA 1,929,249,240 383193 17.1543 78
Mr. Zhong Shanshan H shares Beneficial owner Long position
MRS HiR ERRAA 32,400 0.0006 00003 ##&
Mr. Xiang Xiansong H shares Beneficial owner (o) Long position
(note 2)
Bt Hi& ESRAA 27,368 0.0005 00002 f#f&
Ms. Han Linyou H shares Beneficial owner (M&3) Long posttion
(note 3)
BELL Hi% ERREA 5,500,090 0.1092 0.0489 {8
Ms. Xue Lian H shares Beneficial owner Long position
fgnt HiR EERAA 222,400 0.0044 00020 ##&
Ms. Liu Min H shares Beneficial owner Long posttion
BRAEE Hi& ESRAA 59,400 0.0012 00005 #&
Mr. Rao Minghong H shares Beneficial owner (izx4) Long position
(note 4)
HENAE Hik ERRAA 29,630 0.0006 00003 ##&
Mr. Liu Xiyue H shares Beneficial owner (Mt5) Long position
(note 5)

FT# s BT R ERN T B AT 48 uh
(http://www.hkexnews.hk) BT 12 £t 89 {2 2 i
e EX[EERITIRAGERENROE
DL 1T5A11,246,466,4008% A% 17 (B1722023
F12ANBAARRREBITHRMNER) BE

= | sy
WarH -
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The information was disclosed based on the data available on the
website of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk).
The abovementioned “Approximate Percentage of Shareholding
in the Total Issued Share Capital” is calculated based on the
11,246,466,400 shares, being the number of issued shares of the
Company as at December 31, 2023.
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As at December 31, 2023, Mr. Zhong Shanshan directly held 98.38%
equity interest in Yangshengtang and indirectly held 1.62% equity interest
in Yangshengtang through Hangzhou Youfu (wholly owned by Mr. Zhong
Shanshan). Therefore, Mr. Zhong Shanshan was deemed to be interested
in the shares held by Yangshengtang.

As at December 31, 2023, Mr. Xiang Xiansong owned a beneficial interest
in 32,400 H Shares of the Company, which represents the number of H
Shares of the Company corresponding to the incentive shares granted
under the Company’s Employee Share Incentive Scheme but not yet
vested. For details of the Employee Share Incentive Scheme, please refer to
the “Human Resources and Emolument Policy” in this annual report.

As at December 31, 2023, Ms. Han Linyou owned a beneficial interest
in 27,368 H Shares of the Company, which represents the number of H
Shares of the Company corresponding to the incentive shares granted
under the Company’s Employee Share Incentive Scheme but not yet
vested. For details of the Employee Share Incentive Scheme, please refer to
the “Human Resources and Emolument Policy” in this annual report.

As at December 31, 2023, Mr. Rao Minghong owned a beneficial interest
in 59,400 H Shares of the Company, which represents the number of H
Shares of the Company corresponding to the incentive shares granted
under the Company’s Employee Share Incentive Scheme which is vested
and unvested. For details of the Employee Share Incentive Scheme, please
refer to the “Human Resources and Emolument Policy” in this annual report.

As at December 31, 2023, Mr. Liu Xiyue owned a beneficial interest in
29,630 H Shares of the Company, which represents the number of H
Shares of the Company corresponding to the incentive shares granted
under the Company’s Employee Share Incentive Scheme but not yet
vested. For details of the Employee Share Incentive Scheme, please refer to
the “Human Resources and Emolument Policy” in this annual report.
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AEESEE RS Interests in Associated Corporations
REEEEN
BEfiNEst
Fissiis (%)

BENRAHA  Approximate
(&) Percentage of

Number of Interests in
Shares Held Associated

B LS ERftE or Interested  Corporations
Name Name of Associated Corporations Nature of Interest (shares) (%)
BYRBEE BEE (M) ERAEA TER 98.38
Mr. Zhong Shanshan Yangshengtang (note 1) Beneficial owner N/A
R R Gyl 1,62
Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
BEFEEERNE (MT2) ERAEAA Tam 247
Yangshengtang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (note 2) Beneficial owner N/A
REEERAER TER 9753
Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
ERBRENEERHERAR (HE3) EEAAA 223,951,071 17.66

Beijing Wantai Biclogical Pharmaceutical Enterprise Beneficial owner
Co., Ltd. (note 3)

REEERAER 705,807,928 55.65
Interest held by controlled corporations
EMEBNBRERERAR (T4 R R g TER 6350
Xiamen Youmaike Medical Instruments Co., Ltd. (note 4)  Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
ERERARREE S ER AR (D) R R TER 60.00
Beijing Tairun Innovation Technology Incubator Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
Co., Ltd. (note 5)
BRI R EMREBRAR (He) REEERAER TER 94.93
JWT (Beijing) Biotechnology Company Limited (note 6)  Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
EFRBELDRRERAT (M) REEERAER TER 60.00
Xiamen Innobiomax Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (note 7) Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
BrEREA(BK) B R (BRAK) (H:T8) ERAEA TER 90.00
Guanzi Management Consulting (Lishui) Partnership Beneficial owner N/A
(Limited Partnership) (note 8)
REEER AR &R 10.00
Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
BrRERE (BK) 2B E(ERAH) (M) ERAEAA @R 24.81
Guanzi Equity Investment (Lishui) Partnership Beneficial owner N/A
(Limited Partnership) (note 9)
SEEERAER TR 74.94
Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
ERERHA(BKABER(BRAR)(HE10)  BEHAA TER 24.81
Chengguang Management Consulting (Lishui) Partnership Beneficial owner N/A
(Limited Partnership) (note 10)
R R ER TR 7494
Interest held by controlled corporations N/A

44§ 2028 Annual Report RXIWRBHHRAS NONGFUSPRING CO., LTD.  / O3



EE2HE REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

B

FMRERRREEE A —RINP M
HERAR BIWEEITERRD o EBBAE
DREESEERBEMMAE(REMBREE
2EBA)ERIFEEEE08.38% % 1.62%
%o

BEREZERAF(REENIZEWER
) A —RNFEFEMAZAGRAR AT E
BT - ERMEEDRIEERE KB
EELEMEREEEEHERRAR47%
97 .53% % ©

IERERENEERNDERARI(BEEZNI
ZEWBAR) » B—RIEPBRFEMAZAR
MAERAF - #BITA AE1,268,206,999% ° &
MRAEEDFEERERBBEEEMER
BAREFREYMEERNHERATIT7.66%K
55.65%#E = °

EFEEBHEEERERARAILREREY
BERNERARINIEZENBLR]  2—K
TER B REMA S B R A 7] B I BB T AR
Do EMMEE BB R EREMBEERNE
RAFEESFEEFEENE2ERERAR
#m o R ERENEERNERAGEE
PIEERIER 2ERER A RI63.50%Em °

ERFEHAF B ERER AR RIERESR
EMEXBNBRARNFZEMNBLRR - 2
—REFRBEMRZHARA R B EETE
&7 - MBI R B T SRR
MAR R RIREERSA IR IBAIR R R 28
BRARMER  ERBREMEXBRNHAR
AAFBEILREHEF R CRERAR
60.00%fEa °

BARUL)EYRIFEERARBIERERE
YEERNDERARNIEZENB AR 2—
RIEFBIFEMK S F R AR BRI TR
Bt o BB SE A BRI R B RE M SEER D
BRARMEESEEAR(ULR)EDEEER
NRED AR EREMBEERNERATF
BREMZEUER) £ MEHE AR A 5194.93%4

Z5 o
fm

Notes:

94 / mXWKBRHHRAE NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

Yangshengtang, our controlling shareholder, is a company incorporated
in the PRC with limited liability and did not issue any share. Mr. Zhong
Shanshan directly held 98.38% equity interest and, through Hangzhou
Youfu (wholly owned by Mr. Zhong Shanshan), indirectly held 1.62% equity
interest in Yangshengtang.

Yangshengtang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (B4 EZEEHR A F]), a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of Yangshengtang, is a company incorporated
in the PRC with limited liability and did not issue any share. Mr. Zhong
Shanshan directly held 2.47% equity interest and, through Yangshengtang,
indirectly held 97.53% equity interest in Yangshengtang Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd.

Beijing Wantai Biological Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd. (1t RE =4
2§53 A PR A F), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Yangshengtang, is a
joint stock company incorporated in the PRC with limited liabilities with total
share capital of 1,268,206,999 shares. Mr. Zhong Shanshan directly held
17.66% equity interest and, through Yangshengtang, indirectly held 55.65%
equity interest in Beijing Wantai Biological Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co.,
Ltd.

Xiamen Youmaike Medical Instruments Co., Ltd. (EP9EERI &2 E R
BFR/AF]), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Beijing Wantai Biological
Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd., is a company incorporated in the PRC
with limited liabilities and did not issue any share. Mr. Zhong Shanshan
indirectly held interest in Xiamen Youmaike Medical Instruments Co., Ltd.
through Beijing Wantai Biological Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd.,
which holds 63.50% interest in Xiamen Youmaike Medical Instruments Co.,
Ltd.

Beijing Tairun Innovation Technology Incubator Co., Ltd. (1t R ZE Al
BRI 8B PR A7), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Beijing Wantai
Biological Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd., is a company incorporated
in the PRC with limited liabilities and did not issue any share. Mr. Zhong
Shanshan indirectly held interest in Beijing Tairun Innovation Technology
Incubator Co., Ltd. through Beijing Wantai Biological Pharmaceutical
Enterprise Co., Ltd., which holds 60.00% interest in Beijing Tairun
Innovation Technology Incubator Co., Ltd.

JWT (Beijing) Biotechnology Company Limited ($##Z& (dtm) £49%}
KA A7), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Beijing Wantai Biological
Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd., is a company incorporated in the PRC
with limited liabilities and did not issue any share. Mr. Zhong Shanshan
indirectly holds interest in JWT (Beijing) Biotechnology Company Limited
through Beijing Wantai Biological Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd.,
which holds 94.93% interest in JWT (Beijing) Biotechnology Company
Limited.

3 2028 Annual Report



(7))  EFRREEEDREERARAEMERIR
EMBEMBRAR(EREREMEERNE
RARNZEMBAR)NEZERBAR -
B REFREEMA LB R A R B 1T
FAR - ERBTEEBEPIBRINIHEY
BITARAREERE EMIREEEYRIES
AR - ErIERIIREDRMTERAR
BHHEEMEIFEEYRE AR A F60.00%H#

Z=5 o

fm

©® EBTEEZRENABLEEREE) A
REFBEAMK I BEREREE  BEEESD
EHBARBETALEESEEMMNBERAR]
BEERNTEHRABA - ERBITEDRIER
BERBBETALBEESETEM@MMERAF
MEFREETEERZRA(BN)EELE(ER
£%)90.00% 5 10.00% 25 ©

© EBETRERE(BKEELEBREE) A —
REFEAME LN EREBLE - SR
EDREERERBERBREAE  BTERR
(BKRK)ERLEERER MEREHETR
BIRE(BK)ERLE(BRER)24.81%
74.44%50.50%E i ©

(10) EXEBEZAER)EBLE(BREE)A—
RUEFEEMBIBRE BRE o S
ERREEBERBRAEEY - BTEERN
(BK)EBLE(ERAR ) MEFEAXE
BHEABK)ABRLEERER)24.81%
74.44%5.0.50%E 5 ©

B EXCATIRESN - 72023512 A31H » A&
RAEE BEF -  BEaTBRASBEREAR
RIS EE AR ZE(TEREFRBEK
BIZEXVER) B (D - BRI R EHEE
EREBEA L EEDIFEIL2EBEATE
GFzEmMATRRE: - SIREGEESTANDEE
EAMGARNRNR RE B2 s RK

A
=

EE EERRSTTHRABRER
D EE S Z R

RBEME - ARF - AEAHBERF - &
2l NI N o = NG 31 v
EAZH  BEARRZES BENES
TR A BB BB AR R R SUEM EAMIEA
B HA D HESF MBS -

F Rz 2023 Annual Report

EE23 % REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(7)  Xiamen Innobiomax Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (BFIEEEAYRHE AR
al), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Xiamen Innodx Biotechnology Co.,
Ltd. (EFIEFINImEDEMT AR A 7)) (a wholly owned subsidiary of Beijing
Wantai Biological Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd.), is a company
incorporated in the PRC with limited liabilities and did not issue any share.
Mr. Zhong Shanshan indirectly holds interest in Xiamen Innobiomax
Biotechnology Co., Ltd. through Xiamen Innodx Biotechnology Co., Ltd.,
which holds 60.00% interest in Xiamen Innobiomax Biotechnology Co., Ltd.

8) Guanzi Management Consulting (Lishui) Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(BAFEIRHN (BK) &B0% (BRA%) ) is a limited partnership
incorporated in the PRC, where Guanzi Private Equity Fund Management
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. (BFREESER (M) HR2AE) (a wholly
owned subsidiary of Yangshengtang) acts as its executive partner.
Mr. Zhong Shanshan holds 90.00% and 10.00% interest in Guanzi
Management Consulting (Lishui) Partnership (Limited Partnership) directly
and indirectly through Guanzi Private Equity Fund Management (Hangzhou)
Co., Ltd. respectively.

(©)] Guanzi Equity Investment (Lishui) Partnership (Limited Partnership) (%
TREKRE (BK) a80%E (BRAR) ) is a limited partnership
incorporated in the PRC. Mr. Zhong Shanshan directly held 24.81% equity
interest and, through Yangshengtang and Guanzi Management Consulting
(Lishui) Partnership (Limited Partnership) indirectly held 74.44% and 0.50%
equity interest in Guanzi Equity Investment (Lishui) Partnership (Limited
Partnership), respectively.

(10) Chengguang Management Consulting (Lishui) Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (&} EEHR (BK) AREE (ERE®) )is a limited
partnership incorporated in the PRC. Mr. Zhong Shanshan directly
held 24.81% equity interest and, through Yangshengtang and Guanzi
Management Consulting (Lishui) Partnership (Limited Partnership) indirectly
held 74.44% and 0.50% equity interest in Chengguang Management
Consulting (Lishui) Partnership (Limited Partnership), respectively.

Saved as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2023, none of the
Directors, Supervisors and chief executive of the Company had any
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
pursuant to the requirements of the Model Code.

RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE

No arrangements to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries, its
holding company or any subsidiary of its holding company is or was
a party enabling the Directors, Supervisors and the chief executive
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of acquisitions of
shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate
subsisted during the Reporting Period.
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BRIRBEREHE RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

BRSBTS EMI2.4 - Details of the retirement benefit scheme are set out in note 2.4 to the
financial statements.

FTEREREAQTRMDKEEERKR# INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
MERRAR SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

HZE2023F 128310 * RESFFTHAM - LAT  As at December 31, 2023, to the best knowledge of the Directors,

AT (WIEES EERXAQNRESITHA  the interests or short positions of the following persons (other than

E)RARATIRM RAABRMD T EAIEEZE  the Directors, Supervisors or the chief executive of the Company)

5 N EAE RN 336 MEFELMMATEE  in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in

SRRSO R ¢ the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO are as
follows:

{hERER HERTRA
RipHREN AEREN
Y R
(%) (%)
Approximate Approximate
BEENRAHE  Percentageof  Percentageof #&/%E/
(B)  Shareholding  Shareholding T MWRE

Number of  in the Relevant inthe Total  Long Position/

2% B3R ERiHE Shares Held Classof Issued Share  Short Position/
Name Class of Shares  Nature of Interest (shares) Shares (%) Capital (%) Lending Pool
BEE NER R FERAER 6,211,800,000 1000000 552333 1B
Yangshengtang Domestic shares  Interest held by controlled Long posttion

corporations
BEE Hik R EERAER 1,308,252,410 25.8856 115881 {38
Yangshengtang H shares Interest held by controlled Long position

corporations

FrigBEEa PEERE & AU The information was disclosed based on the information available on
(http://www.hkexnews.hk) BT #2 ££ 8 1 & fft  the website of the Stock Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk).
:fl o

B ESCRT RSN - BEERTA - 20234  Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the Directors,

1284318 @ HEEAHEM AT (XIEES - as at December 31, 2023, no person (other than the Directors,

EESANTRSITHAE)RARATMRM  Supervisors or the chief executive of the Company) had any interests

S ARERNDTEEIREZ S LREAEEGSE  orshort positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company

3BT ETE S LM SRR mIEZZ0RA ©  as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of
the SFO.
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CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” of this Report of the Directors, (i) no contract of
significance was entered into by, and/or subsisted between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries with the controlling shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries during the year; and (i) there is no contract
of significance in relation to provision of services by the controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not entered into any
equity-linked agreement (as defined in the Section 6 of Companies
(Directors’ Report) Regulation (Cap 622D of the laws of Hong Kong)).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association and the laws of the PRC which oblige the Company to
offer pre-emptive rights of new shares to existing shareholders on
their shareholding proportion.

SUFFICIENT PUBLIC FLOAT

The Stock Exchange has granted the Company a waiver from strict
compliance with the requirements of Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Hong
Kong Listing Rules, provided that the minimum public float of the
Company shall be the highest of (1) approximately 13.66% of the
total issued share capital of the Company; (2) such percentage of H
shares to be held by the public immediately after the completion of
the Global Offering and the exercise of the Over-allotment Option.
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
as at the Latest Practicable Date and to the best knowledge of the
Directors, the Directors confirmed that the Company has maintained
the aforementioned minimum public float required by the Stock
Exchange since the Listing Date and up to the Latest Practicable
Date.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Board and the management reviewed
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters
including the review of the audited financial statements for the year
and has recommended their adoption by the Board.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

There was no contract concerning the management or administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
which was entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.
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PENSION SCHEME

During the Reporting Period, details of the pension scheme of the
Group are set out in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

DONATION

During the Reporting Period, details of the donation of the Group are
set out in note 6 to the financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group complies with relevant environmental protection laws
and regulations, including the Law on Environmental Protection
of the People’s Republic of China, the Environmental Impact
Assessment Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Water
Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the Regulations on the
Environmental Protection Management of Construction Projects (&
&18 B IR B IREE IR (&) and other laws and regulations.

For the protection of the water source environment and the
harmonization with the natural habitat of the water source, the Group
has made best efforts to minimize the impact on the surrounding
environment. In addition, the Group conducts specific monitoring
and management of water resources, packaging materials and
energy usage, sewage and carbon emissions during the production
and operations, and strictly controls the environmental and
ecological impacts during the production and operations. Meanwhile,
the Group has established and been continuously improving the
internal environmental protection and sustainable development
management system. Through building a good health, safety and
environmental management system and order in the factory, the
overall management of the water resources, energy and three
wastes emissions in the factory will be achieved, and the overall
environmental performance will be improved.

For details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance,
please refer to the “2023 Sustainability Report (ESG Report)” and the
“Sustainable Development Policy (2023)” of the Group.

ENTRUSTED DEPOSIT AND MATURED TIME
DEPOSIT

As at December 31, 2023, the Group had not held any deposits
under trust or any time deposit in any financial institution in the PRC
which could not be withdrawn upon maturity.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware that any holders of securities of the
Company are entitled to any tax relief or exemption by reason of their
holding of such securities.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company had received annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors. Based on
their confirmation, the Company considers that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

For the year ended December 31, 2023, Ermnst & Young has served
as the overseas independent auditor of the Company and Pan-China
Certified Public Accountants LLP served as the domestic auditor in
the PRC. The financial statements contained in this annual report
have been audited by Emst & Young. The auditors of the Company
have not changed since the Listing Date.

OTHER EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no major events that occurred after December 31, 2023
that would have a significant impact on the operation and financial
performance of the Group as at the Latest Practicable Date.

The other chapters, reports or notes of this report mentioned above
all form part of this Report of the Directors.

By order of the Board

Nongfu Spring Co., Ltd.
Zhong Shanshan
Chairman

Hangzhou, the PRC
March 26, 2024
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

During the Reporting Period, the election of the members of
Supervisory Committee was successfully completed, all members
of the Supervisory Committee of the Company have complied with
the principle of integrity and earnestly performed their supervisory
duties in accordance with the relevant regulations set out in the PRC
Company Law, the Articles of Association and Rules of Procedures

fE - for the Supervisory Committee of Nongfu Spring Co., Ltd. to protect
the interests of the shareholders and the Company.
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WORKS OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

For the year 2023, the Supervisory Committee held four
meetings, and the procedures for convening and holding
these meetings were in compliance with relevant laws and
regulations. The details are as follows:

The “Nomination Plan for the Eighth Session of the Supervisory
Committee” and the “Remuneration Plan for Supervisors of the
Eighth Session of the Supervisory Committee” were considered
and approved at the ninth meeting of the seventh session of
the Supervisory Committee held on March 3, 2023.

The “2022 Work Report of the Supervisory Committee”, the
“Proposal on the 2022 Consolidated Financial Statements of
the Group”, the “Proposal on the 2022 Draft Announcement of
Annual Results of the Group”, the “Proposal on the 2022 Draft
Annual Report of the Group”, the “Proposal on Appointing the
Company’s External Audit Agency in 2023” and the “Proposal
on the Declaration of Final Dividends” were considered and
approved at the tenth meeting of the seventh session of the
Supervisory Committee held on March 28, 2023.

The “Proposal on Electing the Chairman of the Eighth Session
of the Supervisory Committee” was considered and approved
at the first meeting of the eighth session of the Supervisory
Committee held on May 16, 2023.

On August 29, 2023, the Company held the second meeting of
the eighth session of the Supervisory Committee, considering
and approving the draft unaudited interim financial statements,
interim results announcement and interim report of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the six months ended June
30, 2023, and agreeing not to recommend the declaration of
an interim dividend to the Board.
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COMMENTS OF THE SUPERVISORY
COMMITTEE ON CERTAIN MATTERS OF THE
COMPANY IN 2023

During the Reporting Period, the members of the
Supervisory Committee adhered to the principles of fidelity
and accountability to all shareholders and duly performed
their duties and works according to the relevant laws and
regulations. The Supervisory Committee worked actively,
supervised the regulatory compliance and operation, financial
condition, use of proceeds from the listing and internal
control, and other matters of the Company through attending
shareholders’ general meetings and board meetings and the
on-site inspections of the Audit and Inspection Center. The
Supervisory Committee has arrived at the following opinions:

1. Regulatory compliance of the operation of the Company.
During the Reporting Period, the Board earnestly
exercised the rights and performed the obligations
conferred by the PRC Company Law and the Articles
of Association to make decisions in time on material
matters including production and operation plans, and
implemented all resolutions adopted at the general
meetings and board meetings. Senior management
managed and operated the Company in compliance
with laws and regulations. The Directors and senior
management have fulfilled obligation of integrity without
violating any laws or Articles of Association or committing
any action which may be against the interests of
shareholders.

2. Evaluation of financial condition of the Company. During
the Reporting Period, the Supervisory Committee has
supervised and reviewed the financial structure and
position of the Company. The Supervisory Committee is
of the opinion that the financial structure of the Company
was healthy and standardized and the Company was
in a good financial position. The 2023 Audit Report and
the Independent Auditor’s Report of the Company gives
a true, accurate and complete picture of the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
Company.
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3. The use of proceeds from the listing raised by the
Company. The Supervisory Committee is of the opinion
that the use of proceeds from the listing complied with
the provisions of relevant laws and regulations and the
Articles of Association without violating the interests of
the Company and its shareholders. The Supervisory
Committee will continue to supervise and monitor the use
of proceeds.

4.  Acquisition and disposal of assets of the Company.
There was no material acquisition and disposal of the
assets of the Company during the Reporting Period. No
insider dealing or any action that may injure shareholders’
interests or cause any loss of assets of the Company has
been found.

5. Connected transactions of the Company. During the
Reporting Period, the connected transactions between
the Company and all connected persons conformed
to applicable regulations under the Listing Rules.
The connected transactions were based on fair and
reasonable prices and were carried out in accordance
with the principles of reasonableness, fairness and
justice. No harm to the interests of the Company and
unrelated shareholders has been found.

6. Preparation and review of annual report of the Company.
The preparation and review procedures of the 2023
annual report of the Company conformed to all the
relevant regulations of the Stock Exchange. No breach
of confidentiality provisions by any person involved in the
preparation or review of annual report has been found.

In the coming year, the Supervisory Committee will continue to play
the role of supervising and monitoring with an aim to protect the
interests of all shareholders and the Company.

Chairman of the Supervisory Committee
Liu Min
March 26, 2024
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27/F, One Taikoo Place

ZKEEHRME AT Tel E5E: +852 2846 9888
EERBIARREBITN Fax {&E: +852 2868 4432
Ridh— 2742 ey.com

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Nongfu Spring Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Nongfu
Spring Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 111 to 220, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

3 2028 Annual Report
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BAgETSEHE)
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

RREITER

Key audit matter

BRNFONNEEFERETSER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

W ar R R 34 & B HTH

Revenue recognition and volume rebates

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
recognised revenue of RMB42,667 million from sale of
goods.

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring the control of a
promised good to a customer in an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for that good.

The Group also offers volume rebates, including
discounts, rebates and promotional incentives, to its
customers in the normal course of business. These
costs are accounted for as a deduction from revenue.

As at 31 December 2023, certain portion of volume
rebates had not been paid and they were accrued in
other payables and accruals.
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Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition
and volume rebates included:

° Evaluating the design and implementation of
internal controls and testing their operating
effectiveness over revenue recognition and
volume rebates;

° Reviewing customer contracts, on a sample
basis, to identify terms and conditions relating
to the transfer of control over the products sold
and assessing the Group’s timing of revenue
recognition with reference to the requirements of
prevailing accounting standards;

o Comparing revenue transactions recorded during
the current year, on a sample basis, with invoices,
sales contracts and goods delivery notes;

o Comparing, on a sample basis, revenue
transactions recorded before and after the
financial year end date with goods delivery notes
and other relevant documentation;
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B A S () INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

BAgETSEHE)
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BRETBE(E)
Key audit matter (continued)

RANET AR ERRETEE(E)
How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(continued)

Wi tER R ELEEITH ()

Revenue recognition and volume rebates (continued)
We identified revenue recognition and volume rebates
as a key audit matter because 1) there was a huge
volume of revenue transactions generated from sales
of different kinds of products to a large number of
customers, including direct customers and distributors
in many different locations; and 2) the amounts of
volume rebates were significant to the Group’s gross
profit and it involved significant estimates in determining
certain volume rebates granted to major customers.

The related disclosures are included in notes
2.4, 3, 5 and 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition
and volume rebates included: (continued)

° Reviewing underlying documentation on a sample
basis, for manual journal entries relating to
revenue raised during the year;

° Reviewing the Group’s assessment of expected
volume rebates, sales discount, and rebate
payables, checking the Group’s historical data for
volume rebates and comparing the actual volume
rebates recorded by the Group with the current
year’s sales amounts of the current year;

° Selecting samples of volume rebates for the
year and comparing each selected item with the
relevant sales contract and customer agreement,
and recalculating the sales discount and rebate
payable by the Group; and

° Comparing subsequent actual settlement of
volume rebates and credit notes with the
corresponding amounts accrued as at the year
end.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also: (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yin Guowei.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

26 March 2024
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mEEER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

BZE2023F12A31HLFEE
Year ended 31 December 2023

20224
2022
Bi5E AREFIT
Notes RMB’000
g REVENUE 5 42,667,221 33,239,187
SHE AR Cost of sales (17,260,392) (14,143,776)
ES| Gross profit 25,406,829 19,095,411
E AU A R ZE Other income and gains 6 1,841,454 1,709,159
HE MO HERX Selling and distribution expenses (9,283,999) (7,820,691)
TR Administrative expenses (2,162,401) (1,835,125)
HFs Other expenses 6 (13,946) (22,394)
B 5 E Finance costs 8 (99,735) (76,028)
BRBEADER PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7 15,688,202 11,050,332
Friefifx Income tax expense 11 (3,608,704) (2,555,082)
ERER PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 12,079,498 8,495,250
BARIEA AFEL Attributable to owners of the parent 12,079,498 8,495,250
BAREEERIEZEA  EARNINGS PER SHARE
EEERER ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
AR EE Basic and diluted RMB1.07 RMBO0.76
FRNmA For profit for the year
13 AR¥1.07t AREO.767T
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mEZHEBER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BZE2023F12831HLEFE
Year ended 31 December 2023

20224
2022
AREFIT
RMB’000
F R Profit for the year 12,079,498 8,495,250
Hit2HE ks OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
AIRBESRHENSERE Other comprehensive (loss)/income
BarEMmEE that maybe reclassified to profit or
(518), Wz - loss in subsequent periods:
MEH =R Exchange differences:
BEBINEFEER Exchange differences on translation of
ME N Z5E foreign operations (340) 1,835
AIRBESRHENSERE Net other comprehensive (loss)/income
BarEMmEE that may be reclassified to profit or
(B518),/Wes 358 loss in subsequent periods (340) 1,835
FRNEMEE(EER), W Other comprehensive (loss)/income
(BrFi1&) for the year, net of tax (340) 1,835
FREEW AT Total comprehensive income for the year 12,079,158 8,497,085
EAREEB AR Attributable to owners of the parent 12,079,158 8,497,085
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meRBERRE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

20224
2022
Bi5E AREFIT
Notes RMB’000
FEREBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
WME - BENEE Property, plant and equipment 14 17,179,628 15,397,585
EREEE Right-of-use assets 15 946,979 853,488
EEE Intangible assets 16 74,222 58,077
EIEHIEEE Deferred tax assets 17 921,333 433,105
REAIRITIF 5K Long-term bank deposits 22 1,510,722 4,101,670
HEMIERBEE Other non-current assets 18 42,831 49,435
IEMENE EBRE Total non-current assets 20,675,715 20,893,360
REEE CURRENT ASSETS
FE Inventories 19 3,091,729 2,108,372
BoEWHIENEWENE Trade and bills receivables 20 547,021 478,587
TERTFOE - EfER Prepayments, other receivables
IR EMEE and other assets 21 694,778 560,307
ERTFR Pledged deposits 22 2,677 3,059
TR & RIBITERR Cash and bank balances 22 24,125,210 15,211,156
RENEEARE Total current assets 28,461,415 18,361,481
REBEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
B EMNPIENENZE Trade and bills payables 23 1,770,098 1,425,069
HibENMRIE N ESTE R Other payables and accruals 24 9,288,983 6,505,820
BB E Contract liabilities 25 3,584,921 2,677,190
ATEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 26 3,120,619 2,425,093
HEAE Lease liabilities 15 58,030 68,678
FERFEIE Tax payables 2,053,907 1,499,579
BB EAE Total current liabilities 19,876,558 14,601,429
REBEEFHE NET CURRENT ASSETS 8,584,857 3,760,052
REERRBEE TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES 29,260,572 24,653,412
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REMEARN KR () CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

20224
2022
P ARBTFT
Notes RMB’000
FRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
RN S Deferred income 27 303,061 291,420
RIEFTEEE Deferred tax liabilities 17 355,356 246,737
HEAE Lease liabilities 15 31,250 31,179
ERENAERE Total non-current liabilities 689,667 569,336
EEFH NET ASSETS 28,570,905 24,084,076
R EQUITY
BARIHEEAEL#EZE  Equity attributable to owners of the
parent
&7 Share capital 28 1,124,647 1,124,647
B Reserves 30 27,446,258 22,959,429
B Total equity 28,570,905 24,084,076
Zhong Shanshan Wu Limin
2 B B RFEH
Director Director
EF EE
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mEERBER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BZE2023F12A31ALEE
Year ended 31 December 2023

BATRE AR
Attributable to owners of the parent
FEA Rkt Eil
Bx  EARE  FRRG  XORET  tRRE  RERE  RERW
Share-
Shares based Exchange

Share Capital held by payment  Statutory fluctuation  Retained
capital reserve* trustee* reserve* reserve* reserve*  eamings* Total
AEETn  ARBTR ARETn ARETR ARETR ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

fist (itos)  (Kid0) (Was0)  (M&0)  (Wak30)
Notes (note 26) (note 30) (note 30) (note 30) (note 30)
2023%1 418 At 1 January 2023 1124647 8429611 (134,368) 45328 562,323 2156 14054379 24,084,076
R Proft for the year - - - - - - 12079498 12,079,498
EREHRENE:  Other comprehiensive
income for the year:
WEENERELE  Exchange difierences on
EHEE translaton of foreign
operations - - - - - (340) - (340)

EncEkzEE  Totd comprehensive

income for the year - - - - - (340) 12079498 12,079,158
BER0ERGRE  Final 2022 dvidend declared 12 - - 1,284 - - - (1647507) (7,646,313
HERRATRARA  Disposalof forfited

restricted shares - - 9,746 - - - - 9,746
LEDUSGL Recogniion of

share-based payment P - - - 25,857 - - - 25,857
BESTRIEEHE  Award shares vested

BRHAERN under an employee

share incentive scheme - 8,0m) 58,407 (36,955) - - - 18,381

120235 12R817 At 31 December 2023 1124647 8426540 (64,931) 34,230 562,323 1816 18,486,280 28,570,905
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IREERBER (&) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued)

BZE2023F12A31ALEE
Year ended 31 December 2023

BARERARR
Attrioutable to owners of the parent
KitA ol 3
kx  ERRE FRRG  X6RE ReRR  RBEE REEW &t
Share-
Shares hased Exchange
Share Capital held by payment Statutory  fuctuation Retained
capial reserve’ frusteg” reserve’ resenve” resenve’  eamings’ Total

AERTRL  ARRTR  ARRTT  ARRTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
RMBOOO  RVBOO0  RMBOOO  RWBO0  RMBODO  RWBOOO  RMBODO  RWBOO

i (Fos)  (Wi0) (Ms0)  (Wskso)  (AEES0)
Notes (note 28) (note 30) (note 30) (note 30) (note 30)

R022E1 AR At January 2022 1124647 8434304 - - 562,323 21 10620039 20,741,634
R Proft for the year - - - - b - G420 84620
EREMRERE:  Other comprehensive

income for the year:
WERNERELRS  Bxchange diferences on

EXZE iranslafion of foreign

operations - - - - - 183 - 183
EnzElaes Total comprehensive

income for the year - - - - - 183%  84%.250 849708
EER0FRERE  Final 2021 dividend declared 12 - - 1,792 - - - (060910 (5,099,118
BERG Repurchase o shares 2 - - 5400 - - - - 540
BARNEH Recogniton of

share-ased payment P - - - 101,798 - - - 101,798
FESTRESEHE  Award shares vested

BENAERA under an employes

share incentive scheme - (4,693) 89,241 (56,465) - - - 28,083
R02E12A317 At 31 December 2022 1124647 8429611 (134,368) 45,328 562,323 2,156 14004379 24,084,076
* ZERBROERSMBRARNGEHFHE - These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of

AR #07,446,258,000 7T (2022 F : AR RMB27,446,258,000 (2022: RMB22,9569,429,000) in the consolidated
22,959,429,0007T) ° statement of financial position.
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GEREMNER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BZE2023F12831HLEFE
Year ended 31 December 2023

20224
2022
sz AREBFT
Notes RMB’000
ReTDMERSRE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
BRI A& Profit before tax 15,688,202 11,050,332
FLTFIS BRI Adjustments for:
ME  BELEHTE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7 2,522,236 2,358,940
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 7 97,774 119,238
B GRS Amortisation of intangible assets 7 11,432 8,747
BATEAIBED Fair value gains on financial assets

SREENTEEKZ at fair value through profit or loss 6 = (2,289)
HEWE  BER Loss on disposal of items of property,

REEENER plant and equipment 6 5,265 14,456
HEEFEEERNER Loss on disposal of items of intangible assets 6 199 -
HETET AR Loss on disposal of derivative instruments 6 - 634
MEBBA Interest income 6 (991,247) (623,360)
LS W IERE Impairment/(write-back of impairment)

CRiERE) of trade receivables 4,169 (3,434)
FERE Impairment of inventories 19 - 16,372
FENTIE - Ht WA Impairment/(write-back of impairment)

HEETPHEREE of financial assets included in prepayments,

AE/ CRiERmE) other receivables and other assets 7 2,158 (715)
RIBER R BT W Deferred income recognised in profit or loss 27 (20,505) (25,799)
NHER Finance costs 99,735 76,028
AR iE S E IR T M FE Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 25,857 101,793
SNE Wz Foreign exchange gain (46,023) (386,615)

17,399,252 12,704,328
FEENm Increase in inventories (983,357) (315,514)
LS EWGE R ENEE (Increase)/decrease in trade and bills receivables
(sgm),/md (72,603) 1,123
FENTIE - HMEWTIER Increase in prepayments, other receivables and
Eih & EE other assets (177,579) (153)
B SEMNTIBREMZEIEI  Increase in trade and bills payables 345,029 271,936
HENZIENETEBIEM Increase in other payables and accruals 3,178,927 1,124,862
AHBEEM Increase in contract liabilities 907,731 326,238
EREVEEYE T Decrease in pledged deposits 382 589
RERBESE Cash generated from operations 20,597,782 14,113,409
BRETER Income tax paid (3,395,627) (2,308,380)
BUELF B Interest received 202,485 312,530
ERFE Interest paid (99,703) (76,049)
RETHREREREBFHE  Net cash flows from operating activities 17,304,937 12,041,510
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FEHREMER (M) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

BZE2023F12A31ALEFEE
Year ended 31 December 2023

20224F
2022
ik AREFT
Note RMB’000
REZBHFERERE CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
BEWE  BEKEE ﬁlﬁ 5] Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (4,714,113) (4,193,347)
HERATEFT ABER Proceeds from sale of financial assets at fair value
SREEMEHIE through profit or loss - 207,043
HEWE  BERFEEE Proceeds from disposal of items of property,
FTigsoa plant and equipment 26,528 79,947
EEEFEE Purchases of intangible assets (27,776) (1,720)
BEFEREEE - TMEM#E  Purchases of right-of-use assets - land use rights (120,861) (156,975)
WEHE - BERREN Receipt of government grants for property,
B plant and equipment 32,146 52,669
RUERRTEEE A Increase in bank deposits with original maturity
=EAAEMETEZIEI  of more than three months when acquired (26,873,541) (14,683,027)
ERREINHA R Withdrawal of bank deposits with original maturity
=ERUENRITER of more than three months, including interest
(BEMEKA) income 17,393,803 9,269,084
REZEHTAESARETHE  Net cash flows used in investing activities (14,283,814) (9,426,326)
@ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ%lﬁﬁﬁ% CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
BERARE Dividends paid (7,646,313) (5,059,118)
Big:tE @ 1 Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings (13,471,835) (6,563,000)
Mt REE New interest-bearing borrowings 14,167,329 6,488,006
HERRNRSHH Principal portion of lease payments (80,981) (81,677)
EREAAERA Repurchases of the Company’s shares - (225,401)
&R U R I B9 ik 15 Proceeds from disposal of forfeited
FT{S 3R restricted shares 9,746 -
BB B TR 2 Proceeds from award of shares under the
EFRMO SRR employee share incentive scheme - 71,408
BMETHFARESKEBTE  Net cash flows used in financing activities (7,022,054) (5,369,782)
RERHBELZEYHLFE  NET DECREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS (4,000,931) (2,754,508)
FRE LA {E ) Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 7,821,114 10,187,896
HNEPE R EBH T & Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 55,537 387,816
ERRERATEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR 3,875,720 7,821,114
RERRELENEH 4  ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
RITAE Cash at bank 22 3,864,789 7,821,114
BHRTER Short-term bank deposits 22 20,260,421 7,390,042
REBRITER Long-term bank deposits 22 1,510,722 4,101,670
REA TSR 2R 51| B Long-term bank deposits and cash and
RERITEFAR bank balances as stated in the statement
B RIRITHRR of financial position 22 25,635,932 19,312,826
W RNUERRETEEEBA  Less: Bank deposits with original maturity of
= {8 A A ERRITIER more than three months when acquired (21,760,212) (11,491,712)
KRB S MERTIRH Cash and cash equivalents as stated
BeRBLEED in the statement of cash flows 3,875,720 7,821,114
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MR MY EE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

1. QEIREEER 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
BRILEBRMDABRAE 200166 A Nongfu Spring Co., Ltd. was incorporated and registered in the
27TREFREARLME([HE]) M People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) on 27 June 2001. On 8
BN B ERD o A2020%F9A88H - AR September 2020, the Company was listed on the Main Board
AINEABMEZSHMERAR([ES of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKSE”)
B 2P 1) EAR T (B AR5 9633. (stock code: 9633. HK). The address of the registered office is
HK) o $H 0 9% 28 B 3k 4 31T & Hu No. 181, Geyazhuang Road, Xihu District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
MR EEIE1815% © Province.

NEFRE TN FEFBER - The Group was involved in the following principal activities:
—  HERHEEBESKAKESRE - Production and sale of packaged water and beverage
- HEREM - Sale of agricultural products
BIEEAA  KNATHERA R NME In the opinion of management, the holding company and the
BIERARIAEEEBRAR %A ultimate holding company of the Company is Yangshengtang
AP BRI AR AL - Co., Ltd., which is incorporated and registered in the PRC.
MtE A RIE R Information about subsidiaries
ARBMEBWBARIFFBEHINOT Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:
MR/ BER BRITLEE/ KATER
A% LEHERAH TR BHRAMN TEEK
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
B k3

Direct Indirect

Shanghai Nongfu Spring Drinking Water -~ PRG/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 100% N/A  Sale of packaged water
Company Limited 4 September 1997 and beverage

PEERLIRBRAKBRAT i,/ E A AE#1,000,0007T 100% TNER  HERRSRKRHH

199749 A4H

Nongfu Spring Hangzhou Thousand- PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB171,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Island Lake Drinking Water Company 3 August 1999 water and beverage
Limited

BRILRAM TS HERAK i,/ hER AR¥171,000,0007 100% TER  EEBESAKRRE
BRAT] 199948A3H

£F 45, 2023 Annual Report RXIWRBHHRAT NONGFUSPRING GO, LTD. /119



2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1. ARARKEEER(E) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
MtEARIRER (&) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
AABHETENB QR FIEE W Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
T (&) follows: (continued)
ERAL BER BRTER/ FRREE
&8 Fesiky 3=k TR BEESNL TEXB
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
H# 3
Direct Indirect
Nongfu Spring Jiin Changbai Mountain -~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB138,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Company Limited 26 June 2001 water and beverage
BRLFERRALBRAT /R EA AE#138,000,0007T 100% TER  EEAEFAKREH
200146 426K
Nongfu Spring Zhejiang Thousand-Island - PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB111,800,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Lake Company Limited 23 July 2003 water and beverage
BRUFHITERERAA] E,/hEN AR 111,800,0007 100% NER  AEBRERAKRAH
200357 A23H
Nongfu Spring Guangdong Wanlv Lake  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Company Limited 7 April 2004 water and beverage
ERIIREREZHERAR /R EA AR#50,000,0007C 100% TER  EEBERAKRAE
200444 A7H
Xinjiang Nongfu Base Manas Food PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Company Limited 9 February 2006 water and beverage
MEEAENWEANRRERAF RE /BN AR #25,000,0007 100% TER  EEBESAKRHH
200642794
Nongfu Spring (Jiande) Xin'an River PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB190,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Beverage Company Limited 9 November 2006 water and beverage
ERLF(BE) RIS RE /B AR#190,000,0007C 100% TER  EEARGAKRHH
BRAT] 2006F11A9A
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

1. AERREEER(E) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
MEBATINER (&) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RKARHEEN B A AIFIBHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
T (&) follows: (continued)
EMARL/ BER BRTER/ FRREE
&8 Fesiky 3=k TR BEESNL TEER
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
H# G
Direct Indirect
Nongfu Spring (Chun’an Pingshan) PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB30,000,000 95% 5%  Sale of packaged water
Company Limited 26 December 2006 and beverage
BRF (2RI ) BRAT /R EA AR#30,000,0007C 95% 5% SREBRKAKRAE
200612 A26H
Nongfu Spring (Chun’an Tea Garden) PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB65,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Company Limited 26 December 2006 water and beverage
ERUR(ZRARE)BRAR E,/hEN AR 65,000,007 100% NER  AEBRERAKRAH
2006412 A26H
Nongfu Spring Sichuan Emei Mountain ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Beverage Company Limited 27 November 2008 water and beverage
EXRLFMEELREERAR RE /BN AR#20,000,0007C 100% TER  EEBERAKRAE
200811 A27H
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2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1. AERREEER(E) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
MEBATINER (&) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RKARHEEN B A AIFIBHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
T (&) follows: (continued)
EMRYL/ BER BRITEE/ KAREN
£ KewHRAH EfRE BHEADL TEEK
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
E¥ G}
Direct Indirect
Nongfu Spring Hubei DanJiangKou PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB116,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
(Xincheng) Beverage Company Limited 29 June 2009 water and beverage
BRUFHIATO G st B/ B AK116,000,0007 100% TER  EEARGAKRHH
BRAT 2009564290
Nongfu Spring Fusong Changbai PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB251,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Mountain Natural Mineral Water 4 February 2010 water and beverage
Company Limited
EXRLFEARALRABRK RE /BN AEH251,000,0007C 100% TER  EEBESAKRHH
BRAT 201062148
Nongfu Spring Shaanxi Taibai Mountain - PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB60,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Beverage Company Limited 2 September 2011 water and beverage
BRURRAKRB KR BRAT RE /B K 60,000,007 100% TER  EEARGAKRHH
201159A2H
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

1. ATREESEE(E) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
B ATINER (&) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RKARHEEN B A AIFIBHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
T : (%) follows: (continued)
EMAL BRER BRTEE/ NG 3
£ BeEpURAH AR BEEML TEER
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
EE B
Direct Indirect
Nongfu Spring (Guizhou) Wuling PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Mountain Beverage Company Limited 23 October 2012 water and beverage
BRLUR(EMBRLANERRT  HE/REAM AR#:50,000,0007C 100% TER  EEBESAKRRE
20124104230
Nongfu Spring Manas County Beverage ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 100% N/A  Sale of packaged water
Company Limited 21 October 2014 and beverage
EXRLFEHAGESNERAT] RE /BN AK#1,000,0007 100% TER  HEBRRRAKRAE
2014F10A218
Nongfu Spring (Jiande) Xin'an River PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB30,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Drinking Water Company Limited 10 December 2014 water and beverage
BRIUR(BE)NDIKAKERAR  HE/PERKM AR #30,000,0007 100% TER  EEBESAKRHH
20145127108
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

1. AERREEER(E) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
M A TR E R () Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RKARHEEN B A AIFIBHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
T (&) follows: (continued)
ERAL BER BRTER/ FRREE
&8 Fesiky 3=k TR BEESNL TEXB
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
H# G
Direct Indirect
Nongfu Spring Sichuan Beverage PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Products Company Limited 31 December 2014 water and beverage
BRSNS RERAT /R EA AE#10,000,00070 100% TER  EEAEFAKREH
20145124318
Yili Nongfu Spring Fruit Industry PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 N/A 100%  Sale of agricultural
Company Limited 8 June 2015 products
FRRBRILSREBRAA e/ Rk AR#10,000,00070 R 100% HERER
201566 H8H
Xinfeng Nongfu Spring Fruit Industry PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 N/A 100%  Sale of agricultural
Company Limited 27 July 2015 products
EERRLRREARAT /R E A AE#10,000,00070 TEm 100% #HEREM
20155 7A27H
Nongfu Spring Wulin Mountain Chengde  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Drinking Water Company Limited 29 March 2016 water
BRLSBELAEKAKERAT  FE/ BN AR 10,000,000 100% TER EEAEKAK
201653A29H
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

1. ARARKEEER(E) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
MEBATINER (&) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RKARHEEN B A AIFIBHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
T (&) follows: (continued)
ERAL BER BRTER/ FRREE
&8 Fesiky 3=k TR BEESNL TEXB
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
H# 3
Direct Indirect
Nongfu Spring Guangdong Wanlv Lake  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB15,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Beverage Company Limited 8 December 2016 water and beverage
ERIUREREZARHBRAA) /R EA AR#15,000,0007C 100% TER  EEBERAKRSE
2016512 A8H
Nongfu Spring Hubei DanJiangkou PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
(Junzhou) Beverage Company Limited 11 July 2017 water and beverage
FRLFHLATACIM )RR E,/hEN A #50,000,0007C 100% NER  AEBRERAKRAH
BRARF 201747118
Xinfeng Nongfu Spring Beverage PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB30,000,000 N/A 100%  Production of packaged
Company Limited 2 August 2017 beverage
EEREXRLFHNERAT RE /BN AR#30,000,0007C TER 100% EEAEGH
201748H2H
Nongfu Spring (Fujian Wuyi Mountain) ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Drinking Water Company Limited 29 August 2017 water and beverage
BRLS(RERRL)RAKERAE  HE/ BN AR 50,000,007 100% TER EEBRSAKRRE
201758 A29H
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

1. AERREEER(E) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
M A TR E R () Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RKARHEEN B A AIFIBHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
T (&) follows: (continued)
EMARL/ BER BRTER/ FRREE
&8 Fesiky 3=k TR BEESNL TEXB
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
H# G
Direct Indirect
Nongfu Spring (Anji) Smart Life PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 100% N/A  Sale of packaged water
Company Limited 12 December 2017 and beverage
ERLR(ZE)BHEEERAR /R EA AE#100,000,0007C 100% TER  HEBRRSAKRRE
20175124128
Nongfu Spring (Chun’an Tea Garden) PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Beverage Company Limited 25 October 2018 water and beverage
ERURFRAE)RRBRAR E,/hEN AR¥20,000,0007C 100% TER  EEBESAKRRE
20184104250
Nongfu Spring Hubei DanJiangKou Sales  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 100% N/A  Sale of packaged water
Company Limited 21 November 2018 and beverage
BRSO HERRAR /R EA AR%10,000,0007C 100% TER  BERESAKRIE
2018F11 A21H
Shanghai Nongfu Spring Supply Chain -~ PRG/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 100% N/A Supply chain management
Technology Company Limited 16 May 2019
FRRRILREEERRARAR) i,/ hEN AR 50,000,007 100% TER  fERER
2019554 16H
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

1. AERREEER(E) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
MEBATINER (&) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RKARHEEN B A AIFIBHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
T (&) follows: (continued)
EMARL/ BER BRTER/ FRREE
&8 Fesiky 3=k TR BEESNL TEXB
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
H# G
Direct Indirect
Nongfu Spring (Shaanxi) Honghe Vilage ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB30,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Beverage Company Limited 12 July 2019 water and beverage
BRI (BRAE) AL ARH /R EA AR #30,000,00070 100% TNER  EEAEFAKREH
BRARF 20196 7A 128
Nongfu Spring (Jiande) Industrial PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 100% N/A  Sale of packaged water
Development Company Limited 19 November 2021 and beverage
ERLR(BE)BRERERAA hE/HER AK#10,000,0007C 100% TER  HEARGAKRHH
20214511 A19H
Nongfu Spring Guangxi Daming PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Mountain Beverage Company Limited 30 September 2021 water and beverage
BRIIRERARLRHBRAR) i,/ hEA AE#50,000,0007C 100% TER  EEBESAKRRE
202149 A30H
Nongfu Spring (Zhejiang) Beverage PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 100% N/A  Beverage Research
Research and Development 10 August 2022 and Development;
Company Limited T Research and
Development
BRIUR AL SRAEERE i,/ hEA AK#%10,000,0007C 100% TER SR THRE
BRATF 20226:8A10H
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1. AERREEER(E) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
MEBATINER (&) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RKARHEEN B A AIFIBHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
T (&) follows: (continued)
EMARL/ BER BRITEE/ FRREE
£% LEmYER A afRA BHADL TEER
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
H# G
Direct Indirect
Nongfu Spring (Deging Mogan Mountain)  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 100% N/A  Sale of packaged water
Beverage Products Company Limited 23 September 2022 and beverage
BRUR(BEETLIRRERAR &/ PERKY AE#%10,000,0007C 100% TR HERRRAKRAE
202269 A23H
Nongfu Spring (Anji) Supply Chain PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB30,000,000 100% N/A Supply chain management
Technology Company Limited 14 September 2022
BRILR(RE)HEENEERAR &/ PERM AR#30,000,0007C 100% TER  fEEER
202249 714H

HRARBEMEX R - PEEMA
AIMRXEEIAAAREEEERER
RENEFPXEEEERBENK - %
SERRREBETEEZNINEARE
EhE -

FRINTEEBRIBREFANER
HBRAEEEEFREREDHAR
REMBLRAE - EERAR - BEHEM
MBARNFIEESTRERNITE
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The English names of the companies registered in the PRC
represent the best efforts made by the management of the
Company in directly translating the Chinese names of these
companies as no English names have been registered. These
entities are limited liability enterprises established under PRC
law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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31 December 2023

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”), which comprise standards and interpretations
approved by the International Accounting Standards Board (the
“IASB”), and International Accounting Standards and Standing
Interpretations Committee interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention. These financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
20283. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate,
on the same basis as would be required if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to IAS 1 and
IFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a

Single Transaction

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar

Two Model Rules
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised IFRSs that
are applicable to the Group are described below:

@)

The amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement
2 Making Materiality Judgements provide guidance and
examples to help entities apply materiality judgements
to accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim
to help entities provide accounting policy disclosures
that are more useful by replacing the requirement for
entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies
with a requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting
policies and adding guidance on how entities apply
the concept of materiality in making decisions about
accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments have had an impact on the Group’s
disclosures of accounting policies, but not on the
measurement, recognition or presentation of any items in
the Group’s financial statements.

The amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates, changes in accounting
policies and the correction of errors. They also clarify
how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to
develop accounting estimates.

The amendments had no impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

The amendments to IAS 12 Income Tax narrow the
scope of the initial recognition exception, so that it no
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences such as
leases and decommissioning liabilities.

The amendments had no impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised IFRSs that
are applicable to the Group are described below: (continued)

(@

132/ BXURBHHRAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

The amendments to IAS 12 have been introduced in
response to the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development’s Base Erosion and Profit Shifting Pillar
Two rules and include:

o A mandatory temporary exception to the
recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes arising
from the jurisdictional implementation of the Pillar
Two model rules; and

° Disclosure requirements for affected entities to help
users of the financial statements better understand
an entity’s exposure to Pillar Two income taxes
arising from that legislation, particularly before its
effective date.

The mandatory temporary exception the use of which
is required to be disclosed applies immediately. The
remaining disclosure requirements apply for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023,
but not for any interim periods ending on or before 31
December 2023.

The amendments had no impact on the Group’s

consolidated financial statements as the Group mainly
operated in Mainland China.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised IFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets

IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7 and
IFRS 7

Amendments to IAS 21

between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback!

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Supplier Finance Arrangements’

Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the
impact of these revised IFRSs upon initial application. So far,
the Group considers that these revised IFRSs are unlikely to
have a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations
and financial position.

RXIWRBHHRAS NONGFU SPRING €O, LTD. /133



2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

2.4 EREFHE
kLMEERNE
WERRER LI RE - AREE
ETEERENR(FY  EERIEE
ERFERBEERIN) - BlEEHEE
YT UR Bl S &E o B EE A AT UK Bl & B IR
BESBSESBNNEREERE
ATERLERAME RO S5
g WHEREEMET - RIEEH
BEVEEETEARE FBIAE
thEENEEERNBESRA - I
BRT - AT E SRS ER B
SELEMNMET - RNAURRSEL
BT RE R R - A EAE R —
W ER FETHR - AR RIEE
MBI —HHEEEE ST
BRIESEESL - BAHERF RN
MRS EE BT -

HEBREREERAEBAL K
Ol & BEHER - HEEREER - 4
AAARRBERER T RRBEFHIEE
ERMEEEREER AR
ML RTRE IR KRR B HIR(E - BUERE
BIOREERZDREEENTRE—
BHZERX BT ELBRE AR
RAPHIRR ©

REREHER - BAEEEEIR
FRUR St A FERR HYBL (B BT 1R P RE N B F
ERAEDRD - WHREBTR
Algtatrkmes - EE(BER
SN BRI ERBIREERIAE
TE X IR E B A RO 2 BR A R R B R
o BERNRNEEIEENBE
FEZHREEYERAMEBRNS
AT MEE R REE(FNBRERTE
%) - BEEREEBRREEEHE
ABEE °

134/ BXURBHHRAT NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and non-current assets),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-
generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount
of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated
to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest
group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it arises.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

@)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person:

U)
(i)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

U)

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is hormally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual

RYINR - rates used for this purpose are as follows:

=l fEEt A e A AR Rt RIBREE
Estimated Estimated

Category useful life residual value

g¥ 5-20%F 3%

Buildings 5-20 years

Has 5-10%F 3%

Machinery 5-10 years

E 5-104 3%

Motor vehicles 5-10 years

B - HEREE 3-5%F 3%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-5 years

HEMEREE TR 3-5F (ARG & A%E) 0%

Leasehold improvements

136/ RXURBHHRAST NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

Shorter of the lease terms and 3-5 years
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of the
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be finite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
The principal estimated useful lives of intangible assets are as
follows:
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Software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful
lives of 2 to 10 years.

Mineral water mining licence
Mineral water mining licence is stated at cost and is amortised
on the straight-line basis over the licence term.

Others

Others include patents and emission right, which are stated
at cost and amortised on the straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(@  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 50 years
Office premises and plant 2-5 years
Equipment 3-7 years
Others 2-5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)
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Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(¢)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of buildings and site
fee (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of
office equipment and machinery that are considered to
be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income (“OCI”), and fair value through
profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets
with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(@) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit
risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset
to be in default when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills payables,

other payables and accruals, interest-bearing borrowings,
lease liabilities and derivative financial instruments.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables,
and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a weighted average cost basis
and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred
to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term
highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three
months that are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and
held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end
of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of each reporting period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in
time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of the goods.

Some contracts for the sale of goods provide customers with
rights of return and volume rebates, giving rise to variable
consideration.

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right of
return the goods within a specified period, the expected
value method is used to estimate the goods that will not be
returned because this method best predicts the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled. The
requirements in IFRS 15 on constraining estimates of variable
consideration are applied in order to determine the amount of
variable consideration that can be included in the transaction
price. For goods that are expected to be returned, instead of
revenue, a refund liability is recognised. A right-of-return asset
(and the corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) is also
recognised for the right to recover products from a customer.

Variable consideration: volume-based rebates

Retrospective volume rebates may be provided to certain
customers once the quantity of products purchased during
the period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract.
Rebates are offset against amounts payable by the customer.
To estimate the variable consideration for the expected future
rebates, the most likely amount method is used for contracts
with a single-volume threshold. The selected method that best
predicts the amount of variable consideration is primarily driven
by the number of volume thresholds contained in the contract.
The requirements on constraining estimates of variable
consideration are applied and a liability for the expected future
rebates is recognised.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods
or services to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Group operates a share incentive scheme. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services in exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which
they are granted. The fair value is computed based on their
most recent post-money valuations.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss for
a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as
if they were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
The Group is required to contribute a certain percentage
of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme. Contributions paid for an employee
are not available to reduce the Group’s future obligations even
if the employee leaves.

Employee benefits to all eligible employees of the overseas
subsidiaries are made in accordance with the rules set forth in
the collective labour agreement, and recorded as an expense
in the period they are due as a charge to the statement of profit
or loss.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist
of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection
with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of each reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of each reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into the presentation currency of the Company at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the
dates of the transactions.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences
are attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of
a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
which arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
losses and deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits
together with future tax planning strategies. Further details are
contained in note 17 to the financial statements.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Variable consideration for volume rebates

The Group estimates variable consideration to be included
in the transaction price for the sales of products with volume
rebates.

The Group’s volume rebates are analysed on a per customer
basis for contracts that are subject to a single volume
threshold. Determining whether a customer will likely be
entitled to a rebate depends on the customer’s historical
rebate entitlement and accumulated purchases to date.

The Group updates its assessment of expected volume
rebates yearly and the sales discount and rebate payables are
adjusted accordingly. Estimates of expected volume rebates
are sensitive to changes in circumstances and the Group’s
past experience regarding rebate entitlements may not be
representative of a customer’s actual rebate entitlements in the
future.
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31 December 2023

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns (i.e., by product type, customer type and rating
and other forms of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions
(i.e., gross domestic products, consumer price index, deposit
reserve ratio, inflation rate and rate of unemployment) are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to
an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing sector,
the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated and changes
in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note
20.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their services and has five reportable
operating segments as follows:

° the water products segment engages in the manufacture
and sale of natural packaged drinking water;

° the ready-to-drink tea products segment engages in the
manufacture and sale of ready-to-drink tea beverages;

° the functional drinks products segment engages in the
manufacture and sale of functional beverages;

° the juice beverage products segment engages in the
manufacture and sale of juice beverage products; and

° the other products segment engages in the manufacture
and sale of agricultural products and other beverages.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit,
which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted
profit before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s
profit before tax except that interest income, finance costs,
other income and gains, as well as head office and corporate
expenses are excluded from such measurement. No analysis
of segment assets and liabilities is presented as management
does not regularly review such information for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment. Therefore,
only segment revenue and segment results are presented.
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

4. REFBER(E) 4, OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
kY ES A{C D) Segment revenue and results
T AERNEBIRA 2R E 2 DU The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
R BRI © by reportable segment.
BZ2023% Year ended
1231 ALERE 31 December 2023

23 (fi32s) Segment revenue (note 5)

MNIEEHE Sales to external customers 20,262,256 12,658,388 4,901,553 3,533,612 1,310,912 42,667,221
AEEE Segment results 7,347,163 5,622,266 2,067,738 945,632 396,208 16,379,007
- Reconcilation:
FEHA Interest income 991,247
ERDEUARYE  Other unallocated

income and gains 850,207
TEREMASEHRS  Corporate and other

unallocated expenses (2,432,524)
HER Finance costs (99,735)
BB AR Profit before tax 15,688,202
At HER Other segment information
TEREH Depreciation and amortisation 983,720 641,571 257,651 226,668 81,428 2,191,038
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

4., RBEFBERE) 4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
kY ES A{C D) Segment revenue and results (continued)
KEER HMRREER DESHER RTRNER AthEm a5t
Ready-to- Functional Juice
BZ2002% Year ended Water drink tea drinks beverage Other
12A31ALFE 31 December 2022 products products products products products Total

ARRTRL  ARRTT ARBTR AREBTR ARETR ARETR
RMB'OOO  RMBOO0 ~ RMBOO0  RMBO0O  RMBO00O  RMB'OO

AERUER (P555) Segment revenue note 5)
RNIEEHEE Sales to external customers 18,262,614 6,905,986 3,837,605 2,878,830 1,364,152 33,239,187
EHEE Segment results 6,443,392 2,753,270 1,533,987 580,039 280,332 11,591,020
#E Reconciliation:
FEMA Interest income 623,360
EtARAEMARYE  Other unallocated

income and gains 1,085,799
PEREMANEMT  Corporate and other

unallocated expenses (2,173,819
SBER Finance costs (76,028)
BBATEN Profit before tax 11,050,332
At Eas Other segment information
WEREH Depreciation and amortisation 1,007,132 407,856 233,476 223,067 100,831 1,972,362
HEER Geographical information
TR EE [B)36099% HY U 55 K2 4R 4555 Il 5 3k Over 99% of the Group’s revenue and operating profits are
BREAMHES - MAEEE99% derived from customers based in Chinese Mainland and over
KRR EEMBEIARFEIAL 99% of the Group’s identifiable assets and liabilities are in

Chinese Mainland.

FTEEFER Information about major customers
HZE2023%F K2022F 12 A31HIF&F No revenue from the Group’s sales to a single customer
o ASEEBMEREE —KFPMIEE amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue for
WA EB AU ZEAI10%3 A F o each of the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

Yz REVENUE
WD HTAT - An analysis of revenue is as follows:
20224
2022
ARBTFIT
RMB’000
KEEFEAA K Revenue from contracts with customers
HE M m Sale of goods 42,667,221 33,239,187

b A e R ) B R A R B D B
JEITSHE RN mMBENERS 2K -

BHEERRXNERBRTEXLBES
ERANKR(EZEEERNEP R
S AR —RRNBORAEIH - ¥
EEFAIERR0XK) - BOAHET
BEPREMEN N IHEERITH - 1t

AREEYERBRARARBE —FH
W sk - RitEEEC EABRY
BREERFEIGFRIA TN ERER S
% BEFEREIEZEERETHR
RERSHDERNBHEENR S
{B1%

F Rz 2023 Annual Report

The timing of the above revenue recognition is when the
performance obligations of sales and delivery of goods are
satisfied at a point in time.

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
goods and payment in advance is normally required, except
for customers with credit terms, where payment is generally
due within 30 days, and extended up to 90 days for major
customers. Some contracts provide customers with a right
of return and volume rebates which give rise to variable
consideration.

The Group has no revenue contract that has an original
expected duration of more than one year, thus management
has applied the practical expedient under IFRS 15 and is not
required to disclose the aggregate amount of the transaction
prices allocated to the performance obligations that are
unsatisfied or partially satisfied as of the end of the reporting
period.
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6. HttWARWKZUKEAMBEX 6.

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, AND OTHER

EXPENSES
20224
2022
hEss AREFIT
Notes RMB’000
Hug A Other income
FEHA Interest income 991,247 623,360
T4 B R AR Government grants and
subsidies
el sy =17 related to income 0] 505,897 412,529
B R E AR related to assets (i) 20,505 25,799
SHERER Sales of scraps 103,729 84,672
HERKA Income from compensation 29,361 20,631
Hi Others 121,036 87,495
1,771,775 1,254,486
Wz Gains
PE X W e 558 Foreign exchange gain, net 46,023 370,122
AT ERT ABEN Fair value gains on financial
LRMEEQTERE assets at fair value through
profit or loss - 2,289
H Others 23,656 82,262
69,679 454,673
1,841,454 1,709,159
Hihpgxx Other expenses
HEWE - BEK Loss on disposal of items of
RIEE B M EE property, plant and equipment (5,265) (14,456)
HEKB AT EE Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (3,245) -
B Donations (1,021) (1,169)
HEEFEEFREN Loss on disposal of items of
fE5i8 intangible assets (199) _
HETETREES Loss on disposal of
derivative instruments - (634)
EAth Others (4,216) (6,135)
(13,946) (22,394)

0 AN 5= B 2 45 21 S R AR B RO KU 488 B %
AL ZEMB NIRRT REAE
B F BB RAE A E RS - 25
SRR BN R ZE R AN
TR EEE (R 1 () R E 1R R A
7o M4 B % S BN B R RO R R A6
HEAEIR -

(i)  AEECUWE|EEE S ERMARE RS
TIATHEE) - SEERR AW BEARR
BEMREAFHRANERGRPHER -
HAE RN % S B FHRHA M T
27 °
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(i)

The government grants and subsidies related to income have been
received to reward for the contribution to the local economic growth.
These grants related to income are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss upon receipt of these rewards and the related
conditions associated with the rewards are met, if any. There are no
unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

The Group has received certain government grants related to the
investments in production bases. The grants related to assets were
recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the useful lives of
relevant assets. Details of these grants related to assets are set out
in note 27.

3 2028 Annual Report



B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

7. BRBADER 7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX
REBBKRBAER BB, (GTA)T The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/
PFIRIEFE ¢ (crediting):
20224F
2022
s ARBTF T
Notes RMB’000
FEHERK A Cost of inventories sold* 17,260,392 14,143,776
M - WEREEITE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 14 2,522,236 2,358,940
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15 97,774 119,238
A Amortisation of intangible assets** 16 11,432 8,747
BTREMMAX Employee benefit expenses
(BIEESERFETH  (ncluding directors’ and chief
ABHB(M3E9)) :  executive’s remuneration (note 9)):
TERF® Wages and salaries 4,175,692 2,708,554
IRIREETEI R - 1€ Pension scheme contributions,
&AM E A AR social welfare and other welfare*** 729,693 450,640
LAREEE R Equity-settled share-based
R AR 2 payment expenses 25,857 101,793
BB X Research and development costs™** 349,148 277,166
ERRDHAME Expenses relating to short-term
AEEE MEEE leases, variable leases and
BEHEABHNER  leases of low-value assets 15 192,665 163,312
FERE Impairment of inventories 19 = 16,372
5 e A Impairment/(write-back of
E CRERE) impairment) of trade receivables 20 4,169 (3,434)
FENFRIE - EfhfEW  Impairment/(write-back of
FIENMHEMEESTE  impairment) of financial assets
TRMEERE included in prepayments, other
ORifER D) receivables and other assets 21 2,158 (715)
HESTETAREE  Loss on disposal of
derivative instruments - 634
BAF(EET AB2EH)  Fair value gains on financial assets
SRIEENATEWES  atfair value through profit or loss - (2,289)
1% B Bl 5 Auditor’s remuneration 6,241 6,566
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Bt #% R & ML (48) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

*

ke

Hkkk

Cost of inventories sold include expenses relating to depreciation
of property, plant and equipment, depreciation of right-of-use
assets and staff costs, which are also included in the respective
total amounts disclosed separately above for each of these types of
expenses.

The amortisation of intangible assets f or the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 is included in administrative expenses in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as
the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Research and development costs include expenses relating to
depreciation of property, plant and equipment, depreciation of
right-of-use assets and staff costs, which are also included in the
respective total amounts disclosed separately above for each of
these types of expenses.

8. HMKEH FINANCE COSTS

PEERSTIT An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
20224F
2022
AREFIT
RMB’000
HEEENFA Interest on interest-bearing borrowings 95,776 70,628
HEBENFE Interest on lease liabilities 3,959 5,400
99,735 76,028
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

9. BEE -EERFETHAEH 9. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF

B EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
FRNEEFE EFKTIBTHAENE Directors’, supervisors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for
AR F B A - BB A BEHE the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)
383(1)(@) * (b) * ) FNER AR (HE (a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
EEMNFERDBME - EEAE and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
B Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
20224
2022
AREFIT
RMB’000
e Fees 894 780
Eme Other emoluments:
e Salaries 10,920 9,683
EREBAEAT Performance related bonuses 9,941 10,957
RIKEET B Pension scheme contributions 591 599
VARG HE4E E AR (981 BIBE X Equity-settled share award expense 1,877 3,036
23,329 24,275
24,223 25,055
(@) BIAFMTEE (a) Independent non-executive directors
FAZNTELIENITEENE The fees paid to independent non-executive directors
SERWOT : during the year were as follows:
20224
2022
AREFIT
RMB’000
=R E Mr. Lu Yuan 298 260
@k E Mr. Yang, Lei Bob 298 260
Stanley Yi Chang?t 4 Mr. Stanley Yi Chang 298 260
894 780
FRBEMBE L IENTEELN There were no other emoluments payable to the
E e (20224 : ) - independent non-executive directors during the year
(2022: Nil).
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

9. BEE -EERFETHAEH 9. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
B (%8) EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) EETHBAE - HITEE - kH (b) Chief executive, executive directors, non-executive

TEERESE directors and supervisors
2023 2023
i3
Notes
TEHAER Chief executive and
BTEE: executive director;
ERMEE Mr. Zhong Shanshan 2,044 1,460 = = 3504
BiEE: Executive directors:
R¥lgaT Ms. Wu Limin ) 2,281 23 o1 - 2,395
ARREE Mr. Xiang Xiansong ) 1,042 3,000 59 551 4,652
AEERt Ms. Zhou Zhenhua ] 689 1,428 73 - 2,190
BEhkE Mr. Zhou Li ] 689 1,026 57 - 1,772
Pt Mr. Guo Zhen ] 607 830 - = 1,437
BREE Mr. Liao Yuan (i) 552 500 57 - 1,109
Bt Ms. Han Linyou 0 604 - 10 464 1,078
FnES: Non-executive directors;
Zhong Shu Zi% £ Mr. Zhong Shu Zi - 300 - - 300
EEnt Ms. Xue Lian (V) - = = - -
EE: Supervisors:
ks Mr. Zhong Jigang (v - = = - -
fgst Ms. Liu Min (v - = = - -
BRAEE Mr. Rao Minghong 1,082 509 122 505 2,308
SRt Mr. Liu Xiyue 1,330 715 122 37 2584
10,020 9,041 591 1,877 23,329
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B Rk MiEE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

EEX EERFETHRAEH
(&)

EFRTHAE - HTES - #3

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Chief executive, executive directors, non-executive

TEEREE(E) directors and supervisors (continued)
E=50 fihe  HREREN
He  ENORA SEMT ROMERR Bt
Performance- Pension  Equity-settled
related scheme  share award
20206 2022 Salaries bonuses  contributions expense Total
M ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
TETRAEER Chief executive and
HES: executive director:
EMME Mr. Zhong Shanshan 2,040 1460 - - 3,500
HES: Executive directors:
Epis Mr. Zhou Li (il 1,501 2,076 12 - 3,689
AEERL Ms. Zhou Zhenhua (il 1,500 2,103 154 - 3,757
PRk Mr. Guo Zhen ] 1,330 1610 - - 2,040
BREE Mr. Liao Yuan (i) 1201 1,628 12 - 2,941
FTES: Non-executive director:
Zhong Shu Zi% Mr. Zhong Shu Zi - - - - -
EE: Supervisors:
Eilrs Mr. Zhong Jigang (v - - - - -
BB Mr. Rao Minghong 791 562 12 1518 2,983
iBhiE . Liu Xiyue 1320 1518 109 1518 4,465
9,683 10,957 599 3,036 24,275
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9. EX -ESRIFETHAEH
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

9. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION (continued)

(b)
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Chief executive, executive directors, non-executive
directors and supervisors (continued)

The amount disclosed as directors’, supervisors’ and
chief executive’s remuneration is the amount related to
qualifying services provided by the person during the
period when he/she served as a director or a supervisor,
pursuant to the labour contracts or employment
agreements with the Group. The following are the
changes of directors and supervisors during this year
ended 31 December 2023:

(i) Ms. Wu Limin, Mr. Xiang Xiansong and Ms. Han
Linyou were appointed as executive directors on
16 May 2023.

(i)  Ms. Zhou Zhenhua and Mr. Zhou Li were appointed
as executive directors on 3 September 2019 and
retired on 16 May 2023.

(i)  Mr. Guo Zhen was appointed as an executive
director on 15 December 2019 and retired on 16
May 2023.

(iv)  Mr. Liao Yuan was appointed as an executive
director on 6 March 2020 and retired on 16 May
2023.

(v)  Ms. Xue Lian was appointed as a non-executive
director on 16 May 2023.

(v Mr. Zhong Jigang was appointed as a supervisor
on 25 June 2021 and retired on 16 May 2023.

(vi)  Ms. Liu Min was appointed as a supervisor on 16
May 2023.

There was no arrangement under which a director, a

supervisor or the chief executive waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during the year (2022: Nil).
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Two director was included in the five highest paid employees
during the year (2022: Nil). Details of the remuneration for the
year of the three (2022: five) highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as

10. EEBREHFMES

FANAGESTHEETMBAES
(20224 : &) - WIHARRESHE
ZITRABH=4(20229F : Af )&
SYEEEFANGEFELT

follows:

20224
2022
AREFIT
RMB’000
e Salaries 3,098 5,556
EREBRIEAL Performance-related bonuses 16,304 18,177

ARSI A E AR 1D Equity-settled share-based
SN payment expense 1,428 7,822
RIS B Pension scheme contributions 353 527
21,183 32,082

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following
band is as follows:

FHNFUTHENFFEERIFEE
TTRABNRSHHES AT

EEAH

Number of employees
20224F
2022
5,500,001 7T 26,000,000/ 7T HKD5,500,001 to HKD6,000,000 - 1
6,500,001 727,000,000/ 7T HKD6,500,001 to HKD7,000,000 - 1
7,500,001/ 70 28,000,000 7T HKD7,500,001 to HKD8,000,000 3 1
8,500,001 79,000,000/ 7T HKD8,500,001 to HKD9,000,000 - 1
9,000,001 529,500,000/ 7T HKD9,000,001 to HKD9,500,000 - 1
3 5
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

10. EEEREHFMEE (&) 10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)
FAN - ZHIIEBEERFEFETHRAER During the year, restricted H Share units were granted to three
o EE AR AEBRRENR non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees
FEER SR EIHRER M ER - BT in respect of their services to the Group, further details of
BEHAR Y T HREMM T2 HETEF © % which are included in the disclosures in note 29 to the financial
EXBREIHBR R D BB R FETIR statements. The fair value of such restricted H Share units,
REEBEETE  TERARBEHARIE which has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss
HRRER > Mt ARFEERBHRERD over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of
SO ALXRIEEE NIEETELT grant and the amount included in the financial statements
BAEBNSZSHMEEFIIEENA - for the current year is included in the above non-director and
non-chief executive highest paid employees’ remuneration
disclosures.
1. FriEM 11. INCOME TAX
20224
2022
ARBTFT
RMB’000
BNE— R Current — PRC
FEER Charge for the year 3,986,699 2,708,095
BREERETRS Underprovision/(overprovision)
(HBEERHE) in prior years 1,614 (2,038)
RIE(PBFE17) Deferred (note 17) (379,609) (150,975)
Il Total 3,608,704 2,555,082
REEBEIREEEEGRES NS KERER The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
B B A BlaE i M AS & P TE Rl A RE IR A% T AR arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of
NPTASAR © the Group are domiciled and operate.
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11. 8% (&)

RSB
BREB(PEARAMBEEMETE)
(TREMBIE]) REEAETEE
HefRpl - AEE P BEMEQTNEE
FTSHiB R R25% RIFFAUT R
TRRE °

RAEE - hENE AR AT E
PEMBREE B25% o BIETK
2 BRBREERRBERERNE
ZEgHARBRN(EREAERA
BRI B B RS B T UK R R B
R (B 5202012357 ) » 7 B 7 56
WEMTE  HEREEREHEL
ISR ¥ WS B EE60% A EE - B
202141 A1 8 ZE20304F 12 A31 B 10
FHIE  BEZBE15%NEEMEH
FRE o Bt BT AT EFEILbE
HITBE AR AFEBEREZE15%H
FiSTRFAER o

B E2022F K 2023F 12 A31 B [F4F
B AEBEETHENEBARERD
BlEFEmeE]  YELEE=ZS
15%MEEMESHME - BEERA
PEREHSIKET =FHEM —X -

AEEETHEMBAREERE -
VERZFARERRH

EBFEBH

B E2022F K 2023F 12 A31 B [FF
B REBEENGTERT &AM
AILZ16.5% M EE R R B NE B F G
i o AR ALEBEN2023F W ERES
EEFMERTER - MW ERES
FSTAETIREE -

F Rz 2023 Annual Report

11.

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

INCOME TAX (continued)

PRC corporate income tax
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the EIT
rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is 25% unless subject to
tax exemption set out below.

The statutory PRC enterprise income tax for the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% for the year. According to the Tax Relief
Notice (Cai Shui [2020] No. 23) on the Grand Development of
Western Region jointly issued by the Ministry of Finance, the
State Administration of Taxation and National Development and
Reform Commission, enterprises located in the western region
of the PRC with over 60% of the principal revenue generated
from the encouraged business activities were entitled to a
preferential income tax rate of 15% for 10 years from 1 January
2021 to 31 December 2030. Accordingly, certain subsidiaries
located in the western region of the PRC are entitled to an
income tax rate of 15% for the year.

Certain of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are accredited as “High
and New Technology Enterprise” and were therefore entitled
to a preferential income tax rate of 15% for the years end 31
December 2022 and 2023. Such qualifications are subject to
review by the relevant tax authority in the PRC for every three
years.

Certain of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are engaged in
agriculture and entitled to the tax exemption on agricultural
products.

Hong Kong profits tax

The statutory rate of Hong Kong profits tax was 16.5% for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023 on the estimated
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong. No provision for Hong
Kong profits tax was made as the Group had no assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong in 2023.
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2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

1. FrBH (&) 11. INCOME TAX (continued)
AN F REA S BB A T )
SEHEIR WA TE B R AT E M BR B AT F
HEAHER S RRER R R ES

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before
tax at the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to

MIEF S REIRI T - the tax expense at the effective tax rate is as follows:
20224
2022
ARBT T
RMB’000
KR ATE A Profit before tax 15,688,202 11,050,332
H25% A B 5 Tax at the PRC corporate income
PSR R HE IR tax rate of 25% 3,922,051 2,762,583
BEA M E KR Lower tax rate for specific provinces
i B BE R R or enacted by local authority (186,065) (126,497)
REENTE Effect of tax concessions (95,118) (53,266)
AR Expenses not deductible for tax 12,746 9,092
BEFEBRETRS Underprovision/(overprovision)
(FRRE RS ) in respect of prior periods 1,614 (2,038)
TR IE hn Y BRWIIRIE Effect on opening deferred tax
Friafin e e of increase in rates (1,605) -
B ANETH0RR Research and development
super deduction (47,316) (40,830)
RERTIBEE Tax losses not recognised 2,397 6,038
536 2 Income tax expense 3,608,704 2,555,082
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RE

202266 4148 © AAF MR A&
FLANRA T 11,246,466,400 A% A% 17 Ik 3%
2021 F KA B BIR A RHE0.457L (&
# AR #5,060,910,0007T) ° B &3
ABLE TR S B = 21 Fr i iE = iR 15
EAER RS (BT RRERIRE HIR
) - HepR% BB 12022F7 BIRST -

202358168 + AR A AL E L&
LA A B)11,246,466,400 A% A& 17 K 2
2022F RERRR E B AR 0.687T (&
HARM7,647,597,0007T) ° BZ5E
AT B TRESE R BB RS
R B (ETE R RBREEBIR
) EERRR S ER2023F8 Akl °

FAEIR2023F AR BB L BT
ARB0757 - lHER G HEHARE
8,434,850,0007T * ZBfF AR A IRER
FEIERR AT Kg FHbAE -

BARERERTEARLS
g 2R
BREABANSCEDIEANF AR LE
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13.

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

DIVIDENDS

On 14 June 2022, the Company’s shareholders approved
2021 final dividend of RMBO0.45 for every share of the
Company’s 11,246,466,400 shares, in an aggregate amount
of RMB5,060,910,000. Except for dividend attributable to the
repurchased shares held by the trustee in relation to employee
share incentive scheme that would be paid no earlier than the
unlocking date, the rest of the dividend was paid in July 2022.

On 16 May 2023, the Company’s shareholders approved
2022 final dividend of RMBO0.68 for every share of the
Company’s 11,246,466,400 shares, in an aggregate amount
of RMB7,647,597,000. Except for dividend attributable to the
repurchased shares held by the trustee in relation to employee
share incentive scheme that would be paid no earlier than the
unlocking date, the rest of the dividend was paid in August
2023.

The proposed 2023 final dividend for the year of RMBO0.75 per
ordinary share, equivalent to an aggregate of approximately
RMBS8,434,850,000, is subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 11,243,908,441 (2022: 11,243,556,102) in
issue during the year.

The impact of shares granted to employees in relation to
employee share incentive scheme was included in the
computation of dilutive earnings per share for the year. A
calculation was done to determine the number of shares that
could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the
average market share price of the Company’s shares during
the period) based on the monetary value of the subscription
rights.
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2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

13. BARIEEEREE AEMLERIS. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
BF (&) ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
(continued)

BE12B31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

20224
2022
ARETT
RMB’000
2B - Earnings:
AT RRERITE A Profit attributable to ordinary
FE(R & equity holders of the parent 12,079,498 8,495,250
R - TEHAR AR R AR IR IR (D Less: Cash dividends attribute to the
REREGRERE shareholders of restricted
shares expected to be
unlocked in the future (1,283) (1,792)
ATEEREAREF Earnings for the purpose of
FrA &2 F calculating basic earnings per share 12,078,215 8,493,458
e T mR e Effect of dilutive potential
2N ordinary shares:
I : FEHAAR R ARES S IR A 9 Add: Cash dividends attribute to the
BREGRSKE shareholders of restricted
shares expected to be
unlocked in the future 1,283 1,792
STEEREEAT Earnings for the purpose of calculating
FrR®&EF diluted earings per share 12,079,498 8,495,250
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2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

13. BRRlEBERIFEAELEE 13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
REF (&) ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

(continued)

BE12B31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

20224
2022
g8 - Number of shares:
ﬁ?iiﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ(ﬂﬁﬁﬁ] ) Weighted average number of
FREBETERRK ordinary shares in issue during
TR the year, used in the basic
earnings per share calculation 11,243,908 11,243,556
BB TLTRROTE Effect of dilutive potential
ordinary shares:
ZA/N ﬂ???ﬁ%l‘ﬁi il Effect of restricted shares
ignlio)-Z issued by the Company 1,697 1,541
STESREERTIFTAMN Weighted average number of ordinary
Eralull: RSk shares for the purpose of calculating
diluted earnings per share 11,245,605 11,245,097
5} 2023 Annual Report BXRIWREHBHRAS] NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.
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2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

14. Y% - BRERRE 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2023%128318 31 December 2023

W02351A1R At 1 January 2023

[ Cost 5,250,477 16,722,517 4,906,701 340,350 213171 1,738,015 29,171,291
ZiHERAE Accumulated depreciation

and impaiment (746061) (0085586 (2531448 (228349  (167,262) - (1377370)
FEFE Net carrying amount 3,504,416 7,636,991 2,375,253 117,001 25,909 1,738,015 15,397,585

HO0EIAIR - A1 January 2023, et of
MBZARERAE  acoumulated depreciation

and impairment 3,504,416 7,636,991 2,375,253 117,001 25,909 1,138,015 15,397,585
AE Additions 17178 348,872 826,188 13,070 844 3,127,920 4,336,072
b Disposais (3,927 093  (149%) (606) - 00 (31799)
ERAERR Depreciation provided

during the year (260,815 (1,345,230) (852,999) (39,861) (23,331) - (2,522,236)
fEb Transfers 949,928 2,061,681 82,128 70,337 - (3,164,074 -

2023125318+ At 31 December 2023, net of
MBZARERAE  acoumulated depreciation
and impairment 4,206,780 8,692,380 2,417,634 159,941 3,422 1,699,471 17,179,628

Ho023E128318 At 31 December 2023

KA Cost 6,211,281 19,018,963 5,666,195 407,182 214,015 1,699,471 33,217,107
ZHHERAE Accumulated depreciation

and impairment (2,004,501)  (10,326,583) (3,248,561) (247,241) (210,593) - (16,037,479)
FEFE Net carrying amount 4,206,780 8,692,380 2,417,634 159,941 3,422 1,699,471 17,179,628
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14. Y% > BEKHREE)

(continued)

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Al
BF BE  RERZE g HENERE fETR At
Fumiture,
fixtures and Motor Leasehold ~ Construction
Buildings Machinery equipment vehicles  improvements in progress Total
ARETT  AREfR  ARETR  ARETT  AREFr  ARETR  ARETx
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
20205128318 31 December 2022
1202241718 At1 January 2022
R Cost 4,930,897 14,359,579 3,470,981 286,768 153,036 1,194,132 24,395,393
ZiHERAE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment (1,511,969) (7,823,719 (1,924,728) (199,367) (136,474) - (11,595,253
REFE Net carrying amount 3,418,932 6,035,860 1,546,253 87,401 17,562 1,194,132 12,800,140
P022E1B1E . AT January 2022, net of
TRZHAERAE  acoumulated depreciation
and impairment 3,418,932 6,535,860 1,546,253 87,401 17,062 1,194,132 12,800,140
AE Addtions 256,009 1474217 1,531,857 65,956 62,381 1,060,308 5,050,788
He Disposals (1,137) (79.978) 8100) (1,537) 2,00) (1,644) (94,403)
FNTERRE Depreciation provided
during the year 03453 (13402801  (B94T50) (34,819 (52,027) - (2358940
Lt Transfers 65,148 1,049,633 - - - (1114781) -
202212318+ At31 December 2022, net of
TBEERAE  accumulated depreciation
and impairment 3,004,416 7,636,991 2,375,263 17,001 26,909 1,738,015 15,397,585
025125318 At31 December 2022
A Cost 5250477 16,722,577 4,906,701 340,350 213171 1,738,015 29,171,291
ZHERAE Accumulated depreciation
and impaiment (1746061) (0085586 (2531448 (23349  (187262) - (13773,706)
BEFE Net carrying amount 3506416 763991 2375283 117,001 09 1738015 1539758

MR2023%F12A31H » AEBIEAERE
mFE A AR 12,012,0007T (2022
F . AR%13,886,0007T ) BIIE FH 5
BEATEEFE - 12023F12A31H -
LR B A AR 5515,576,000 7T
(20224 : AR ¥53,839,408,0007T)H)
BEINENYE - BEREEHDES
)ﬂ °

F Rz 2023 Annual Report

At 31 December 2023, the Group was in the process of
applying for the ownership certificates for buildings with a net
carrying amount of RMB12,012,000 (2022: RMB13,886,000).
And at 31 December 2023, the fully-depreciated property,
plant and equipment with the gross carrying amount of
RMB5,515,576,000 (2022: RMB3,839,408,000) were still in

use.
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2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

15. A& 15. LEASES
AEBIEREEA The Group as a lessee
REEBERZIERAEZEWELEE - The Group has lease contracts for various items of office
LR B ET FH Y B TE B TS A premises and plant, equipment and others used in its
B4R - T HEHAS0F - BERE operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
— RN HEAENERNEFEN acquire the leased land from the owners with lease periods of
o WMAEMENBENHEEHET 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be made under the
B2ESF o RIBHEERNFIE7HF - terms of these land leases. Leases of office premises and plant
HEt(RESHHEE  BHMETHE generally have lease terms between 2 and 5 years. Equipment
E)NHEA2ESF - £ ERE has lease terms between 3 and 7 years, while others including
W ERET A12@EAkERE - @5 venue rental, vehicles and staff dormitories have lease terms
BERIE - between 2 and 5 years. Other rental agreements generally
have lease terms of 12 months or less and are individually of
low value.
(@) (EHEEE (a)  Right-of-use assets
AREBNFEREEENRTDER The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets
FEREEHMT - and the movements during the year are as follows:

2023128318 31 December 2023

F202351H18 As at 1 January 2023 757,320 62,265 2,227 31,676 853,488
= Additions 120,861 40,135 - 30,269 191,265
WEER Depreciation charge (18,594) (46,278) (1,459) (31,443) (97,774)
202312318 Asat 31 December 2023 859,587 56,122 768 30,502 946,979
N
MELH  WENERE B Hity ast
Office
Leasehold premises
land and plant Equipment Others Total

ARBTT  ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
RMB'000 ~ RMB000 ~ RMB000 ~ RMB000  RMB'000

202212 A31H 31 December 2022

20221 A1H As at 1 January 2022 616,667 80,121 2,418 25,036 724,242
NE Additions 156,975 56,097 1,337 34,075 248,484
HEER Depreciation charge (16,322) (73,953) (1,528) (27,435) (119,238)
2022 12A31H  As at 31 December 2022 757,320 62,265 2,227 31,676 853,488
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15. FHE(E)

15.

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

LEASES (continued)

AEBERAABEA(E) The Group as a lessee (continued)
(@) (EHEEEE) (a)  Right-of-use assets (continued)
R2023F12A31H » AEEHEA As at 31 December 2023, the Group was in the process
EREDFE A A RK63,360,0007T of applying for the certificates for land use rights with
(20224 : AR¥1,311,0007T) a net carrying amount of RMB63,360,000 (2022:
A 1= b {5 F 48 IE 72 BR 75 T b (55 AP RMB1,311,000).
T o
(b)) HEEE (b)  Lease liabilities
FRAHEEEENEEDENESE The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
SR movements during the year are as follows:
20224
2022
AREFIT
RMB’000
M A1ERNEREEE Carrying amount at 1 January 99,857 90,025
EAEAY New leases 70,404 91,509
FNFERAFE B0 Accretion of interest
recognised during the year 3,959 5,400
(B Payments (84,940) (87,077)
M12 A31BRERMEE Carrying amount at 31 December 89,280 99,857
DA Analysed into:
BNER Current 58,030 68,678
JERNER Non-current 31,250 31,179

R2028F 11 A + REER &K
ERARMNAETHENXEER
NEBMAEYE - REER
BEHAOEMOEASAEAAR
#51,920,0007T - R4 K A
B AEERREREEERE
EaEARE22,450,0007T ° 7
202312 A31H » AEBER
BHRERARNEEBEESHA
AR #20,530,0007T (2022 4F -
AR #20,530,0007T) °

MEEENIHBE TR B
KU 7R
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In November 2023, the Group renewed the lease in
respect of certain leasehold properties from the ultimate
holding company as office premises. The amount of rent
payable by the Group under the lease is RMB1,920,000
per month. At the commencement date of the lease, the
Group recognised a right-of-use asset and a lease liability
of RMB22,450,000. As at 31 December 2023, the Group
had a lease liability to the ultimate holding company with
a balance of RMB20,530,000 (2022: RMB20,530,000).

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 37 to the financial statements.
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2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

15. HE (&) 15. LEASES (continued)
REBERARBA(E) The Group as a lessee (continued)
(©) RIEBmANERHERR L (c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to
o leases are as follows:
20224
2022
ARBT T
RMB’000
HEBGEFE Interest on lease liabilities 3,959 5,400
FREEEMNITEER Depreciation charge of
right-of-use assets 97,774 119,238
BRSSHATHE - A FHE R Expense relating to short-term leases,
KEBEEENRES variable leases and leases of
BHAMNER low-value assets 192,665 163,312
MBI AR 4258 Total amount recognised in profit or loss 294,398 287,950
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2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

16. B EE 16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2023%F12H31H 31 December 2023

A2023FE1A1H © At 1 January 2023:

B AN Cost 10,042 140,409 6,971 157,422
BT Accumulated amortisation (5,987) (87,686) (5,672) (99,345)
BmEFE Net carrying amount 4,055 52,723 1,299 58,077

2003118 - At 1 January 2023,

FOBR R AT 5 net of accumulated
amortisation 4,055 52,723 1,299 58,077
NE Additions 11,784 15,198 794 27,776
HeE Disposal - (199) - (199)
F R EE Amortisation provided
during the year (1,048) (9,855) (529)  (11,432)

202312 A31H - At 31 December 2023,
IR Rt net of accumulated
amortisation 14,791 57,867 1,564 74,222

MR20235%E12 831 H At 31 December 2023:

B 7S Cost 21,826 155,318 7,765 184,909
R Accumulated amortisation (7,035) (97,451) (6,201) (110,687)
BEEEE Net carrying amount 14,791 57,867 1,564 74,222
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2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

16. BEEE 16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

R K
PRUERT Al 3% LIS EHh aat

Mineral

water

mining

licence Software Others Total
ARBTT ARETRT ARETT ARBTET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2022F12 A31H 31 December 2022

R2022%1 818 © At 1 January 2022

&N Cost 10,042 138,689 6,971 155,702
BN 3 Accumulated amortisation (5,479) (79,781) (5,338) (90,598)
BRMEFE(E Net carrying amount 4,563 58,908 1,633 65,104

H2022%1 418 © At 1 January 2022,

FOBR RETHEESY net of accumulated
amortisation 4,563 58,908 1,633 65,104
NE Additions - 1,720 - 1,720
FNEEHEE Amortisation provided
during the year (508) (7,905) (334) (8,747)
2022512 831H » At 31 December 2022,
PR RETEESY net of accumulated
amortisation 4,055 52,723 1,299 58,077
2022912 A31H : At 31 December 2022:
B AN Cost 10,042 140,409 6,971 157,422
ZEHE Accumulated amortisation (5,987) (87,686) (5,672) (99,345)
BRTEE(E Net carrying amount 4,055 52,723 1,299 58,077
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2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

17. EEBIIE 17. DEFERRED TAX
FRREHEEEZSHUT : The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as
follows:

TAR

BHEAR

EEAR ERBRNN
BLhs BERNE  AEREAN

Losses and

deductions

available for
Accruals offsetting
Impairment and deferred against future  Unrealised
of assets income taxable profits profits Others Total
ARETR ARBTR ARMTR AR%TR AR¥TR AR%TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

720221 A1H At 1 January 2022 10,154 226,031 32,7199 24,106 - 293,090
ERRERERT Deferred tax
ERVAtI: credited/(charged) to
EREHE the statement of
profit or loss
during the year 3835 150184 (16316) 19,020 H32 140015

120220512318 Deferred tax assets at

HEERIBRE 31 December 2022 13,989 376,215 16,483 15,086 11,332 433,106
120235 1R1H At 1 January 2023 13,989 376,215 16,483 15,086 11,332 433,105
FRRBERT Deferred tax

A/ (B8 credited/(charged) to

BRRE the statement of

profit or loss
during the year (3192) 432,355 4,681 56,686 (2302 488228

M2023F12 8311 Deferred tax assets at
MELRAEE 31 December 2023 10,797 808,570 21,164 71,772 9,030 921,333
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2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

17. IEEFIE ()
ERELHBEEZHNT -

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

17. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as
follows:

MR2022%F1 A1H At 1 January 2022 256,508 1,189 257,697
FRNEBRETETAH  Deferred tax credited to the
IERERR IR statement of profit or loss
during the year 9,771) (1,189) (10,960)
A2022F12A31HHE)  Deferred tax liabilities at
EETIBE(E 31 December 2022 246,737 — 246,737
MR2023%F1A1H At 1 January 2023 246,737 - 246,737
FRNIBRRTIBE  Deferred tax charged to the
IEXERR IR statement of profit or loss
during the year 108,619 - 108,619
A2023%F12A31HHE)  Deferred tax liabilities at
EETIBE(E 31 December 2023 355,356 - 355,356

TRARERPBEARAEEENARE
33,456,000 7T (2022 F : A R ¥
37,854,0007T) My B IE 18 (2 E/E18
1R —E BEF R H90 A A 8 R 5k
JER B m A ) B AR #18,129,0007T
(20224 :+ AR#18,133,0007T ) Y A]
HRERNEZREERNELCHREEE -
WARBNBEBE £ K AR4,605,000
JC (20224 : AR #6,724,0007T ) HY
REBEERNELCHRBEEE @ A&
PR HR FA AR S ER 1S B 18 2 A R R 2R B
PRBURF o WARBNFAMEERNA
R #78,842,0007T (20224 : AR
66,568,0007T, ) KI5 18 B 18 T R A IR A
RIEEE  ATERHARIKESREE
B2 REIRRERTEF] o

P A L S A TR S 8 e A H10R G B = R
DEREEEREE -—BERZHBA
8 BT RAH AT RE#S B R B F)
PR SH R TR B 18 e AT R B = AR
B AR EREFELCHRBEE °
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Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of tax losses of RMB33,456,000 (2022: RMB37,854,000)
which will expire in one to five years for offsetting against
future taxable profits and deductible temporary differences of
RMB18,129,000 (2022: RMB18,133,000) arising in Chinese
Mainland. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of tax losses arising in Hong Kong of RMB4,605,000
(2022: RMB6,724,000), that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of tax losses arising in New Zealand of
RMB78,842,000 (2022: RMB66,568,000), that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the above tax losses and deductible temporary differences as
they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for
some time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the tax losses and deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.
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18.

19.

20.

B Rk MiEE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

BE#IEREEE 18. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
20224
2022
AREFIT
RMB’000
M - B MR Prepayments for property,
TERIE plant and equipment 42,831 49,435
FE 19. INVENTORIES
20224
2022
AREFIT
RMB’000
R4k Raw materials 2,342,233 1,520,512
P Work in progress 279,937 249,853
BURK G Finished goods 469,559 338,007
=X Total 3,091,729 2,108,372

HZE2023F12A31HILFE - AEEH
WRF EREARKS,260,0007T (&
E2022F12A31HILFE : AR

16,372,0007T) °

The Group recognised impairment of inventories of
RMB3,260,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 (for the
year ended 31 December 2022: RMB16,372,000).

EZERFIEREREE 20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
20224
2022
AREFIT
RMB’000
B S IE Trade receivables 578,001 508,524
U EE Bills receivable 3,700 574
A Impairment (34,680) (30,511)
547,021 478,587

F Rz 2023 Annual Report
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2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

BEZBRWRERERERE (&)
AEBENRZHEAREERZXMNAN
7o D EREENEREERPK
Sho FEEHAEA—MEA  E2EEK
HERPARERE=[A - BUEP
BERSEERE - AEEZRER
ﬂﬁ*%ﬁﬁ%mﬁuhﬁﬁg

- BHEREEREEEENE
B o X LAIBREARE B 5 &
WHAMERREARSZ TREFA
B ARy ESEXEPNEERR -
ARER B3 S HLE 5 UG IR I R UK

SEEHRTATMER R EMLER
iE%ﬁzZHF° 8 5 R WGOR M R &
REERIGTET RIS, ©

20.

AEEEZERFEREREES
MEKRREWBARZEAEARE
1,682,0007T (20224 = A R #47,000
TL(REIER AT R AR 2,755,000
T(RREMBRR)) « EIRERARER
FERFPRHEMNEEGRTBUNGR

88 -

BEREPRENERE BB RMGE

20.

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group’s trading terms are mainly cash before delivery,
except for direct sale customers where credits are granted.
The credit period is generally one month, extending up to
three months for major direct sale customers. Each customer
has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact
that the Group’s trade and bills receivables related to various
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration
of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over its trade and bills receivable
balances. The balances of trade and bills receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

Included in the Group’s trade and bills receivables are
amounts due from fellow subsidiaries of RMB1,682,000
(2022: RMB47,000 from the ultimate holding company and
RMB2,755,000 from fellow subsidiaries), which are repayable
on credit terms similar to those offered to the major customers
of the Group.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the

BEENE FENIE N EWNZER end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net
EEONTIAT ¢ of loss allowance, is as follows:

20224
2022
AREFIT
RMB’000
90E A Within 90 days 506,235 440,293
91£180H 91 to 180 days 28,158 17,890
181%365H 181 to 365 days 12,628 20,404
547,021 478,587

190/ mXWLRBHHRAT NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

3 2028 Annual Report



20.

B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

BEZBRWRERERERE (&)

B SR IEREEREREENZ S
T

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

20224F
2022
ARBTF T
RMB’000
F4 At beginning of year 30,511 33,945
WME, CRERE) Impairment/(write-back of impairment)
E1EFE8 losses, net 4,169 (3,434)
TR At end of year 34,680 30,511

AREERAEGOEHEEBR T B HRE
ERIFSRAMMENEMEEER - &
AFARABEZREFIAER A
HMEEREEE -

JE W R B 3 1 SR 1T 1 HARR PO R AR 1 3%
MEVIRTTALRE - BXTEREK
SERER BRI

FREABEREETREDNT - A
AFEESRUGANEHREEES -
BEXDERABRUBEEANZS
%P AR B H A BEEE - %
AERRTERINEER  BREHE
BEARFERAESHNBARBES
& AT B R AR AR FEORI Y
BELAXFHER

BEREMERARDHFRRBEEN
B YW EERK @A RE - NEE
WA B SRR - AEETER
BREERZEZERER M ZHFE
WEBHIDEARERF - UREH
I o
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The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the
use of the lifetime expected credit loss provision for all trade
receivables.

Bills receivable are bank acceptance bills that are
unconditionally accepted by banks within the maturity period,
and there is no loss allowance for impairment of bills receivable.

An impairment analysis is performed at year end using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at year end about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

The Group writes off trade receivables when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial
difficulties and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. The
Group also takes into account legal advice where appropriate,
e.g. when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, whichever occurs
sooner.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

20. ESRBWFEAREWRREE(R)

ATESBRASEE 5 WA
REERENEERRNER

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

20234 2023
90HA Within 90 days 3.52% 520,886 18,352
91£E180H 91 to 180 days 13.64% 32,605 4,447
181E365H 181 to 365 days 44.36% 22,698 10,069
365H A £ Over 365 days 100.00% 1,812 1,812
578,001 34,680
TRHIEEEEE FRE&E TRHEEEE
Expected credit Gross Expected
20224F 2022 loss rate carrying amount credit losses
ARETTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
90H N Within 90 days 1.19% 445,036 5,317
91£180H 91 to 180 days 11.06% 20,114 2,225
181&2365H 181 to 365 days 45.47% 37,421 17,016
365H Over 365 days 100.00% 5,953 5,953
508,524 30,511

192 / BXWLRBHHRAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

21. FENRE - HEWRFERE 21. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

fb&EE OTHER ASSETS
20224
2022
ARBTFT
RMB’000
YT ER BN B Prepayments to suppliers 255,530 198,854
We N H M EWGRIE Deposits and other receivables 106,228 82,061
AR Prepaid expenses 209,118 124,345
FE U RE B 5 ik TE Amounts due from related parties 897 7,237
] Y [o] 1% (& Fit Value added tax recoverable 109,122 93,411
A EIE TSR Corporate income tax recoverable 17,993 56,351
698,888 562,259
EEE Impairment losses (4,110) (1,952)
694,778 560,307
FFAARSE AN FIE « HEfbEWEIE Included in the Group’s prepayments, other receivables
N E A& B R A IR AR A B 2 and other assets are amounts due from the ultimate holding
FEWR R B R RRES B AARE company and fellow subsidiaries of RMB474,000 (2022:
474,0007T (20224 = A R# 327,000 RMB327,000) and RMB423,000 (2022: RMB6,910,000),
70) M AR ¥423,0007T (20224 + A respectively, which are recoverable within one year.
#6,910,0007T) » FEEHE —F A
BIEEE

44§ 2028 Annual Report RXIWRBHHRAT NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD. /193



Bt #% R & ML (48) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

21. JAEE - EEWEIERE 21. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

ftb & = (%) OTHER ASSETS (continued)
H b e W SR IE (B B B B Y B E) 5 The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of other
T - receivables are as follows:
20224
2022
AREFT
RMB’000
F1) At beginning of year 1,952 2,667
HE CRUERE)EEIEEE  Impairment/(write-back of impairment)
losses, net 2,158 (715)
FxR At end of year 4,110 1,952
EBARSEF ATBNRIEA - HitERK The information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s
HEMEMEENESREEEERR financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
BERHR BRI SR E ST other assets is disclosed in note 37 to the financial statements.
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

22 EHISRTEZRBELREITE 22. LONG-TERM BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND

BLUUNEHER BANK BALANCES AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS
20224
2022
AREFIT
RMB’000
RHERITER Long-term bank deposits 1,510,722 4,101,670
FITHS Cash at bank 3,864,789 7,821,114
RHESRITIER Short-term bank deposits 20,260,421 7,390,042
Re MIRTTHH Cash and bank balances 24,125,210 15,211,156
BHIRENR Pledged Deposits 2,677 3,059
REBITFARIRES RBRITEHRUR The long-term bank deposits and cash and bank balances and
EREFA T EBEE - pledged deposits are denominated in the following currencies:
20224
2022
ARBT T
RMB’000
REARITIE R Long-term bank deposits
AR RMB 1,510,722 4,101,670
HE MIBTTEBIAN Cash and bank balances and
BT pledged deposits
AR RMB 19,355,092 10,745,716
EH USb 3,353,175 3,136,056
BIT HKD 1,418,718 1,331,879
HAth Others 902 564
A&t Total 25,638,609 19,315,885
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2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

2 RPEBTEIRIRRELER
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FHERE

202312 A31H » H#HERA
R#2677,00070 (20224F : AR
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22.

23.

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

LONG-TERM BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND
BANK BALANCES AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS
(continued)

Cash and bank balances earn interest at floating rates
based on daily bank deposit rates. Bank deposits are made
for varying periods of between one month and three years
depending on the cash management of the Group, and
earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates. The bank
balances and deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks
with no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of the
cash and cash balances approximate to their fair values.

As at 31 December 2023, the pledged deposits of
RMB2,677,000 (2022: RMB3,059,000) represented deposits
for letters of credit which are non-interest-bearing cash
deposits paid to commercial banks for purchasing equipment
and will be returned upon the completion of such activities.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

Trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and normally
settled on terms of within 90 days.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end
of the year, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

20224

2022

ARBT T

RMB’000

90E X Within 90 days 1,598,162 1,355,022
91%180H 91 to 180 days 130,883 39,266
1812365H 181 to 365 days 28,910 11,055
—FE Over 1 year 12,143 19,726
1,770,098 1,425,069

féi%)*ﬁ%ﬁ\ﬁ&ﬁﬁ%%%ﬁﬁpmﬁﬁﬁ%
BB AR MARMNBATRELSA
K #1,517,0007T (20224 : &) & A
R #23,263,0007T (20224 : AR#
14,763,0007T) i’ﬂi%ﬂ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ < TEHE
N BFRO0B WIEE
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Included in the trade and bills payables are amounts due
to the ultimate holding company and fellow subsidiaries
of RMB1,517,000 (2022: Nil) and RMB23,263,000 (2022:
RMB14,763,000), which are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable within 90 days.
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24.

B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

HttEARER BB

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

20224
2022
B5E AREFIT
Note RMB’000
e Deposits 0] 2,038,031 1,612,491

BEWE MEFER Payables for purchase of plant and
FERTRIA equipment 1,077,716 1,452,507
BT TENEMNER Staff payroll and welfare payables 1,753,949 643,900
FEztF Y Accrued expenses 1,004,717 940,052
JE T SEEHTH0 KR T Sales discount and rebate payables 2,613,658 1,087,341
KR FTS T AYNEY FERTRRIE  Tax payable other than income tax 628,567 559,004
& 1<F BB S 75 SRR Amounts due to related parties 1,175 1,997
Hitb Others 171,170 208,528
9,288,983 6,505,820

Bt s Note:

(i) HeT2RMEHB R T HRhEER
B UER kAR 1 2 A B 1 OL AR 3R BRI 7K
Enfz -

HAi 7 E MR E AT E o

HEN B REAERTRNEMN &
YRR A RIFIA A AR 1,175,000
(2022%F : &R AR Z LA
MR RN B 25 ARE1,997,000
TL)  ZEFBAEEE  THERA
R—FREE -

F Rz 2023 Annual Report

(

) Deposits are mainly deposits for refrigerators charged to distributors
and downstream points of sale as well as deposits for the 19L
bottled drinking water products.

Other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing.

Included in other payables and accruals were amounts due
to the ultimate holding company of RMB1,175,000 (2022: Nil
to the ultimate holding company and RMB1,997,000 to fellow
subsidiaries), which are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
within 1 year.
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Bt #% R & ML (48) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

25. EHEE 25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
20224
2022
AREF T
RMB’000
BEREFTERNRK Advance received from customers 3,584,921 2,677,190
AEBMEHEBEETERANHKRIE Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arose from advance
HERFEEMENTANRIEA - FTH payments made by customers while the goods have not been
RENEEREHBE—MBEIRARKI2 provided. All carried forward contract liabilities at the beginning
18 A iR i o of the year were usually recognised as revenue in the next 12
months.
26. ;TEEE 26. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
2000F
2022
ERFIE(%) HERE  AR%TR
Effective
interest

rate (%) Maturity RMB'000

Bl Current
BITER-EEA Bank loans - unsecured 3.10 2024 100,119 3.10 2023 100,087
AftfEE-RER Other borrowings
- unsecured 0.90-2.98 2024 3,020,500 0.90-2.75 2023 2,325,006
3,120,619 2,425,093
FIBF BEBEAARBERER All interest-bearing borrowings are denominated in Renminbi
FREE - and repayable within one year.
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

27. EEW s 27. DEFERRED INCOME
20224
2022
ARBTFT
RMB’000
B BD Government grants 303,061 291,420
FAREENESHMERNT Movements in government grants of the Group during the year
are as follows:
20224
2022
ARBTT
RMB’000
== )| At beginning of year 291,420 264,550
2B B Government grants received 32,146 52,669
SFAFERIERE Credited to the statement of profit or loss
during the year (20,505) (25,799)
FR At end of year 303,061 291,420
AEEREELH  BELKREEE The Group received government grants for capital expenditure
MEAT DESBUSHEE - ZE 5B incurred for leasehold land, plant and equipment. The amounts
AR E E (L ET Rl (2 A F BRI IE are deferred and amortised over the estimated useful lives of
NS - the respective assets.
28. B 28. SHARE CAPITAL
20224
2022
AREF T
RMB’000
BEETREST - Issued and fully paid:
11,246,466,400% (20224 : 11,246,466,400 (2022: 11,246,466,400)
11,246,466,400/% ) 38 % ordinary shares 1,124,647 1,124,647
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2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

29. BT REHEGE
202291 4148 BHAMERERE X
EEZBA AR HEME TRE
ENET B ([ 358l ) - UBBE A E
B EEETNRREREEEZEA
EE A B OREITER - BIE)A
EENES EEMET : URGHE
EHHIEE M EPEHASEB M E
REMNBEEBRAGAREWBR
RAI([EEEER]) —THENETL -
ZAt RSB RMB R T ERmARR

REMZTE - ARRRFERERIE
AEBEASBLE=7)ERXE
A BEBRRITHERBSARXSE
B AR A BIHRRAE A AR A2 2R

BIEZATEINARR  ARRESGE
FEBAT(ERLUREBRHERARE—
HE TS B s 2B B A ) RCOE
KILRBHAERAGE —HE T
BT B T 5 %) » 6,636,4001E %
PR Il HAR BE AT ([ S2PR S AR 1D BEAT 1) 7
2022F3A29H (I TFHHEERTE
H108%FTEI2HE - ERBEEMAR
NAREEE(FES B EE 108,000
190,800 1 5 BR Il J% {5 BE iz ) W 4 A~
NEIEEE (SR 5% 99,0001E %
RHIMHEMN) —ZBEEEEET
(ZEI D BH2023F1 AMALREHR)
(39,600 1E 52 R Il % 19 B iz ) K% 1034
AEBE 8 T (E#:6,200,0001E 5 B3
fEIDEEAL) -

BRYERAEETHAI20@EERS
HARQAHRKEESERHI0% °
At - %108 G582 BEHBREE
ESZRH D EMI32BTTHE T
6,636,400 & 5 PR &l f% 17 B8 7 {E 1 &
£ife
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

29. EMPLOYEE SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

As approved in the extraordinary general meeting held on
14 January 2022, the Company has adopted the Employee
Share Incentive Scheme (the “Scheme”) to incentivize
management personnel and core technical experts who play
an important role in the Group’s business performance and
future development, including (i) the Directors, Supervisors
and employees of the Group; and (ii) certain number of
employees of Yangshengtang Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the
“Yangshengtang Group”) who make significant contributions
to the Group in the projects and co-operations between
the Group and Yangshengtang Group. The Scheme will be
effective for ten years from the adoption date.

In order to operate the Scheme, the Company entrusted
a qualified agent, an independent third party, to act as the
trustee with the H Shares of the Company which were acquired
through on-market transactions at the prevailing market price as
the source of award shares.

Pursuant to the rules of the Scheme, the Board of the
Company approved the “Administrative Measures for the First
Tranche of the Employee Share Incentive Scheme of Nongfu
Spring Co., Ltd.” and the “Grant Proposal for the First Tranche
of the Employee Share Incentive Scheme of Nongfu Spring
Co., Ltd.”, 6,636,400 restricted H Share units (the “RSUs”)
were then granted to a total of 108 scheme participants on 29
March 2022 (the “Grant Date”), including two current directors
of the Company (108,000 and 90,800 RSUs to each of them),
two supervisors of the Company (99,000 RSUs to each of
them), one employee of Yangshengtang Group (the employee
had joined the Group since January 2023) (39,600 RSUs) and
103 employees of the Group (the remaining 6,200,000 RSUs).

The grant price was 30% of the average closing price of the
Company’s H Shares in the 120 Hong Kong trading days
immediately prior to the Grant Date. Thus, the 108 scheme
participants then paid for the grant of 6,636,400 RSUs based
on HKD183.22 per RSU.
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

29. ETRERETEI(E) 29. EMPLOYEE SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME
(continued)
BIEZGETEH TSRS B E The granted RSUs under the Scheme shall be vested, subject
BIEEA RAKNA T FRITIZATER to the performance of the individual and the Company,
B according to the following schedule:
BBt
BETH EEAH Vesting
Vesting arrangement Vesting date percentage
F—HIRE R2022F 4 A&k —AR 5 A 40%
First tranche vesting Last trading day in April 2022
£ _HRE M2023F4 ARE— A 5 H 30%
Second tranche vesting Last trading day in April 2023
FEHRE M2024F4 A —AR S A 30%
Third tranche vesting Last trading day in April 2024
FARIBZTEIHITEIINIRGD AT The following shares were outstanding under the Scheme

during the year:

EEAFEROHE
Number of shares held by Trustee
REFAEN 20235 20235
il RE e 1B FRBE  FhBE  FhRk 128318
Share price
as at Asat  Granted Vested  Forfeited  Asat31
the dateof ~ Exercise 1January duringthe duringthe duringthe December
Date of grant grant price 2023 year year year 2023
BT B
HKD HKD
20223 /29H 29 March 2022 39.80 1822 3,982,216 - (1,708,200) (387,808 1,886,208
FR - AEEBRRBROINTAIA During the year, the Group recognised share-based payment
K ¥ 25,857,000 7T, (2022 %F : A R expenses of RMB25,857,000 (2022: RMB101,793,000),
#101,793,0007C) *+ & R B 15 H W including expenses of RMB1,015,000 and RMB862,000 (2022:
E¥N/NGTE- =Sl B NN =08 1= Nil and RMB3,036,000) in relation to two directors and two
AR X AR®1,015000T B AR supervisors of the Company.

#862,0007T (20224 : T AR
3,036,0007T) ©
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2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

30. f#fB
REBHEEESER SR TER
ENGAEXEBHE2Y -

(@) ZEERE

BEFEARKMBERARE @
Bl AR A E TR EFEA
10%E BT LTEHE  EEMHB
M 2FHERED QR FEMEAR
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SETE R AR A 2T E
BEIEMARMEMER  EE
BN B R BB AR
RORIEE.

(b) EXGEE
AEBNERNFHBREZLERA
AR RE BRI AER H AU
IR RE ER D o

) ERKRBREE
KB REERGRERDEE
HHEASEZEETRAEI
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B o

d) KROZSREE
Bin X EE R AR B2
DRE)NFE - FRMBHREM
2 AR A Z G FECR -

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

30. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity in the financial statements.

(a)

(b)

()

(d)

202/ BRXWRKHHRAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the companies in the PRC are
required to allocate 10% of the statutory after tax profits
to the statutory reserve until the cumulative total of
the reserve reaches 50% of the companies’ registered
capital. Subject to the approval of the relevant PRC
authorities, the statutory reserve may be used to offset
any accumulated losses or increase the registered capital
of the companies. The statutory reserve is not available
for dividend distribution to shareholders of the PRC
subsidiaries.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents the
contribution from the ultimate holding company and
shareholders and the excess of the consideration over
the carrying amount of the non-controlling interests
acquired.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve represents exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations whose functional
currencies are different from the Group’s presentation
currency.

Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve comprises the fair
value of shares awarded which are yet to be vested, as
further explained in the accounting policy for share-based
payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements.
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

GERERERME 31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS

(@ FEFBREXRS (@) Major non-cash transactions

FR - ALERBEERRESF
REEENEEAENIEES
#h0 A R #70,404,0007T (2022
&+ AR¥91,509,0007T) °

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB70,404,000
(2022: RMB91,509,000) in respect of lease agreements.

(b) BMEETHELEMEEEH (b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities
202241 A1H At 1 January 2022 2,500,108 90,025
MEREREL Changes from financing cash flows (74,994) (81,677)
AL New leases - 91,509
I 230 Accretion of interest 70,628 5,400
DEERER LB TEEH Interest paid classified as operating
EATFLE cash flows (70,649) (5,400)
R2022F12A31H At 31 December 2022 2,425,093 99,857
202351 A1H At 1 January 2023 2,425,093 99,857
BEREREF Changes from financing cash flows 695,494 (80,981)
A New leases - 70,404
I 230 Accretion of interest 95,776 3,959
DERINERERSREN Interest paid classified as operating
ERFE cash flows (95,744) (3,959)
#2023F12A31H At 31 December 2023 3,120,619 89,280
5} 2023 Annual Report BXRWREHBHRAS] NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.
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31. ZERESRERME(HE) 31.

(c) HERERHAHE
ReRERTHHERSRHA

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the

EER(I N statement of cash flows is as follows:
20224F
2022
AREF T
RMB’000
KEEEN Within operating activities 196,624 168,712
WEEHNAN Within investing activities 120,861 156,975
RVEEEIN Within financing activities 80,981 81,677
398,466 407,364
32. HREE 32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
R2023F 2 2022F12 A31H » AEE As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group did not have
WEARERNNAEE ° any significant contingent liabilities.
33. EEEH 33. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
AEEEEDGHNFBIRN I BHRE Details of the Group’s pledged of assets are included in note
fizEo2 o 22 to the financial statements.
34. A 34. COMMITMENTS

REBNIREAREE TINEAAEGE

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end
of the reporting period:

20224
2022
ARBFIT
RMB’000
MEBEME - WENREE Contracted, but not provided for purchase
REIESIEICE SE: 3 of property, plant and equipment 4,436,852 1,541,928

204/ BXWRBHHARAT NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

35. BEARE 35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(@) BRI HREM FE15F1297 & 41 (@) Inaddition to the transactions detailed in notes 15 and 29
AR ZON + AREER A F 5 to the financial statements, the Group had the following
R T ETHIR G T - transactions with related parties during the year:
20224
2022
B3 AREFT
Notes RMB’000
mEE T E L REEE Sales to related parties
ESER AR The ultimate holding company:
HEEM Sales of products 0] 1,639 1,568
RIEARTS Provision of services (i) 11,528 4,327
EESHEASIE Fellow subsidiaries:
THE A m Sales of products 0] 12,717 21,654
RHRS Provision of services 19,837 7,999
45,721 35,548
ERk iR Purchases/services provide by
RS related parties
SRR AR The ultimate holding company:
BEEmM Purchase of products 0] 34 -
Z AR Receipt of services (i) 44,469 38,887
EHAth Others (iii 244 -
RERMEAF : Fellow subsidiaries:
BEED Purchase of products* () 267,117 235,209
Y U R %™ Receipt of services* (ii) 89,422 212,462
Ht Others (il 30,470 -
431,756 486,558
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

35. BEARS (&) 35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

() FYERERME15F0207 7 48
SREARZ SO - ARE B AF R
BB TR ST - (8)

Wi

0) HERM T M E B IREEAE
Bl ety NIV AT ES )
AR ZRAEERITHEET

BERBERDE  AEEF
B REIERA R RE RN E
ARIEEREREMASHRE
HE B ARKE34,000 AR
#262,094,0007T (20224 = =
N AR #223,261,0007T) °

(i) BIEREERBERGZE - HE
BEEAERIERARSZNE
A A R 6,811,000 7T ( 2022
F: AR®4,835,0007T) - EF
Z2BEAMTEET -

BIEGRE RBERGZ @ 124t
TRBEEEERYE  ATER
REEEMBEHEEEAR
% 25,358,000 7T (2022 F : A
R#26,197,0007T) B ¥ {7 F &
BIZERAR c NEEERB R
HihEBERBHEREBARYE
4,463,0007C (20224 « AR
148,0007T ) B 3% 1 T A Z M &8
AFE  BRERKAMKSE
EE -

RIRTAFERGZ BRIk
BEBRRARINTIBARE
7,400,000 7T (20224 = AR #
7,855,0007T) « 2RENAEE
ERHAPHFAEMNERKA
EBE - BoRMREIERAA]
KB ZEMTE A R 2 FITE R KR
78 AR ¥ 4,900,0007T (2022
&F )R AR 12,388,000
(20224 : A R #113,963,000
TL) o FARBWEEIER QAT
EE b MR B A R 13,546,000
TC(20224F : #) o ITEf &R
BHOWRE 2B ERIRITHE
EETE ©
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(a)

In addition to the transactions detailed in notes 15 and 29
to the financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year:
(continued)

Notes:

(i) The sales to and purchases from related parties were made
according to the prevailing market price with the Group’s
ultimate holding company and fellow subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the purchasing framework agreement, the Group
purchased from the ultimate holding company and fellow
subsidiaries bottle caps and other products for vending
machines of RMB34,000 and RMB262,094,000 (2022: Nil
and RMB223,261,000) during the year.

(i) Pursuant to the advertising service framework agreement,
expenses of RMB6,811,000 (2022: RMB4,835,000)
were paid to the ultimate holding company for media
advertisements. The charge was determined with reference
to the prevailing market price.

Pursuant to the comprehensive service framework
agreement, management fees of RMB25,358,000 (2022:
RMB26,197,000) for providing engineering project
management service, personnel management service, and
other services were paid to the ultimate holding company.
Management fees of RMB4,463,000 (2022: RMB148,000)
for personnel management service and other operating
services were paid to the fellow subsidiaries. The charge was
determined using the cost plus method.

Pursuant to the IT cooperation framework agreement,
licensing fees of RMB7,400,000 were paid to the ultimate
holding company (2022:RMB7,855,000), determined with
reference to actual costs calculated based on the number of
the Group’s users of each software. IT products and service
fees of RMB4,900,000(2022: Nil) and RMB12,388,000(2022:
RMB113,963,000) were paid to ultimate holding company
and fellow subsidiaries respectively. IT products and service
fees of RMB3,546,000 (2022: Nil) were received from
ultimate holding company during the year. The IT products
and services charge were determined with reference to the
prevailing market price.
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

35. MEARRZ (&)

(@)

(b)

(©

% BA 75 SR R B 5 158129 7R = 4
SREARZ SO - ARE B AF R
BB TR ST - (8)

s« ()

(i) (%)

1R PR B T A 2 R %R AR S AE 4R
ek - EREAREHAERRER
5% Ko R A R B E R R A IR 7S
MERANBRARSZNEAAR
¥72,671,0007T (20224 : AR
#98,351,0007T) » B A AK
IR ARETE ©

iy WMEEEEZHZE  AEER
FREZRIZEBRARKRZN
BRREE AR244,0007T &
AR #30,470,0007T (20224 :
TRT)NME - BEREEN
NERAE -

i BT 5 IR DR8I
AT R 2 BRSBTS
25 BERBTHEREFEHRER
75 -

FEBTEEEASHMH

AEETIBZERASHHM(RE
EEWe) BN
9 -

i RIEE MBI S A 8

NES B R T N SR A HIR A
B 5 &R B R E R M B R M
5¥15 2021~ 23824 -
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31 December 2023

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

In addition to the transactions detailed in notes 15 and 29
to the financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year:
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ii) (continued)
Pursuant to the basic research and development (“R&D”)
and test service framework agreement, expenses of
RMB72,571,000 (2022: RMB98,351,000) were paid to
fellow subsidiaries for the basic beverage R&D services and
raw material and product test services. The charge was
determined using the cost-plus method.

(iii) Pursuant to the asset transfer agreement, the Group
purchased from the ultimate holding company and fellow
subsidiaries property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets of RMB244,000 and RMB30,470,000 (2022:Nil and
Nil) during the year.

Certain of the above related party transactions also constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and their details are
disclosed in the Report of the Directors.

Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group
Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group, which comprises the remuneration of
the directors, is disclosed in note 9 to the financial
statements.

Outstanding balances with related parties

Details of the Group’s trade balances with its related
parties as at the end of each reporting period are
disclosed in notes 15, 20, 21, 23 and 24 to the financial
statements.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

36. RERESHNERMTIEA 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
NEREEKR  SHEASH T AENE The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
HEIT : instruments as at the end of each reporting period are as

follows:
20234 2023
TREE Financial assets
2 S EWEIE R EWRE Trade and bills receivables 547,021
T ATERFRIA  H b fE WA & Financial assets included in
EMEEMNERmERE prepayments, other receivables and
other assets 103,015
Re MIRTTEE Cash and bank balances 24,125,210
ERTFR Pledged deposits 2,677
RERRITIF K Long-term bank deposits 1,510,722
26,288,645
TRIAE Financial liabilities
B SR FIBARENEE Trade and bills payables 1,770,098
ST AH M FE R I K2 Financial liabilities included in other
Bt ERANTRIAE payables and accruals 4,292,809
ATEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 3,120,619
HEAE Lease liabilities 89,280
9,272,806
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36.

B Rk MiEE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

RERESHNEHMITAE)

REREPR - FEFISBRTANK
mENT : (&)

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of each reporting period are as
follows: (continued)

20224 2022
TRIEE Financial assets
R KA =8
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
ARBT T
RMB’000
2 S W EOE R E R Trade and bills receivables 478,587
ESTATENFRIA - EAthEWGRIA R Financial assets included in
EMEENTRIBE prepayments, other receivables and
other assets 87,346
R & RIRTTEERR Cash and bank balances 15,211,156
EHER Pledged deposits 3,059
RARITIFR Long-term bank deposits 4,101,670
19,881,818
THEE Financial liabilities
RESER NG 2R
TRAE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
AREFIT
RMB’000
2 5 B 2N0E R R 4 Trade and bills payables 1,425,069
STAHMERRIE R ETE R Financial liabilities included in other
SRBE payables and accruals 4,215,575
HTEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 2,425,093
HEaRE Lease liabilities 99,857
8,165,594
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37. cREREEEERBEK

BROTET AN  AEENEZERMT
ABRMHEARE EEE BHER
RITEBARRRRITER - ZF2
BMTANTIZENRAAEENEE
BHED  ARENEBEEERE
EZREGEREENREE 18
JE W R IR N B M SR DA B B 5 B 3K
BN ENRE -

K’ElinﬂIEFiﬁ’JIRﬂ R EIE
INERR - EERRERBE SR
% o %%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂiﬁf%&’ﬁuﬁ
BRERRE - EBMAT -

REEBEBITE T AN BEREARN
B mARHIE2.4 ©

SRS

RELE2023F 12 A31HILEFE - K&
BB INESTERRITRS - WK
THRSBEEHMO(EEAETRE
TL)EEHERIIME RS o SN R Fg 2Rk B LA
%E&/ﬁﬁg+fﬁmﬁi&$ETTl‘\mﬁﬁ

R2023% 202212 A31H » AR
%ﬂﬁm%ﬁﬁiﬁﬁf KA R R & ISR
TR IR IRB N M FE22 -
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise lease liabilities, interest-bearing
borrowings, cash and bank balances and long-term bank
deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is
to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade and
bills receivables and trade and bills payables, which arise
directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board
of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of
these risks and they are summarised below.

The Group’s accounting policies in relation to derivatives are
set out in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

Foreign currency risk

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had
cash at banks denominated in foreign currencies and was
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to USD and HKD. Foreign
exchange risk arises from cash and bank balances in USD and
HKD.

Details of long-term bank deposits and cash and bank
balances denominated in RMB as at 31 December 2023 and
2022 are disclosed in note 22.
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in RMB against USD or HKD, the
foreign currencies with which the Group may have a material
exposure. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated financial instruments and adjusts

their translation at the end of each reporting period for a 5%
change in foreign currency rates.

20234 2023
AR N ZETSBITIE  If RMB weakens against USD or HKD
—%7T -UsD 167,659 125,744
—BTT - HKD 57,871 43,403
HMARKE Y ZTsAITAE  If RMB strengthens against USD or HKD
—%7T -UsD (167,659) (125,744)
— BT - HKD (57,871) (43,403)
B A5 B4 i
#nSCrA) 38 Crid)
Increase/
(decrease) Increase/
in profit (decrease)
before tax in equity
ARETFT ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
20224 2022
MARBEEETHAEITIZE  If RMB weakens against USD or HKD
—%7T -UsD 156,639 117,479
—#&TT - HKD 66,437 49,828
AR HETSHHETIE  If RMB strengthens against USD or HKD
—%7T -USD (156,639) (117,479)
— BT - HKD (66,437) (49,828)
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37. SREREREBERBEKGE)

FERR
AEEERMEBAEERENFE =T
EIRS - AEENBERE  FTE#H
PUEEGRETRSNEFLHAE
STEERERR o U - BHRUYGK
BEREREEERE RIS
MAKE R ERRBRIL NEX

RN F R
TREFP12ANBEREAEEEZE
BER(EZENBEER - BRIEBEM
AN HIBZRALE NI EED
BB EEEEREREERBIAR
FREEDE - 2HNEEATRE
EMERmAE -

2023512831 H

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, trade and bills receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to
bad debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2023

& S E Trade receivables*
[EREE Blills receivable
FTATEN R - Financial assets included
HEEREIER in prepayments, other
HiEENSR receivables and other
BE assets
—EE™ — Normal*
BRER Pledged Deposits
— R HE - not yet past due
Re RiBITER Cash and bank balances
— K@ - not yet past due
REFITER Long-term bank deposits
—REH — not yet past due

212/ BRXURKHHRAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

- - - 578,001 578,001

3,700 - - - 3,700
107,125 - - - 107,125
2,677 - - - 2,677
24,125,210 - - - 24,125,210
1,510,722 - - - 1,510,722
25,749,434 - - 578,001 26,327,435
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B Rk MiEE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

37. EREREERRREK(E)

FERRGE)

REEERFAREE (E)

R2022F12 A31H

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)
As at 31 December 2022

12187
HHEEER 2HEREEER
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
R FERE F=RER HHez3 At
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total

ARETT  ARBTR AREBTT ARBTT ARETE
RMB'000 ~ RMB'OO0 ~ RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000

B oM
i ES
SEABMHE -
H it EURTIA R
HitEENER
— Ev‘%‘w*
BRER
— Ko
ReRFTHEA
—RaH
RARTER
—KaH

Trade receivables”

Bills receivable

Financial assets included
in prepayments, other
receivables and other
assets
- Normal*™

Pledged Deposits
—not yet past due

Cash and bank balances
- not yet past due

Long-term bank deposits
—not yet past due

* RAEERAMCEATERENESE
WHRIBME @« 2R REEBHEREE
B REMIFE20 ©

- ERATENFOR - Rt EERGCA R A
BER D EVE I A B 0 A R
TEREEB B RERARZ EERR

ERE LT

HEREZHEAIE

BB eREENERERBR

RIA&E] »
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- - - 508,524 508,524

574 - - - 574
89,298 - - - 89,298
3,059 - - - 3,059
15,211,156 - - - 15211156
4,101,670 - - - 4,101,670
19,405,757 - - 508,524 19,914,281

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is
disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements.

* The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal”
when they are not past due and there is no information indicating
that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

37. tREREEEERBER(E) 37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

RENE SR Liquidity risk

AEBETVHBAEEEEERE The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
EHMIRE NIBESEBYKTE - BK equivalents deemed adequate by the management of the
CEHREES U HBIRESRERE Group to finance the operations and mitigate the effects of
VR o fluctuations of cash flows.

REEBNRSHERROS B ERE The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at

5 AB LRI AEE)INT ¢ the end of each reporting period, based on the contractual

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

20234 2023
FFEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 8,121,292 = - 3,121,292
B 5 ENFIE R Trade and bills payables
AN 1,770,098 - - 1,770,098
T AEMPERMFIE K Financial liabilities included
FEETERAMN SR in other payables and
aE accruals 4,292,809 - - 4,292,809
HEAaE Lease liabilities 61,223 42,167 - 103,390
9,245,422 42,167 - 9,287,589
DR—F —EhRF AEFE At
Less than 1to Over
20224 2022 1 year 5 years 5 years Total
ARETT ARBTT AREBTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AFEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 2,425,798 - - 2,425,798
B H NN Trade and bills payables
NS 1,425,069 - - 1,425,069
sFAHMERFIE K Financial liabilities included
et ERN SR in other payables and
BfE accruals 4,215,575 - - 4215575
HEAaE Lease liabilities 71,232 41,924 - 113,156

8,137,674 41,924 - 8,179,508
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

TREREEBERBEEK(E)

BEXER

AEBEREENTIR BERERA
SEFERLENRE N AR GRRED
BERLEE  AXBEEBRBERF
BHAEE -

AEEZELBENRREICRABBEEE
KRR SRR B IR B AR
FEEAE - BIERGARERER -

AEFEFREHABI A TFREMNRE
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TNZEMINBERRBHIFL R o F

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to

A AEBENEAEEGR - KK any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were

BFEAREEEL - made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the year.

REBRBERBELXRE “éZ]K The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is debt

AL RREBRIARAEE RS
EREEFEEEAREEAE - ﬁ
RIERRRIHA ARIERERD - NS

divided by the adjusted capital. Debt includes interest-bearing
borrowings and lease liabilities. Capital represents equity
attributable to owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as at

HRNERBELZRNT ¢ the end of the reporting periods were as follows:
2022%
2022
ARBT T
RMB’000
EEE Interest-bearing borrowings 3,120,619 2,425,093
HEaRE Lease liabilities 89,280 99,857
& Debt 3,209,899 2,524,950
N AR AR Equity attributable to owners of the parent 28,570,905 24,084,076
BERE G E Gearing ratio 11.2% 10.5%
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

38. RDFMBARRE

BRANHREBARAR B FHAR KR
BRESIIT

20224
2022
ARBT T
RMB’000
FREBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
ME - BB NEEE Property, plant and equipment 908,940 1,171,091
FRAEEE Right-of-use assets 49,195 54,826
B EE Intangible assets 7,831 51,522
R B A RIMIKE Investments in subsidiaries 2,202,930 2,129,064
RIEF IR & B Deferred tax assets 358,667 187,021
RHRTER Long-term bank deposits 1,510,722 4,101,670
HMIERBEE Other non-current assets 2,614 3,566
EREEELEE Total non-current assets 5,040,899 7,698,760
REEE CURRENT ASSETS
FE Inventories 50,281 45,788
Z S rEWZRIB R N EE Trade and bills receivables 143,218 100,935
TEftERTE - b EYWGRTE K. Prepayments, other receivables and
HihEE other assets 15,758,125 9,818,529
R RIRITES Cash and bank balances 17,151,642 15,158,999
B A E AR Total current assets 33,103,266 25,124,251
REAE CURRENT LIABILITIES
B EMNBRENERE Trade and bills payables 3,239,646 2,567,863
TEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 100,119 100,087
HipENZBE L ESER Other payables and accruals 3,342,450 2,306,587
BHAEE Contract liabilities 4,717,280 4,654,851
HEBE Lease liabilities 31,455 36,186
R FRIE Tax payables 726,195 712,774
mEAEEEE Total current liabilities 12,157,145 10,378,348
REBEEFH NET CURRENT ASSETS 20,946,121 14,745,903
BEERRBEMRE TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES 25,987,020 22,444,663
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38. ADFMIAMRRE ()

B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (continued)
BREARIREBARAND BT KA Information about the statement of financial position of the
BRI - (8) Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
(continued)
20224F
2022
ARBT T
RMB’000
ERBARG NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
FIEW = Deferred income - 177
TR E Deferred tax liabilities 35,713 8,237
HEARE Lease liabilities 17,406 19,109
EmEBERRE Total non-current liabilities 53,119 27,523
EEFE NET ASSETS 25,933,901 22,417,140
= EQUITY
[N Share capital 1,124,647 1,124,647
] Reserves 24,809,254 21,292,493
4R Total equity 25,933,901 22,417,140
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Bt 8RR M=E (%) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

38. ARQTEMBAMRE (F) 38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continued)
RARWREEB T A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

gL REXA

Bx  ERRE  FEkG fife  iERE REEF
Share-
Shares based

Share Capital heldby payment Statutory  Retained

capital reserve trustee reserve reserve  earnings Total
ARMTR ARMTRT ARETT AREBTRT ARBTRT AR%TR AR%TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB’000

1202351418 At 1 January 2023 1124647 8421604  (134368) 45328 562,323 12,397,606 22,417,140
R Proft for the year - - - - - 11,109,090 11,109,090

ERREYESE  Total comprehensive income

for the year - - - - - 11,109,090 11,109,090
BER2022 KRS Fine 2022 dividend declered - - 128 - - (e475T) (7646319)
HERWNERERR Disposal of forfeited restricted

shares - - 9,746 - - - 9,746
BRRHT Recognition of share-based

payment - - - 25,857 - - 25,857

BEETRENE=TE Award shares vested under
FENEERSL an employee share
incentive scheme

(3071) 58407  (36,955) - - 18381

72023512318 Asat 31 December 2023 1,124,647 8,418,533 (64,931) 34230 562,328 15,859,099 25,933,901
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B Rk MiEE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%12H31H
31 December 2023

38. AT (E) 38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continued)
RARMREER T - (&) A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: (continued)

SN )
B BAEE  ARRD  XNURE  ATRE  RERA @5t

Share-
Shares based
Share Capital heldby ~ payment  Statutory  Retained
capital reserve trustee reserve reseve  eamings Total

AREFT ARBTT ARETR ARBTL ARETT ARETL ARETL
RMB'OOO  RMB0O0 ~RMBOO0 RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'00

202251 A1R At1 January 2022 1,124,647 8,426,297 -

562,323 9,378,349 19,491,616

FRRA Profit for the year - - - -

8,080,167 8,080,167

ERREYESE  Total comprehensive income

for the year - - - - - 8,080,167 8,080,167
BER2021ERERE Final 2021 dividend declared - - 1,792 - - (5,0060,910) (5,059,118)
Bk Repurchase of shares - - (225401) - - - (225401)
BRI Recognition of share-based

payment - - - 101,793 - - 101,793
RIEETRIERBE| Award shares vested under

FENEERL an employee share
incentive scheme S 4693 89241 (56,469) - - 28083

M2022F12A318  Asat 31 December 2022 1124647 8421604  (134,368) 45,328 562,323 12,397,606 22,417,140
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B 3R 2R MEE (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2023%F12H31H
31 December 2023

39. MEHEBEH 39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
REE2023F12A31HIEFEE There was no material subsequent event after the year ended
mEEEREIE - 31 December 2023.

40. #LEMBEHRE 40. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR RESZEN202443 26 H The financial statements were approved and authorised for
O AR TIEE - issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2024,
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